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.142 The form and content of audit documentation are for you to determine using professional judgment.
AU section 339, Audit Documentation (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1), provides general guidance
regarding the purpose, content, ownership, and confidentiality of audit documentation. Examples of
common documentation techniques include narrative descriptions, questionnaires, checklists, and flow-
charts. These techniques may be used alone or in combination.

.143 The form and extent of your documentation are influenced by the following:
The nature, size, and complexity of the entity and its environment
The availability of information from the entity
The specific audit methodology and technology used in the course of the audit

.144 For example, documentation of the understanding of a complex information system in which a large
volume of transactions are electronically initiated, authorized, recorded, processed, or reported may include
flowcharts, questionnaires, or decision tables. For an information system making limited or no use of IT or
for which few transactions are processed, documentation in the form of a memorandum may be sufficient.
Generally, the more complex the entity and its environment, and the more extensive the audit procedures
performed by the auditor, the more extensive your documentation should be. The specific audit methodology
and technology used in the course of the audit will also affect the form and extent of documentation.

Specific Documentation Requirements
.145 The SASs require you to document the following matters.

The levels of materiality and tolerable misstatement, including any changes thereto, used in the audit
and the basis on which those levels were determined.

The discussion among the audit team regarding the susceptibility of the entity’s financial statements
to material misstatement due to error or fraud, including how and when the discussion occurred, the
subject matter discussed, the audit team members who participated, and significant decisions reached
concerning planned responses at the financial statement and relevant assertion levels.

Key elements of the understanding obtained regarding each of the aspects of the entity and its
environment, including each of the components of internal control, to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, the sources of information from which the understanding
was obtained, and the risk assessment procedures.

The assessment of the risks of material misstatement both at the financial statement level and at the
relevant assertion level and the basis for the assessment.

The significant risks identified and related controls evaluated.

The overall responses to address the assessed risks of misstatement at the financial statement level.
The nature, timing, and extent of the further audit procedures.

The linkage of those procedures with the assessed risks at the relevant assertion level.

The results of the audit procedures.

The conclusions reached with regard to the use in the current audit of audit evidence about the
operating effectiveness of controls that was obtained in a prior audit.

A summary of uncorrected misstatements, other than those that are trivial, related to known and
likely misstatements.

Your conclusion about whether uncorrected misstatements, individually or in aggregate, do or do
not cause the financial statements to be materially misstated, and the basis for that conclusion.
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.146 Uncorrected misstatements should be documented in a manner that allows the auditor to:

® Separately consider the effects of known and likely misstatements, including uncorrected misstate-
ments identified in prior periods.

e Consider the aggregate effect of misstatements on the financial statements.

e Consider the qualitative factors that are relevant to the auditor’s consideration of whether misstate-
ments are material.

Resource Central

147 The AICPA will offer continuing professional education courses, including a self-study course as well
as a group study course. In addition, the new risk assessment standards will be a topic of discussion in various
AICPA conferences in which AICPA presenters will further explain the standards.

On the Bookshelf
Future AICPA Audit Guide on Risk Assessment and Internal Control

.148 The AICPA is currently developing an Audit Guide to aid in implementing the new risk assessment
standards. In addition, the AICPA is revamping its existing Audit Guide titled Consideration of Internal Control
in a Financial Statement Audit. The current development plan envisions combining these two guides into one
audit guide. This audit guide should be available by mid-2006 and can be purchased by contacting the
AICPA /CPA2Biz Service Center at (888) 777-7077 or online at www.cpa2biz.com.

AICPA’s reSOURCE Online Accounting and Auditing Literature

149 Get access—anytime, anywhere—to the AICPA’s latest Professional Standards, Technical Practice Aids,
Audit and Accounting Guides, Audit Risk Alerts, and Accounting Trends & Techniques. To subscribe to this
essential service, go to www.cpa2biz.com.

reSOURCE CD-ROM

150 The AICPA is currently offering a CD-ROM product entitled reSOURCE: AICPA’s Accounting and
Auditing Literature. This CD-ROM enables subscription access to AICPA Professional Literature products in
a Windows format, namely, Professional Standards,Technical Practice Aids, and Audit and Accounting Guides
(available for purchase as a set or as individual publications). This dynamic product allows you to purchase
the specific titles you need and includes hypertext links to references within and between all products.

AICPA/CPA2Biz Service Center

151 To order AICPA products, receive information about AICPA activities, and find help on your
membership questions, call the AICPA/CPA2Biz Service Center at (888) 777-7077. The best times to call are
8:30 A.M. to 11:30 A.M. and 2:00 PM. to 7:30 P.M., Eastern Standard Time. You can also order AICPA products
from the Service Center by fax at (800) 362-5066 or visit www.cpa2biz.com to obtain product information and
place online orders.

Hotlines
Accounting and Auditing Technical Hotline

152 The AICPA Technical Hotline answers members’ inquiries about accounting, auditing, attestation,
compilation, and review services. Call (888) 777-7077.
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Ethics Hotline

153 Members of the AICPA’s Professional Ethics Team answer inquiries concerning independence and
other behavioral issues related to the application of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. Call (888)
777-7077.

Websites
AICPA Online and CPA2Biz

154 AICPA Online (www.aicpa.org) offers CPAs the unique opportunity to stay abreast of matters relevant
to the CPA profession. AICPA Online informs you of developments in the accounting and auditing world as
well as developments in congressional and political affairs affecting CPAs. In addition, www.cpa2biz.com
offers all the latest AICPA products, including the Audit and Accounting Guides, Professional Standards, CPE
courses, Practice Aids, and Audit Risk Alerts.

155 Any comments that you have about this Alert may be e-mailed to lpombo@aicpa.org or mailed to:

Lori Pombo, CPA
AICPA
Harborside Financial Center
201 Plaza Three
Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881

[The next page is 9000-251.]
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AAM Section 8300

Communicating Internal Control Related
Matters in an Audit—Understanding SAS No.
115

COMPANION TO SAS NO. 115, COMMUNICATING INTERNAL CONTROL RELATED MATTERS IDEN-
TIFIED IN AN AUDIT

Notice to Readers

This Audit Risk Alert is intended to help auditors understand and implement the requirements of Statement
on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 115, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 325), which supersedes SAS No. 112 of the same name.

This publication is an other auditing publication as defined in AU section 150, Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards. Other Auditing Publications have no authoritative status; however, they may help the auditor
understand and apply the Statements on Auditing Standards.

If an auditor applies the auditing guidance included in an other auditing publication, he or she should be
satisfied that, in his or her judgment, it is both appropriate and relevant to the circumstances of his or her
audit. The auditing guidance in this document has been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards
staff and published by the AICPA and is presumed to be appropriate. This document has not been approved,
disapproved, or otherwise acted on by a senior technical committee of the AICPA.

Christopher Cole, CPA, CFE, CFF
Technical Manager
Accounting and Auditing Publications

Introduction

.01 In October 2008, the AICPA Auditing Standards Board (ASB) issued Statement on Auditing Standards
(SAS) No. 115, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 325). SAS No. 115 amends SAS No. 112 and further clarifies standards and provides
guidance on communicating matters related to an entity’s internal control over financial reporting (internal
control) identified in an audit of financial statements.

.02 The new SAS is applicable whenever an auditor expresses an opinion on financial statements
(including a disclaimer of opinion) except when the auditor is performing an integrated audit and will be
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting under AT section 501
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1). This new standard is effective for audits of financial statements for
periods ending on or after December 15, 2009. This Audit Risk Alert provides an overview of the
requirements of SAS No. 115 as well as case studies that illustrate how deficiencies in internal control may
be evaluated for severity.

Why SAS No. 115 Was Issued

.03 The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the issuance of Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB) Auditing Standard No. 2, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in
Conjunction With an Audit of Financial Statements, which has since been superseded by PCAOB Auditing

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §8300.03



9000-252 Alerts 81 209

Standard No. 5, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated with An Audit of
Financial Statements (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and Related Rules, Rules of the Board, “Standards”), created
considerable interest in management’s responsibility for internal control and the auditor’s responsibility for
bringing certain internal control related matters to management’s attention in an audit of financial
statements. This renewed interest in an auditor’s responsibility to report internal control deficiencies
identified in an audit in conjunction with the goal of the ASB to converge definitions with Auditing Standard
No. 2 led the ASB to issue SAS No. 112. By issuing SAS No. 115, the ASB revised SAS No. 112 maintain the
uniformity of the definitions of the various kinds of deficiencies in internal control and the related guidance
for evaluating such deficiencies with the definitions and guidance in Auditing Standard No. 5.

Overview of the Standard

.04 In general, SAS No. 115 retains many of the provisions of SAS No. 112; it provides guidance to
enhance the auditor’s ability to identify and evaluate deficiencies in internal control during an audit, and
then communicate to management and those charged with governance those deficiencies that the auditor
believes are significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.

.05 The key differences between SAS No. 115 and SAS No. 112 lie in the definitions of material
weaknesses and significant deficiencies and the process for making that determination. Under SAS No. 112,
the auditor applied criteria of likelihood and magnitude described in that standard to determine if a control
deficiency reached the threshold of significant deficiency or material weakness. Under SAS No. 115, the
same criteria are used; however, more judgment is allowed for in determining whether a control deficiency
is a significant deficiency.

Identifying Deficiencies in Internal Control

.06 A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect
misstatements on a timely basis:

® A deficiency in design exists when (a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is missing
or (b) an existing control is not properly designed so that, even if it operates as designed, the control
objective would not be met.

® A deficiency in operation exists when (a) a properly designed control does not operate as designed
or (b) when the person performing the control does not possess the necessary authority or
competence to perform the control effectively.

The Auditor’s Responsibility for Identifying Deficiencies in Internal Control

.07 When conducting an audit of financial statements, the auditor is not required to perform procedures
to identify deficiencies in internal control. However, during the course of the audit, the auditor may become
aware of deficiencies in the design or operation of the entity’s internal control. The auditor may identify
deficiencies in internal control at any point in the audit, for example, while

® obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal control,

® assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, due to error or fraud,

® performing further audit procedures to respond to assessed risks, or

® communicating with management or others (for example, internal auditors or governmental

authorities).

.08 The awareness of deficiencies in internal control will vary with each audit and will be influenced by
the nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures performed, as well as other factors. The results of
substantive procedures may result in the need to reevaluate the earlier assessment of internal control.
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Evaluating Deficiencies in Internal Control

.09 A deficiency in internal control may be considered just a deficiency. More severe deficiencies are
significant deficiencies, and the most severe deficiencies are material weaknesses.

Definitions of Significant Deficiency and Material Weakness

.10 A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. For the purpose of this definition, a reasonable
possibility exists when the likelihood of the event is either reasonably possible or probable as those terms are
used in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.! 2

A1 Asignificant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

The Evaluation Process

.12 The auditor should evaluate the severity of each deficiency in internal control identified during the
audit and determine whether the deficiency, individually or in combination with other deficiencies in
internal control, rise to the level of significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. The severity of a
deficiency in internal control depends on

® the magnitude of the potential misstatement resulting from the deficiency or deficiencies; and

® whether there is a reasonable possibility that the entity’s controls will fail to prevent or to detect
and correct a misstatement of an account balance or disclosure.

.13 The severity of a deficiency does not depend on whether a misstatement actually occurred. If the
auditor identifies a deficiency in internal control but has not identified an actual misstatement related to that
deficiency, the auditor cannot automatically conclude that the deficiency is not a significant deficiency or
a material weakness. If a misstatement has been identified, the auditor should consider the potential for
further misstatement in the financial statements being audited.

Magnitude

.14 Magnitude refers to the extent of the misstatement that could have occurred, or that actually
occurred, because misstatements include both potential and actual misstatements. In evaluating the
magnitude of the potential misstatement, the maximum amount by which an account balance or total of
transactions can be overstated generally is the recorded amount, whereas understatements could be larger.
For example, if a control deficiency exists over the completeness of accounts payable, and the recorded
amount is $200,000, the most the amount could be overstated is $200,000. But the most the amount could
be understated cannot be known.

! The term reasonable possibility as used in the definitions of the term material weakness has the same meaning as defined in Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. Paragraph 3 of
FASB Statement No. 5 states:

When a loss contingency exists, the likelihood that the future event or events will confirm the loss or impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a
liability can range from probable to remote. This statement uses the terms probable, reasonably possible, and remote to identify three areas within
that range, as follows:

a.  Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur.
b.  Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but less than likely.
c.  Remote. The chance of the future event or events occurring is slight.

Therefore, the likelihood of an event is a reasonable possibility when it is reasonably possible or probable.

2 At the time of this writing, the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) had not yet been issued as authoritative. When the
FASB ASC is issued as authoritative, the definitions currently found in FASB Statement No. 5 will be located at FASB ASC 450-20-25-1.
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.15 Factors that affect the magnitude of a misstatement that might result from a deficiency or deficiencies
include, but are not limited to, the following:

® The financial statement amounts or total of transactions exposed to the deficiency

® The volume of activity (in the current period or expected in future periods) in the account or class
of transactions exposed to the deficiency

Probability of Occurrence

.16 Probability of occurrence refers to the likelihood that a control, or combination of controls, could have
failed to prevent or detect a misstatement in the financial statements being audited. The evaluation of
whether a deficiency presents a reasonable possibility of misstatement may be made without quantifying
the probability of occurrence as a specific percentage or range. Also, in many cases, the probability of a small
misstatement will be greater than the probability of a large misstatement.

17  Risk factors affect whether a reasonable possibility exists that a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, will result in a misstatement of an account balance or disclosure. The factors include, but are
not limited to, the following;:

e The nature of the financial statement accounts, classes of transactions, disclosures, and assertions
involved

® The susceptibility of the related asset or liability to loss or fraud

® The subjectivity, complexity, or extent of judgment required to determine the amount involved
® The interaction or relationship of the control with other controls

® The interaction among the deficiencies

® The possible future consequences of the deficiency

.18 The following table summarizes the consideration of the severity of a deficiency to determine
whether it is a deficiency in internal control, a significant deficiency, or a material weakness.

Magnitude of misstatement that
occurred, or could have occurred Probability of misstatement
Reasonably Possible Remote
Quantitatively or qualitatively Material weakness Deficiency in internal control
material that could be a significant
deficiency but not a material
weakness
Less than material Deficiency in internal control | Deficiency in internal control
that could be a significant that could be a significant
deficiency but not a material deficiency but not a material
weakness weakness

.19 Asshown in the preceding table, a deficiency in internal control that is less than material, less than
reasonably possible, or both, could be considered a significant deficiency if it is determined by the auditor’s
professional judgment to merit the attention of those charged with governance.

.20 The following are examples of deficiencies in internal control and how their magnitude and
probability of occurrence might be considered:

®  Adeficiency in controls over revenue transactions that results in a financial statement misstatement. In this case,
the auditor assesses the probability of a control preventing or detecting and correcting the misstatement.
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Because the misstatement actually occurred, the auditor assesses the probability as reasonably possible.
The auditor then considers the potential magnitude of the misstatement. If the amounts are greater than
materiality, the control deficiency would be classified as a material weakness. If the amounts are less
than material, the auditor would apply his or her professional judgment as to whether this deficiency
is important enough to merit the attention of those charged with governance.

® Failure to obtain required authorization for a valid disbursement. In this situation, the auditor again
assesses the probability of the control failing and the magnitude of the misstatement that could
result from recording an unauthorized disbursement, using the factors listed previously.

Multiple Deficiencies in Internal Control

.21 Multiple deficiencies that affect the same significant account or disclosure, relevant assertion, or
component of internal control increase the likelihood of material misstatement and may, in combination,
constitute a significant deficiency or a material weakness, even though such deficiencies individually may
be less severe. Therefore, the auditor should determine whether deficiencies that affect the same significant
account or disclosure, relevant assertion, or component of internal control collectively result in a significant
deficiency or a material weakness.

Mitigating Effects of Compensating Controls

.22 When a deficiency in internal control has been identified, management may inform the auditor, or
the auditor may otherwise become aware of the existence of compensating controls that, if effective, may
limit the severity of the deficiency in internal control and prevent it from being a significant deficiency or
material weakness. In these circumstances, although the auditor is not required to consider the effects of
compensating controls for purposes of this standard, the auditor may rely on the operating effectiveness of
compensating controls related to a deficiency in operation provided the auditor has tested the compensating
controls for operating effectiveness as part of the financial statement audit. Compensating controls can limit
the severity of the deficiency, but they do not eliminate the deficiency.

.23 For example, consider a situation in which there is a lack of segregation of duties within the accounts
payable function in an owner-managed entity. As a compensating control, the owner reviews the supporting
documentation for all disbursements exceeding $1,000. As part of the audit, the auditor could test this
compensating control and determine whether it operates effectively for the purpose of mitigating the effects
of the deficiency in internal control (lack of segregation of duties) in the accounts payable function. Although
the deficiency in internal control still exists—the review does not eliminate the lack of segregation of
duties—the significance of the deficiency may be mitigated by the compensating control so that it is not a
significant deficiency or a material weakness.

The Prudent Official Test

.24 If the auditor determines that a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, is not a material
weakness, the auditor should consider whether prudent officials, having knowledge of the same facts and
circumstances, would likely reach the same conclusion. Although the term prudent official is not defined in
the standard, the concept is that an auditor should “stand back” and take another objective look at the
severity of the deficiency as would a regulator or someone from an oversight agency. The auditor should
consider whether a prudent official (having the auditor’s knowledge about the facts and circumstances, the
magnitude and probability of occurrence of the potential misstatement, and the other controls that were
tested) would agree with the auditor’s conclusion that a deficiency is not a material weakness. Because a
prudent official is cautious, the prudent official test is used only to increase the severity of a deficiency in
internal control and not to justify a decrease in the severity.
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Communication Requirements
Form of Communication

.25 The auditor should communicate in writing to management and those charged with governance.
Content of Communication

.26 Deficiencies identified during the audit that upon evaluation are considered significant deficiencies
or material weaknesses under this section should be communicated, in writing, to management and those
charged with governance as a part of each audit, including significant deficiencies and material weaknesses
that were communicated to management and those charged with governance in previous audits and have
not yet been remediated. Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses that previously were commu-
nicated and have not yet been remediated may be communicated, in writing, by referring to the previously
issued written communication and the date of that communication.

.27 The written communication regarding significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified
during the audit of financial statements should include

® a statement that indicates the purpose of the auditor’s consideration of internal control was to
express an opinion on the financial statements, but not to express an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control.

® a statement that indicates the auditor is not expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control.

® a statement that indicates that the auditor’s consideration of internal control was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses.

® the definition of the term material weakness and, where relevant, the definition of the term significant
deficiency.

®  identification of the matters that are considered to be significant deficiencies and those that are
considered to be material weaknesses.

® a statement that indicates the communication is intended solely for the information and use of
management, those charged with governance, and others within the organization and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. If an entity is
required to furnish such auditor communications to a governmental authority, specific reference to
such governmental authorities may be made.

.28 The auditor should not issue a written communication stating that no significant deficiencies were
identified during the audit. Such a communication could be misinterpreted as providing a higher level of
assurance than it actually represents.

.29 Paragraph .28 of SAS No. 115 contains an illustrative communication that encompasses the require-
ments of the standard. In addition, SAS No. 115 contains an illustrative communication that may be used
when the auditor has been requested to advise management and those charged with governance of the fact
that no material weaknesses were identified. Also illustrated is a paragraph to be added to the auditor’s
communication when, for the benefit of a regulator, management’s response to the auditor’s communication
of significant deficiencies and material weaknesses is included in a document with the auditor’s written
communication.

Communicating Other Matters

.30 Nothing in SAS No. 115 precludes the auditor from communicating to management and those
charged with governance other matters related to an entity’s internal control. For example, the auditor may
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communicate matters the auditor believes to be of potential benefit to the entity, such as recommendations
for operational or administrative efficiency, or for improving controls. The auditor may also communicate
deficiencies that are not significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. When other matters are commu-
nicated orally, the auditor should document the communication.

Timing of Communication

.31 Best practice is to issue the written communication by the report release date. The auditor should
issue the written communication no later than 60 days following the report release date.

.32 For some matters, early communication to management or those charged with governance may be
important because of their relative significance and the urgency for corrective follow-up action. Accordingly,
the auditor may decide to communicate certain matters during the audit. These matters need not be
communicated in writing during the audit, but significant deficiencies and material weaknesses should
ultimately be included in a written communication even if such significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses were remediated during the audit.

How the Revisions Will Affect Practice

.33 As the auditor gains a better understanding of the entity’s system of internal control over financial
reporting, he or she may identify more deficiencies in internal control that are

e identified as significant deficiencies and material weaknesses, and

® communicated to management and those charged with governance.
Discussions With Management and Others

.34 The requirements of SAS No. 112 and now SAS No. 115 may change perceptions of the auditor’s role
in the client’s internal control. The auditor may have to explain to clients that the auditor cannot be a part
of their internal control. How an auditor responds to a client’s internal control weakness, in terms of
designing and carrying out further auditing procedures, does not affect or mitigate a client’s internal control
weakness. Just as an auditor’s response to detection risk is independent of the client’s control risk, so too
the auditor’s response to a control weakness does not change the control weakness. Only the client—not the
auditor—can correct deficiencies in internal control. However, a CPA firm other than the auditor can be part
of a client’s internal control. This may raise new questions regarding the role of outsourcing in achieving
management’s internal control objectives.

.35 The auditor may need to hold discussions with management and other users who ask how it is
possible to express an unqualified opinion on the financial statements when material weaknesses in internal
control were present. The auditor may wish to explain that the audit was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatements. Internal control should be
designed to prevent or detect material misstatements. As previously stated, the auditor cannot be part of
a client’s internal control. The auditor can express an unqualified opinion on the financial statements even
though material weaknesses in internal control are present, by performing sufficient procedures and
obtaining appropriate audit evidence to afford reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement. However, these procedures do not correct deficiencies in internal control; the
deficiencies in internal control could still result in a material misstatement not being prevented or detected
by the client.

Issues for Audits of Smaller Entities
.36 One issue that may arise in audits of smaller entities is the possibility of increased costs as a result

of the auditor’s time spent documenting his or her evaluation of internal control and evaluating identified
deficiencies in internal control.
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.37 Another issue that may cause concern is the extent to which the auditor may be involved in the
drafting of an entity’s financial statements. It is a strong indication of material weakness in internal control
if the audit client has ineffective controls over the preparation of their financial statements such that client
controls are absent or controls are not effective in preventing or detecting material misstatements in the
preparation of financial statements, including the related footnotes. Although the auditor can propose
adjustments and assist in assembling or drafting the financial statements, the auditor cannot establish or
maintain the client’s controls, including monitoring ongoing activities, because doing so would impair
independence.’

Opportunities to Expand Client Services

.38 The requirements of SAS No. 112 and now SAS No. 115 introduce possible opportunities to educate
the client in ways that will improve their internal control. Auditors can help clients evaluate the cost/benefit
implications of improving their internal control; including training their personnel to be more knowledge-
able about accounting, financial statement presentation, and internal control design. Additionally, auditors
can teach clients how to develop a risk assessment approach to designing internal control.

Examples

Deficiencies in Internal Control, Significant Deficiencies, or Material
Weaknesses

.39 Exhibit B in SAS No. 115 provides examples of circumstances that may be deficiencies in internal
control, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. This appendix includes one example in addition to
those contained in the appendix to SAS No. 112. The following are the items included in the appendix within
AU section 325 paragraph .29.

® Deficiencies in the design of controls

— Inadequate design of controls over the preparation of the financial statements being
audited.

— Inadequate design of controls over a significant account or process.
— Inadequate documentation of the components of internal control.

— Insufficient control consciousness within the organization; for example, the tone at the top
and the control environment.

— Absent or inadequate segregation of duties within a significant account or process.

— Absent or inadequate controls over the safeguarding of assets (this applies to controls that
the auditor determines would be necessary for effective internal control over financial
reporting).

— Inadequate design of IT general and application controls that prevent the information
system from providing complete and accurate information consistent with financial
reporting objectives and current needs.

— Employees or management who lack the qualifications and training to fulfill their
assigned functions. For example, in an entity that prepares financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the person respon-
sible for the accounting and reporting function lacks the skills and knowledge to apply
GAAP in recording the entity’s financial transactions or preparing its financial statements.

— Inadequate design of monitoring controls used to assess the design and operating
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over time.

3 See Ethics Interpretation 101-3, Performance of Nonattest Services, under Rule 101, Independence (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol.
2, ET sec. 101 par. .05).
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— The absence of an internal process to report deficiencies in internal control to management
on a timely basis.

® Failures in the operation of internal control

— Failure in the operation of effectively designed controls over a significant account or
process; for example, the failure of a control such as dual authorization for significant
disbursements within the purchasing process.

— Failure of the information and communication component of internal control to provide
complete and accurate output because of deficiencies in timeliness, completeness, or
accuracy; for example, the failure to obtain timely and accurate consolidating information
from remote locations that is needed to prepare the financial statements.

— Failure of controls designed to safeguard assets from loss, damage, or misappropriation.

— Failure to perform reconciliations of significant accounts. For example, accounts receiv-
able subsidiary ledgers are not reconciled to the general ledger account in a timely or
accurate manner.

— Undue bias or lack of objectivity by those responsible for accounting decisions; for
example, consistent understatement of expenses or overstatement of allowances at the
direction of management.

— Misrepresentation by entity personnel to the auditor (an indicator of fraud).
— Management override of controls.

— Failure of an application control caused by a deficiency in the design or operation of an
IT general control.

— Anobserved deviation rate that exceeds the number of deviations expected by the auditor
in a test of the operating effectiveness of a control. For example, if the auditor designs a
test in which he or she selects a sample and expects no deviations, the finding of one
deviation is a nonnegligible deviation rate because, based on the results of the auditor’s
test of the sample, the desired level of confidence was not obtained.

.40 Note that the third circumstance in the preceding list, failure of controls designed to safeguard assets
from loss, damage, or misappropriation, may need careful consideration before it is evaluated as a
significant deficiency or material weakness. For example, assume that a company uses security devices to
safeguard its inventory (preventive controls) and also performs periodic physical inventory counts (detec-
tive control) timely in relation to its financial reporting. Although the physical inventory count does not
safeguard the inventory from theft or loss, it prevents a material misstatement of the financial statements
if performed effectively and timely.

41 Therefore, given that the definitions of material weakness and significant deficiency relate to the
likelihood of misstatement of the financial statements, the failure of a preventive control such as inventory
tags will not result in a significant deficiency or material weakness if the detective control (physical
inventory) prevents a misstatement of the financial statements. Material weaknesses relating to controls over
the safeguarding of assets would only exist if the company does not have effective controls (considering both
safeguarding and other controls) to prevent or detect a material misstatement of the financial statements.

Significant Deficiencies
42 Some examples of deficiencies that might indicate the existence of significant deficiencies in internal

control:

e Controls over the selection and application of accounting principles that are in conformity with
GAAP; having sufficient expertise in selecting and applying accounting principles is an aspect of
such controls

® Antifraud programs and controls

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §8300.42



9000-260 Alerts 81 209

e Controls over nonroutine and nonsystematic transactions

e Controls over the period-end financial reporting process, including controls over procedures used
to enter transaction totals into the general ledger; initiate, authorize, record, and process journal
entries into the general ledger; and record recurring and nonrecurring adjustments to the financial
statements

Material Weaknesses

.43 Some examples of circumstances that indicate a deficiency in internal control that could be regarded
as material weaknesses in internal control are

® identification of fraud, whether or not material, on the part of senior management;

® restatement of previously issued financial statements to reflect the correction of a material mis-
statement due to error or fraud;

e identification by the auditor of a material misstatement of the financial statements under audit in
circumstances that indicate that the misstatement would not have been detected by the entity’s
internal control; and

e ineffective oversight of the entity’s financial reporting and internal control by those charged with
governance.

Evaluation Questions

.44 When evaluating the severity of a deficiency in internal control, the first step is to determine whether
the deficiency is a material weakness. Some questions to consider when making this determination include
the following:

® [s the probability that a misstatement of any magnitude could occur and not be detected and
corrected on a timely basis by the client’s controls reasonably possible?

® [s the magnitude of a potential misstatement material to the financial statements? A misstatement
is material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements, would cause the
entity’s financial statements to be materially misstated.

.45 If the answer to both questions is yes, then the deficiency is a material weakness. After that
determination is made, the auditor may consider additional factors that could mitigate the affect of
deficiency in internal control to the point where it can be classified as a deficiency in internal control or
significant deficiency in internal control. Consider the answers to the following questions:

® Are there complementary or redundant controls that were tested and evaluated that achieve the
same control objective?

® Are there compensating controls that were tested and evaluated that limit the magnitude of a
misstatement of the financial statements to less than material?

.46 If the answer to either question is yes, the auditor may evaluate whether the deficiency in internal
control is sufficiently mitigated to classify it as less severe than a material weakness in internal control.
Before concluding that the control deficiency is not a material weakness, the auditor should consider
whether prudent officials, having knowledge of the same facts and circumstances, would likely reach
the same conclusion. Deficiencies considered less severe than material weaknesses but important
enough to merit the attention of those charged with governance would be classified as significant
deficiencies.
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Case Studies

.47 This section contains case studies that highlight a particular deficiency in internal control. Each case
study contains a description of the deficiencies in internal control, and an analysis of the assessment of the
severity of the deficiency. The deficiencies in internal control discussed are as follows:

e [Lack of segregation of duties
® Lack of client expertise in financial accounting and reporting
® Inventory-related deficiencies in internal control

® Failure to review modifications of standard sales contracts to evaluate their effect on the timing and
amount of revenue recognition

e Fraud involving cash

e Control testing exceptions

Deficiency in Internal Control 1: Lack of Segregation of Duties
Situation 1

.48 Your client is a small nonprofit organization that has only one person in charge of the accounting
and reporting functions. Through your understanding of controls over cash disbursements, you observe
a lack of segregation of duties, which is a deficiency in internal control. In assessing the severity of the
deficiency in internal control, you consider whether complementary, redundant, or compensating
controls exist.

.49 Additional Facts. Through obtaining your understanding of internal control, you've learned that a
board member signs all checks, reviewing invoices that support the disbursement before signing. The signed
checks are returned to the client to be mailed. The bank sends the bank statement directly to the board
member, who reviews the bank statement and returned checks. The bank statement is then given to the client
for reconciliation.

.50 Discussion. Your assessment of the severity of this deficiency in internal control would be based on
the effectiveness of the compensating controls performed by the board members. The compensating controls
do not eliminate the deficiency but may mitigate the effects of the deficiency in internal control.

.51 If the board member does not perform a review of the bank statement and the returned checks,
verifying that all the checks have the appropriate signature and that the check payee and amount have not
been altered, you might determine that the compensating control over disbursements is not effective in
achieving the control objective and, therefore, a material weakness exists.

.52 If the board member reviews only returned checks over a certain dollar amount, you might conclude
that the compensating control is effective in preventing or detecting a material misstatement of cash and,
therefore, this may be considered a significant deficiency because the magnitude of the reasonably possible
misstatement is less than material.

.53 However, if the board member examines the returned checks for the appropriate signature and
alterations, you might conclude that the compensating control is effective in preventing or detecting an
unauthorized disbursement, making the likelihood of a misstatement remote; therefore, this is only a
deficiency in internal control and not a significant deficiency or material weakness.

Situation 2

.54 Your client is a small business that has only one person in charge of the accounting and reporting
functions. The bookkeeper has been with the company for many years. It is common for the owner to leave
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signed, blank checks with the bookkeeper, “in case of emergencies” when the owner is gone. The owner does
not perform any oversight procedures. The owner has you, the auditor, perform quarterly interim proce-
dures. The owner believes the auditors are a substitute for his lack of oversight. One of the auditor’s
quarterly procedures is to review the bank reconciliation, which is prepared by the bookkeeper.

.55 Discussion. Because the auditor cannot be part of the client’s internal control, your interim proce-
dures, including your review of the bank reconciliations, are not compensating controls. Should the
bookkeeper betray the owner’s trust, the magnitude of a potential misstatement could reasonably be
expected to be material. In your professional judgment, you believe that a reasonable person would
conclude that there is a reasonable possibility that a misstatement could occur and not be caught by the
owner. Thus, the lack of segregation of duties and the lack of oversight would be considered material
weaknesses.

Deficiency in Internal Control 2: Lack of Client Expertise in Financial
Accounting and Reporting

.56 In situations 3, 4, and 5, you provide assistance to your client in the drafting of the financial
statements but, as the auditor, remain independent under Ethics Interpretation 101-3, Performance of
Nonattest Services, under Rule 101, Independence (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, ET sec. 101par. .05).
That is, you post client-approved adjusting entries to the trial balance and assist in the drafting of the
financial statements from the trial balance. You are not responsible for approving adjusting entries.

Situation 3

.57 Your client’s controller is fairly skilled and is able to perform most of the functions necessary to
prepare the financial statements. However, the company does not maintain a fixed asset ledger. Rather, you
maintain a fixed asset ledger for them on your computer using “off-the-shelf” fixed asset software. From
this software package, you are able to print for the controller a projected depreciation schedule, a gain and
loss calculation report based on cost, and sales information provided to you by the controller and a final
deprecation and fixed asset listing at year-end. The controller provides adequate supervision of the
depreciation calculation to ensure that no conflict with Interpretation 101-3 exists. The book and tax
depreciation calculation affects depreciation expense for book purposes and also the calculation of deferred
taxes. The client could purchase a depreciation program but has concluded it is more cost effective to rely
on you for these records.

.58 In most years, the controller provides you with a year-end adjustment if adjustments hadn’t already
been made to the general ledger. However, in this particular year, the controller has been preoccupied with
other tasks and asks you to calculate the year-end depreciation adjustment and gain or loss on sale
adjustment. The adjustment is a material adjustment. Because you propose the adjustment, you need to
consider whether a deficiency in internal control exists.

.59 Discussion. In this situation, you would begin by considering whether there is a reasonable
possibility that a misstatement would not be detected. Because the auditor cannot be part of a client’s
internal controls, the controls that exist in your CPA firm to perform the calculations cannot be taken into
account in considering whether the client has a deficiency in internal control. Instead, you should consider
what controls the client has to detect a misstatement. Based on only these facts, your judgment is that the
client has the competency to perform the accounting function but has chosen not to perform these
depreciation closing procedures this year.

.60 However, as long as the client reviews the depreciation and related calculations, and you
believe such review procedures would prevent, detect, and correct potential misstatements, you may
determine that there is not a deficiency in internal control. If the client” procedures or controls are not
able to prevent, detect, and correct a misstatement, then you would determine that there is a deficiency
in internal control.

AAM §830055 Copyright © 2009, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



81 2-09 Communicating Internal Control Related Matters in an Audit 9000-263
Situation 4

.61 This client has an accounting manager who requests that you assist in drafting the financial
statements and notes to the financial statements. However, prior to signing the representation letter, the
accounting manager obtains the financial statement grouping schedules and the schedules documenting
the calculation of amounts included in the notes to the financial statements, and reviews and approves
these schedules. In addition, the accounting manager obtains a current disclosure checklist from the
AICPA and reviews and answers the checklist to ensure propriety and completeness of the footnotes.
The financial statements are also read, revised, and approved by both the accounting manager and the
owner.

.62 Discussion. Based only on the facts presented, no deficiencies in internal control were observed. You
would need to further understand whether the client’s controls are designed appropriately and operating
effectively, and that would be dependent on the competence and expertise of the client’s accounting
manager.

.63 In assessing this situation, you would first consider whether a reasonable possibility exists that a
material misstatement in the presentation and disclosure of the financial statements, including the related
footnotes, could occur without being detected by the accounting manager. If you determine that the
accounting manager and owner lack the necessary accounting expertise to detect a misstatement, then that
would represent a deficiency in internal control that would need to be evaluated.

.64 However, you might conclude that, despite the accounting manager asking you to assist in drafting
the financial statements and footnotes, they (the accounting manger and owner) do possess the necessary
accounting expertise to perform effective controls to prevent, detect, and correct a potential misstatement
in the financial statements or notes; therefore, you would not have a deficiency in internal control.

Situation 5

.65 At this client, you taught the bookkeeper to record cash receipts and disbursements as well as the
adjusting journal entries needed to record accounts receivable and payable at year-end. The bookkeeper
follows your directions and prepares a draft of the year-end financial statements from a format you
provided, including relevant recurring disclosures.

.66 During your audit, you notice that the owner acquired a new delivery truck that cost $50,000—an
amount that is material to the company’s financial statements—and financed the acquisition through the
dealer’s finance company. You determine that the financing lease should be capitalized. The bookkeeper has
recorded the monthly cash payments for the truck to the dealership but has not recorded the initial fixed
asset and related liability (the owner had told her that he was leasing the truck). In discussing the new truck
with the bookkeeper, you further discover that the owner was involved in a collision on the last day of the
year while driving the truck, and the company’s insurance covered only a small portion of the damages. The
financial statements do not reflect the capital lease and the related liability, nor does it reflect the expense
and liability for the damages in excess of the company’s insurance.

.67 Discussion. Based only on these facts, you determine that a deficiency in internal control exists
because the internal control system did not detect, prevent, or correct the misstatements in the client’s
drafted financial statements. Because you caught this error, your judgment is that it is reasonably possible
that the financial statements would be misstated, and the magnitude of the misstatement is material.
Because you are the auditor, you cannot be part of the company’s internal control. The company did not have
anyone on staff with sufficient expertise to properly analyze the lease and record the fixed asset acquisition,
and the bookkeeper was not sufficiently knowledgeable to know that she needed help in recording these
events. In this case, the quality of the financial statements was not a result of the company’s internal control.
As such, you determine that the entity has a material weakness.
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.68 If the bookkeeper had called you for guidance about how to account for these events, before recording
them, your conclusion may have been different. A discussion with the client about a technical issue is not,
in and of itself, an indication of a weakness in the company’s internal control. The client’s ability to exercise
controls to detect a potential misstatement and to gain the necessary competence is a factor you would
consider in your understanding of the entity’s internal control.

Deficiency in Internal Control 3: Inventory-Related Deficiencies in Internal
Control

Situation 6

.69 Your client is a large car dealership. There is a lack of good controls over tracking inventory quantities
of dealership parts, but a physical inventory is taken at the end of every quarter. A parts manager was selling
dealership parts, not recording the sales, and keeping the receipts. Although the amount of the writedown
needed to reflect actual inventory was not material to the financial statements, management became aware
of the fraud when the parts manager confessed under questioning.

.70 Discussion. The purpose of your evaluation is to assess the probability and potential magnitude of
a financial statement misstatement, not the likelihood and potential magnitude of a loss due to fraud.
Because the preventive controls tracking inventory quantities are weak, the client is relying on detective
controls—physical inventory—to catch any potential misstatement. From a design perspective, detective
controls are seldom as effective as preventive controls, as evidenced by the fact that the client suffered a loss
as a result of the weak preventive controls. However, the physical inventory was effective at detecting the
loss, so that the financial statements were not materially misstated. Because you would consider the effect
of compensating controls in your assessment of the severity of the deficiency in internal control, you would
conclude that the preventive control weakness is mitigated by the detection control to the extent that neither
a significant deficiency nor a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting exists.

.71 Although the fraud did not result in a material misstatement of the financial statements, the fraud is
evidence of a deficiency in internal control over the safeguarding of assets against unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition. AU section 316, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 1), requires that whenever the auditor has determined that there is evidence that fraud may
exist, that matter should be brought to the attention of an appropriate level of management. Therefore, you
may wish to include this misappropriation (and other risks of fraud that you have identified) in your written
communication of significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Deficiency in Internal Control 4: Failure to Review Modifications of Standard
Sales Contracts to Evaluate Their Effect on the Timing and Amount of
Revenue Recognition

Situation 7

.72 Your client uses a standard sales contract for most transactions. Individual sales transactions are
not material. Sales personnel are permitted to modify the terms of the sales contract, including shipping
terms. Accounting personnel review the terms of the sales contracts for significant or unusual modi-
fications but do not review changes in the standard shipping terms. The changes in the standard
shipping terms could cause a delay in the timing of revenue recognition. Management reviews gross
margins on a monthly basis and investigates any significant or unusual relationships. In addition,
management reviews the reasonableness of inventory levels at the end of each accounting period. There
have been a limited number of instances in which revenue was inappropriately recorded, but the related
amounts have not been material.

.73 Discussion. Based on only these facts, you determine that a deficiency in internal control exists in the
design of the entity’s controls because no controls are in place to monitor a sales person’s ability to modify
the standard sales contract. In evaluating the severity of this deficiency in internal control, you consider the
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probability and potential magnitude of a financial statement misstatement resulting from this deficiency.
The magnitude could reasonably be expected to be less than material, because individual sales transactions
are not material and the compensating controls that mitigate the deficiency, which operate monthly and at
the end of each financial reporting period, increase the probability that a material misstatement will be
detected. Furthermore, the risk of material misstatement is limited to revenue recognition errors related to
shipping terms, as opposed to broader sources of error in revenue recognition.

.74 However, the compensating controls are designed to detect only material misstatements. The controls
do not effectively address the detection of misstatements that are less than material, as evidenced by
situations in which transactions that were not material were improperly recorded. Therefore, there it is
reasonably possible a misstatement that is less than material could occur. If you determined that this
deficiency was important enough to merit the attention of management or those charged with governance,
you would conclude that this deficiency is a significant deficiency.

Situation 8

.75 Your client has a standard sales contract, but sales personnel frequently modify the terms of the
contract. Certain modifications can affect the timing and amount of revenue recognized. Individual sales
transactions frequently are material to the entity, and the gross margin can vary significantly for each
transaction.

.76 Through your understanding of internal control necessary to plan the audit, you determine that the
entity has a design deficiency in that the entity does not have procedures in place for accounting personnel
to regularly review modifications to the terms of sales contracts. Although management reviews gross
margins on a monthly basis, the significant differences in gross margins for individual transactions make
it difficult for management to identify potential misstatements. Improper revenue recognition has occurred
in the past, and the amounts have been material.

.77 Discussion. The magnitude of a financial statement misstatement resulting from this deficiency in
internal control would reasonably be expected to be material because individual sales transactions are
frequently material, and gross margin can vary significantly with each transaction (which would make
compensating controls based on a reasonableness review ineffective). Additionally, improper revenue
recognition has occurred, and the amounts have been material. Therefore, the likelihood of material
misstatements occurring is reasonably possible. Because, taken together, the magnitude and probability of
misstatement of the financial statements resulting from this internal deficiency in internal control is material,
you determine that this deficiency is a material weakness.

Situation 9

.78 The entity has a standard sales contract; however, sales personnel frequently modify the terms of the
contract. Sales personnel frequently grant unauthorized and unrecorded sales discounts to customers
without the knowledge of the accounting department. These discounts are taken by customers, deducted
from the amount paid, and recorded as outstanding balances in the accounts receivable aging. Although the
amounts of these discounts are individually insignificant, they are material in the aggregate and have
occurred consistently during the past few years.

.79 Discussion. The magnitude of a financial statement misstatement resulting from this deficiency
would reasonably be expected to be material, because the frequency of occurrence allows insignificant
amounts to become material in the aggregate. It is reasonably possible that a material misstatement of
the financial statements would result from this deficiency in internal control (even if the client fully
reserved for the uncollectible accounts) due to the probability of material misstatement of the gross
accounts receivable balance. Therefore, your judgment is that this deficiency represents a material
weakness.
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Deficiency in Internal Control 5: Fraud Involving Cash
Situation 10

.80 Your client is a small not-for-profit organization that receives most donations by check from corporate
donors. Some donations are made in cash. Cash donations are not material to the financial statements. As
a result of your understanding of internal control, you notice that internal control over cash receipts is
inadequate. In planning your audit, you identify this as a fraud risk and you perform additional auditing
procedures relative to cash receipts. Through inquiry, you learn that someone may be stealing cash. You
notify management and as a result of performing certain audit tests you discover evidence that indicates
that an employee was pocketing the cash and that cash donations were not being recorded.

.81 Discussion. Your judgment is that it is reasonably possible that a misstatement exists because the
fraud has already occurred. The magnitude of the potential financial statement misstatement resulting from
this deficiency would reasonably be expected to be less than material, as total cash sales are less than
material. At a minimum, you determine that the matter is important enough that it merits the attention of
those charged with governance. Thus, this deficiency is at least a significant deficiency. However, because
your client is a not-for-profit organization and cash is a sensitive area, and because fraud is involved, you
step back and try to look at this situation from a prudent official’s perspective. You consider how a regulator
may view this, how a donor may view this, and how others in the nonprofit community may view this. In
doing that, your judgment is that a prudent official would probably view an absence of controls over cash
receipts as a material weakness. Therefore, you conclude that this is a material weakness.

Deficiency in Internal Control 6: Control Testing Exceptions
Situation 11

.82 In performing tests of controls during the audit, you identify an exception. You determined that the
exception was one of numerous internal control exceptions that occurred during the two weeks that the
controller was on vacation. Controls operated effectively before he left and after he returned to work. No
misstatements in the financial statements were identified relating to that period of time.

.83 Discussion. You first need to determine whether the control testing exception is a deficiency in
internal control before considering the severity of that deficiency in internal control. Effective internal
control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting. Because effective internal control over financial reporting cannot and does
not provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives, any individual control does not
necessarily have to operate perfectly, all the time, to be considered effective. You may want to gather
additional evidence, beyond what you had initially planned and beyond inquiry, to support your conclusion
that the exception does not represent a deficiency in internal control.

.84 You cannot use the lack of actual misstatements to lessen the severity of the deficiency in internal
control in your determination, because you have to consider potential misstatements of any magnitude.
Factors to consider in making your determination would include complementary, redundant, or compen-
sating controls, which could include the monitoring activities undertaken by the controller upon returning
from vacation.

Resource Central
.85 The following resources may be beneficial to practitioners and their clients.
Publications

.86 Practitioners may find the following publications useful. Choose the format best for you—online,
print, or CD-ROM.
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e  Audit Guide Analytical Procedures (2008) (product no. 012558kk [paperback], WAN-XXkk [online], or
DAN-XXkk [CD-ROM])

e Audit Guide Assessing and Responding to Audit Risk in a Financial Statement Audit (2006) (product no.
012456kk [paperback] or WRA-XXkk [online])

e Audit Risk Alert Independence and Ethics Developments—2008 (product no. 022479kk [paperback],
WIA-XXkk [online], or DIA-XXkk [CD-ROM])

o Internal Control—Integrated Framework (product no. 990012kk [paperback])

e  Financial Reporting Fraud: A Practical Guide to Detection and Internal Control (product no. 029879kk
[paperback])

e Audit Risk Alert Understanding the New Auditing Standards Related to Risk Assessment (product no.
022526kk [paperback])

AICPA reSOURCE: Accounting and Auditing Literature

.87 The AICPA has created your core accounting and auditing library online. AICPA reSOURCE is now
customizable to suit your preferences or your firm’s needs. Or, you can sign up for access to the entire library.
Get access—anytime, anywhere—to the AICPA’s latest Professional Standards, Technical Practice Aids, Audit and
Accounting Guides (more than 20), Audit Risk Alerts (more than 15), and Accounting Trends & Techniques. To
subscribe to this essential online service for accounting professionals, go to www.cpa2biz.com.

Continuing Professional Education
.88 The AICPA offers a number of continuing professional education (CPE) courses that are valuable to

CPAs working in public practice and industry, including the following:

e Internal Control and IT: Reliable Reporting and Fraud Prevention, a CPE course that provides an overview
of the key auditing standards, conceptual frameworks, IT infrastructures, and auditing issues you are
likely to face on medium to small company engagements. (Product no. 732553)

e [nternal Control Essentials for Financial Managers, Accountants and Auditors, a basic course designed to
give participants a solid understanding of systems and control documentation at the significant
process level. This course will benefit controllers, managers, and internal auditors in businesses as
well as auditors and consultants to public and private companies who need a review. (Product no.
731853kk)

Visit www.cpa2biz.com for a complete list of CPE courses.
Online CPE

.89 AICPA CPExpress (formerly AICPA InfoBytes), offered exclusively through CPA2Biz, is AICPA’s
flagship online learning product. AICPA members pay $180 for a new subscription and $149 for the annual
renewal. Nonmembers pay $435 for a new subscription and $375 for the annual renewal. Divided into 1-credit
and 2-credit courses that are available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, AICPA CPExpress offers hundreds of
hours of learning in a wide variety of topics including

e [nternal Controls: Risk Assessment and Fraud - An In-Depth Review
e Internal Controls: Controls for Smaller Entities

e [Internal Controls: The Control Environment - An In-Depth Review

Webcasts

.90 Stay plugged in to what is happening and earn CPE credit right from your desktop. AICPA webcasts
are high quality, two-hour CPE programs that bring you the latest topics from the profession’s leading experts.
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Broadcast live, they allow you to interact with the presenters and join in the discussion. If you cannot make
the live event, each webcast is archived and available on CD-ROM.

CFO Quarterly Roundtable Series

91 The CFO Quarterly Roundtable Series, brought to you each calendar quarter via webcast, covers a
broad array of “hot topics” that successful organizations employ and subjects that are important to the CFO’s
personal success. From financial reporting, budgeting, and forecasting to asset management and operations,
the roundtable helps CFOs, treasurers, controllers, and other financial executives excel in their demanding
roles.

SEC Quarterly Update Series

.92 The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Quarterly Update Webcast Series, brought to you each
calendar quarter, showcases the profession’s leading experts on what is “hot” at the SEC. From corporate
accounting reform legislation and new regulatory initiatives to accounting and reporting requirements and
corporate finance activities, these hard-hitting sessions will keep you “plugged in” to what is important. A
must for preparers in public companies and practitioners who have public company clients, this is the place
to be when it comes to knowing about the areas of current interest at the SEC.

Member Service Center

.93 To order AICPA products, receive information about AICPA activities, and get help with your
membership questions, call the AICPA Service Operations Center at (888) 777-7077.

Hotlines
Accounting and Auditing Technical Hotline

.94 Do you have a complex technical question about GAAD, other comprehensive bases of accounting, or
other technical matters? If so, use the AICPA’s Accounting and Auditing Technical Hotline. AICPA staff will
research your question and call you back with the answer. Beginning January 14, 2008, hotline hours were
extended so that the hotline is now available from 9 a.m. to 8 p.m. on weekdays. You can reach the Technical
Hotline at (877) 242-7212 or at www.aicpa.org/Research/TechnicalHotline /Pages/TechnicalHotline.aspx.

Ethics Hotline

.95 In addition to the Technical Hotline, the AICPA also offers an Ethics Hotline. Members of the AICPA’s
Professional Ethics Team answer inquiries concerning independence and other behavioral issues related to the
application of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. You can reach the Ethics Hotline at (888) 777-7077 or
by e-mail at ethics@aicpa.org.

AICPA Governmental Audit Quality Center

96 The Governmental Audit Quality Center (GAQC) is a firm-based, voluntary membership center
designed to help CPAs meet the challenges of performing quality audits in this unique and complex area. The
GAQC’s primary purpose is to promote the importance of quality governmental audits and the value of such
audits to purchasers of governmental audit services. The GAQC also offers resources to enhance the quality
of a firm’s governmental audits.

.97 The mission of the GAQC is to do the following;:

® Raise awareness about the importance of governmental audits
® Serve as a comprehensive resource provider on governmental audits for member firms

® (Create a community of firms that demonstrates a commitment to governmental audit quality
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® Provide center members with an online forum tool for sharing best practices and discussing audit,
accounting, and regulatory issues

e List member firms to enable purchasers of governmental audit services to identify firms that are
members

® Provide information about the center’s activities to other governmental audit stakeholders

For more information about the GAQC, visit www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/Governmental AuditQuality /
Pages/GAQC.aspx.

The Center for Audit Quality

.98 The Center for Audit Quality (CAQ), which is affiliated with the AICPA, was created to serve investors,
public company auditors, and the markets. The CAQ’s mission is to foster confidence in the audit process and
to aid investors and the capital markets by advancing constructive suggestions for change rooted in the
profession’s core values of integrity, objectivity, honesty, and trust.

.99 To accomplish this mission, the CAQ works to make public company audits even more reliable and
relevant for investors in a time of growing financial complexity and market globalization. The CAQ also
undertakes research, offers recommendations to enhance investor confidence and the vitality of the capital
markets, issues technical support for public company auditing professionals, and helps facilitate the public
discussion about modernizing business reporting. The CAQ is a voluntary membership center that supports
member firms that audit or are interested in auditing public companies with education, communication,
representation, and other means. To learn more about the CAQ, visit www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/
CenterForAuditQuality /Pages/CAQHome.aspx.

Employee Benefit Plan Audit Quality Center

.100 The AICPA Employee Benefit Plan Audit Quality Center is a firm-based, voluntary membership
center created in March 2003 with the goal of promoting quality employee benefit plan audits. The center now
has more than 1,500 members in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and Puerto Rico.

101 Reviews performed by the U.S. Department of Labor’s Employee Benefits Security Administration
continue to show a difference in the quality of Employee Retirement Income Security Act audits performed
by center member firms compared with those performed by nonmember firms. As members of the center,
firms have tools and resources that are not available from any other source. In addition to providing periodic
e-alerts with information about recent developments affecting employee benefit plan audits, the center has
recently made available to its members

® accounting and auditing resource centers about Section 403(b) plan audits, SAS No. 103, Audit
Documentation (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 339), SAS No. 112, the risk assessment
standards, stable value investments, and the Pension Protection Act of 2006.

e “Live Forum” and “Roundtable Discussion” conference calls to share important information and
answer participant questions on a wide range of technical and practice topics. As an added benefit,
the center now offers a CPE option for most calls.

® two new “Topix” primers on cash balance plans and Section 403(b) plans to help members gain a
general understanding of these types of plans.

® three new “Plan Advisories” for members to share with plan stakeholders about issues of importance
for plan auditors, including the plan sponsor and trustees’ responsibility for monitoring their TPAs,
the importance of internal controls, and the plan sponsor’s responsibility for valuing plan invest-
ments.

102 Visit the center website at www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/EmployeeBenefitPlanAuditQuality /Pages/
EBPAQhomepage.aspx to see a complete list of center members and to preview center benefits. For more
information, contact the center at ebpaqc@aicpa.org.
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Antifraud/Forensic Accounting Resource Center

103 The AICPA’s Antifraud/Forensic Accounting Resource Center may be found at www.aicpa.org/
InterestAreas/ForensicAndValuation/Resources/ForensicAcctg/Pages/default.aspx. The center contains a
variety of tools for auditors, financial managers and those charged with governance. Topics covered in the
resource center include identifying internal control risk factors and fraud prevention, detection and inves-
tigation in a variety of practical formats including checklists, guides, and case studies.

Audit Committee Effectiveness Center

104 Realizing that financial statement integrity and reliability depends upon balancing the pressures of
multiple stakeholders, including management, regulators, investors, and the public interest, this center
provides guidance and tools to make audit committee best practices actionable. Several audit committee
toolkits are offered through this center, including those for public companies, not-for-profits, and govern-
ments.

Audit Committee Matching System

105 The Audit Committee Matching System was designed to provide members with opportunities to
serve on boards of directors and as a public service to provide a list of qualified, credentialed candidates to
serve on boards of directors and presumably the audit committees of those boards. The AICPA’s Audit
Committee Effectiveness Center webpage at www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/ AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/
Pages/ACEC.aspx also contains a link to the Audit Committee Matching System.

EE

This Audit Risk Alert replaces Understanding SAS No. 112 and Evaluating Control Deficiencies.

As you encounter audit or industry issues that you believe warrant discussion in an AICPA Audit Risk Alert,
please feel free to share them with us. Any other comments that you have about this Audit Risk Alert would
also be appreciated. You may e-mail these comments to ccole@aicpa.org or write to

Christopher Cole, CPA, CFE, CFF
AICPA
220 Leigh Farm Road
Durham, NC 27707-8110

[The next page is 9001.]
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These examples are for illustrative purposes only. They are included as conveniences for
users of this manual who may want points of departure when drafting reports to meet their
individual needs. This manual is a nonauthoritative kit of practice aids and, accordingly,
does not include extensive explanation or discussion of authoritative pronouncements.
Please refer directly to applicable authoritative pronouncements when appropriate.

These examples illustrate the body of various reports. For comment on addressing and
dating of the report, see section 9100.

Examples that are assembled from illustrative reporting language set forth in Statements on
Auditing Standards (SASs) and Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services include citation of the particular source and its location in AICPA Professional
Standards.

References to Professional Standards. When referring to the professional standards, this
manual cites the applicable sections as codified in the AICPA Professional Standards and not
the numbered statements, as appropriate. For example, SAS No. 54, Illegal Acts by Clients, is
referred to as AU section 317, Illegal Acts by Clients (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1).
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AAM Section 9100

Format of Accountants’ Reports

Report Preparation

.01 Firms usually develop standard policies and procedures for preparing and issuing reports. The
following are some suggested report preparation policies that the auditor may consider:

e [etterhead. The report is typically presented on firm letterhead.

® Addressee. The report may be addressed to the board of directors, stockholders, partners, general
partners, proprietors, or to the company whose financial statements are being audited. If the firm was
engaged by others, the report may be addressed thereto.

The Board of Directors
XYZ Credit Union
City, State Zip Code

®  Salutation. A salutation is not typically included on the report.

® Report signing. The firm name is usually manually signed by the engagement partner. The words
“Certified Public Accountants” may be excluded from the signature if they are a normal part of the
firm’s letterhead.

® Report dating. Audit reports should not be dated earlier than the date on which the auditor has
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the opinion.

— The date is typically presented at the bottom of the page along with the city and state, if
it is not included in firm letterhead, as follows:

City, State
April 5, 20XX

— When a subsequent event disclosed in the financial statements occurs after the original date
of the auditor’s report but before the issuance of the related financial statements, the
auditor may use dual dating or date the report as of the later date. The following illustrates
dual dating:

City, State
February 26, 20XX, except for Note X as to which the date is
April 5, 20XX

® Level of service. The level of service performed and the nature of the report are typically outlined in
the engagement letter. The letter should be revised for any significant changes from the original
understanding with the client, such as in the event of a step-up or step-down in the level of service.

— The partner typically approves any step-up or step-down in level of service. A step-up in
level of service may occur after obtaining a revised understanding with the client. The
auditor may consider a step-down in level of service only after carefully evaluating the
reasons for the change because the reasons for the change may also affect the report on
lower levels of service. Limitations on the scope of an audit, for example, may also preclude
issuing a review or compilation report.

— If more than one level of service is performed for financial statements of the same period
(for example, compilation and audit), the financial statements need only be accompanied
by the report on the highest level of service performed.
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Reports on Audited Financial Statements

.02 Generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) establish reporting responsibilities. Following are the
four standards of reporting' stated in paragraph .02 of AU section 150, Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1):

a. The auditor must state in the auditor’s report whether the financial statements are presented in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).2

b. The auditor must identify in the auditor’s report those circumstances in which GAAP has not been
consistently applied in the current period in relation to the preceding period.

c.  When the auditor determines that informative disclosures are not reasonably adequate, the auditor
must so state in the auditor’s report.

d. The auditor must either express an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole or
state that an opinion cannot be expressed in the auditor’s report. When the auditor cannot express
an overall opinion, the auditor should state the reasons therefor in the auditor’s report. In all cases
where an auditor’s name is associated with financial statements, the auditor should clearly indicate
the character of the auditor’s work, if any, and the degree of responsibility the auditor is taking in
the auditor’s report.

Standard Report

.03 The standard auditor’s report prescribed by AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1), may be used when the auditor has formed an opinion, based on the
application of GAAS,? that the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, an entity’s financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows in accordance with GAAP. The opinion should include an
identification of the United States of America as the country of origin of those accounting principles (for
example, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America or U.S. GAAP). It should
state that the financial statements identified in the report were audited. A standard auditor’s report for the
presentation of comparative financial statements is illustrated in paragraph .01 of section 9210.

Modifications of the Standard Auditor’s Report

.04 AU section 508 describes situations that may require auditors to modify the standard report and also
provides illustrations of the appropriate modifying language. These modifications, which are discussed in
greater depth subsequently, are as follows:

®  Lxplanatory language. Awide variety of situations may arise that require a modification of the standard
auditor’s report, without affecting the expression of an unqualified opinion. Some of the more
common of such situations are going-concern problems, part of the financial statements have been
audited by another auditor, or a significant change in accounting principles. The explanatory
paragraph for situations that do not affect the auditor’s opinion may precede or follow the opinion
paragraph, unless otherwise required by AU section 508.

®  Qualified opinion. Qualified opinions result from two general categories of situations: scope limitations
and departures from GAAP. A scope limitation arises when the auditor has been unable to perform
all of the auditing procedures he or she believes are necessary to express an unqualified opinion on

! The reporting standards apply only when the auditor issues a report.

2 When an auditor reports on financial statements prepared in accordance with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the first standard of reporting is satisfied by stating in the auditor’s report that the
basis of presentation is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP and by expressing an opinion (or disclaiming an opinion)
on whether the financial statements are presented in conformity with the comprehensive basis of accounting used.

3 Paragraph .08 of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1), indicates that one of
the basic elements of the standard report is an identification of the United States of America as the country of origin of those standards

(for example, auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America or U.S. generally accepted auditing standards
[GAAS]).
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the financial statements. Financial statements containing a material departure from GAAP, including
inadequate disclosures in the financial statements, may lead the auditor to qualify his or her opinion.
Both situations require an explanatory paragraph to be included, preceding the opinion paragraph,
describing the nature of the scope limitation or the departure from GAAP.

®  Disclaimer of opinion. A disclaimer of opinion is appropriate when

— the scope of the audit has been restricted so significantly that the auditor does not have a
basis for forming an opinion on the financial statements. In this case, an explanatory
paragraph, preceding the disclaimer paragraph, should be included in the auditor’s report
to explain all significant reasons for the disclaimer.

— the auditor is not independent, in which case a one paragraph disclaimer is issued (applies
for issuers only). A compilation report with a lack of independence noted should be issued
for nonissuers entities.

®  Adverse opinion. An adverse opinion is expressed on financial statements that do not present fairly the
entity’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows in conformity with GAAP. In other
words, the auditor concludes that the financial statements are not fairly presented in accordance with
GAAP. When the auditor expresses an adverse opinion, he or she should disclose in a separate
explanatory paragraph, preceding the opinion paragraph, all of the substantive reasons for the
adverse opinion and, if practical, the effects of the subject matter of the adverse opinion on the
financial statements.

Scope Limitations

.05 Restrictions on the scope of an audit, whether imposed by the client or by circumstances such as the
timing of the auditor’s work, the inability to obtain sufficient competent audit evidence, or an inadequacy in
the client’s accounting records, may require a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion. Deciding whether
to qualify or disclaim is a matter of judgment, and generally the primary factor in this decision is the
materiality of the financial statement items affected. However, other factors may be considered, such as the
pervasiveness of the effects of the omitted auditing procedures and the nature of the financial statement items
affected.

Departures From GAAP

.06 Unacceptable Principles. When financial statements are materially affected by a departure from GAAP,
the auditor should express either a qualified or adverse opinion. Choosing between a qualified or adverse
opinion depends on the magnitude of the departure. While the materiality of the effects of the departure is
a primary consideration, the auditor may also consider the pervasiveness of the departure (such as the number
of financial statement items affected), the importance of the departure to the organization’s activities and its
ability to obtain funding, and the dollar effect of the departure on individual financial statement items as well
as the statements as a whole.

.07 For both qualified and adverse opinions, an explanatory paragraph should be included, preceding the
opinion paragraph, that describes all of the substantive reasons for the auditor’s opinion and the effects on
the financial statements, if readily determinable. If it is not practical to determine the effects of the departure,
the explanatory paragraph should contain a statement to that effect. If information about the effects of the
departure is described in the notes, the explanatory paragraph may be shortened by referring to the note.

.08 Inadequate Disclosure. Departures from GAAP include not just inappropriate application of accounting
principles, but also omitted or inadequate disclosures in the financial statements. In such situations, the
auditor should add an explanatory paragraph, preceding the opinion paragraph, that describes the nature of
the inadequate or omitted disclosure and, if practical, the information that should have been disclosed. The
significance of the omitted or inadequate disclosure will determine whether a qualified or adverse opinion
is appropriate.
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.09 Report Modification. The opinion paragraph for a qualified opinion due to a departure from GAAP
should include the words except or exception and a reference to the explanatory paragraph that describes that
departure. Adverse opinions should include language such as “do not present fairly” and should also include
a reference to the explanatory paragraph. A qualified opinion indicating a departure from GAAP is presented
in paragraph .02 of section 9240. An adverse opinion indicating a departure from GAAP is presented in
paragraph .01 of section 9220.

Errors, Fraud, and Illegal Acts

.10 If the financial statements are materially affected by an error, fraud, or illegal act that has not been
properly accounted for and disclosed, a qualified or adverse opinion may be considered. If the auditor is
precluded from applying necessary procedures or from obtaining sufficient information to conclude whether
an error, fraud, or illegal act that could be material to the financial statements has occurred, a qualified or
disclaimer of opinion may be issued. All such matters could be discussed immediately with the engagement
partner.

A1 If a client will not accept modification of the report under the circumstances above, the firm may wish
to consider withdrawing from the engagement and consulting with legal counsel.

Consistency Exceptions

.12 Accounting changes affecting consistency include the following;:

® A change from one generally accepted accounting principle to another method, practice or principle
that is different from the one previously used

® A change from an unacceptable to an acceptable principle (correction of an error)

® A change in financial statement classification that significantly affects financial position or results of
operations (for example, classification of an item in earnings from operations as other income or
expense)

® A change in reporting entity

.13 Accounting changes that do not normally affect consistency include the following:
e Initial adoption of an existing accounting principle for a new event or transaction
® Insignificant reclassification
® Correction of errors not involving a principle

® Changes in accounting estimates

.14 The nature of the accounting change will determine whether prior periods should be restated or a
cumulative adjustment should be included in current activities. In either event, the change should be disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements and in the auditor’s report in a separate paragraph following the
opinion paragraph. The auditor’s concurrence with a change is implicit unless he or she takes exception to
the change. The opinion paragraph would be standard unless the change is to an unacceptable principle or
method, the change is not justified, or a prospective change of a principle requiring retroactive adjustment is
not discussed. In such situations, either a qualified or adverse opinion should be issued.

Uncertainties

.15 Uncertainties are significant circumstances, events, or transactions affecting the financial statements,
the outcome of which cannot be reasonably estimated. Uncertainties are a particularly complex area because
they can result in a qualified or adverse opinion due to a departure from GAAP, a qualified opinion, or
disclaimer due to a scope limitation. Uncertainties include, but are not limited to, contingencies covered by
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Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 450, Contingencies, and
matters related to estimates covered by FASB ASC 275, Risks and Uncertainties.

.16 Uncertainties Not Requiring Modification of the Opinion. Paragraph .30 of AU section 508 states that when
the auditor has concluded that sufficient audit evidence supports management’s assertions about the nature
of a matter involving an uncertainty and its presentation or disclosure in the financial statements, an
unqualified opinion ordinarily is appropriate.

.17 Scope Limitations. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to support management’s
assertions about the nature of a matter involving an uncertainty and its presentation or disclosure in the
financial statements, the auditor should consider the need to express a qualified opinion or to disclaim an
opinion because of a scope limitation. In some ways, information about uncertainties may always be
considered insufficient because it is dependent on future, unknown events. However, if the auditor deter-
mines that audit evidence did or does exist, but it is unavailable to him or her (for example, because the
information was destroyed or management will not allow the auditor to have access to it), the auditor may
consider modifying the report for a scope limitation.

.18 Departures From GAAP. Paragraph .45 of AU section 508 describes three categories of departures from
GAAP involving risks or uncertainties:

® Inadequate disclosure
® Inappropriate accounting principles

e Unreasonable accounting estimates

.19 If the auditor concludes that a matter involving a risk or uncertainty is not adequately disclosed in the
financial statements in conformity with GAAP, the auditor should express a qualified or adverse opinion.

.20 Also, a departure from GAAP may exist if management has made inappropriate estimates of future
events in applying accounting principles (such as the use of unreasonable expected lives of depreciable assets
for calculating depreciation) or in making other accounting estimates.

.21 Going-Concern Uncertainties. If the auditor concludes that there is substantial doubt about the organi-
zation’s ability to continue as a going concern, the situation should be described in an explanatory paragraph,
following the opinion paragraph. The explanatory paragraph may describe the principal events and condi-
tions related to the going concern, their possible effects on the financial statements, management’s plans for
corrective actions, and the auditor’s conclusion that substantial doubt exists. Paragraphs .12—-.13 of AU section
341, The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 1), imposes the additional requirement that the explanatory paragraph include the terms
substantial doubt and going concern. The auditor should not use conditional language in expressing a conclusion
concerning the existence of substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern in the
going concern explanatory paragraph.

.22 If financial statement disclosures about the uncertainty are inadequate, a departure from GAAP exists
and either a qualified or adverse opinion may be necessary.

Reporting on Supplementary Information

.23 Supplementary information includes detailed schedules of other data that are not necessary for a fair
presentation of the basic financial statements. Whenever supplementary information is included in an auditor
submitted document, the auditor has a responsibility to report on all of the information included in the
document. A separate report on the supplementary information or a separate paragraph in the report on the
basic financial statements may be used to report on supplementary information. If a separate report is issued,
it may be on the firm’s letterhead and should be signed. The report date should be the same as for the basic
financial statements.

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9100.23



9106 Accountants” Reports 85 6-10

.24 Reports on supplementary information should express or disclaim audit assurance. The nature of the
engagement and the extent and results of testing of supplementary information will determine the firm'’s
responsibility in each circumstance. If a separate report on the supplemental information is issued, the first
sentence of that report may refer to the report on the basic financial statements.

Reporting on a Single Statement

.25 In certain circumstances, an engagement to audit a single financial statement may be accepted.
Generally these engagements, called limited reporting engagements, are a result of the client needing a single
financial statement to fulfill a contractual requirement, such as an organization that must provide its landlord
with an audited income statement for purposes of calculating rent. Also, entities that have never been audited
often request an audit of the statement of financial position only for the first year, with the intention of having
audits of the entire financial statements in the future. Generally such engagements are accepted as long as
there is a legitimate reason for the limited engagement and provided that there are no restrictions on access
to information underlying the financial statements or on the scope of the procedures the auditor needs to
perform. In such engagements, an unqualified opinion may be expressed on the financial statement the
auditor was engaged to audit. If the other financial statements are presented, a disclaimer of opinion may be
issued on those statements. An unqualified opinion on a single statement audit is presented in paragraph .03
of section 9210.

Relying on the Work of a Specialist

.26 The firm may engage specialists to perform certain work supporting representations in the financial
statements. AU section 336, Using the Work of a Specialist (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1), indicates that
if a review of the specialist’s work finds it satisfactory, and if no report modification is necessary because of
the specialist’s findings, the auditor should not refer to the specialist’s work.

.27 1If the specialist’s work is not adequate to support the financial statement representations, a qualifi-
cation or disclaimer of opinion because of a scope limitation may be appropriate. Findings of the specialist
that indicate the financial statements are not in accordance with GAAP may necessitate a qualified or adverse
opinion.

Lack of Independence

.28 For issuers, whenever the auditor is not independent with respect to a client whose financial statements
have been audited, a disclaimer of opinion should be issued. The Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (PCAOB), through PCAOB Rule 36007, Interim Independence Standards (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and
Related Rules, Select Rules of the Board), has provisionally designated Rule 101, Independence (AICPA,
Professional Standards, vol. 2, ET sec. 101 par. .01), of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, and interpre-
tations and rulings thereunder, as they existed on April 16, 2003. Independence Standards Board (ISB)
Standard No. 2, Certain Independence Implications of Audits of Mutual Funds and Related Entities, ISB Standard
No. 3, Employment with Audit Clients and ISB Interpretation 99-1, Impact on Auditor Independence of Assisting
Clients in the Implementation of FAS 133 (Derivatives) (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and Related Rules, Interim
Standards), provide interim independence standards for registered public accounting firms performing audits
of issuers. The PCAOB's interim independence rules do not supersede the independence rules of the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC). Therefore, to the extent that a provision of the SEC’s rule or policy is more
restrictive—or less restrictive—than the PCAOB’s interim independence standards, a registered public
accounting firm must comply with the more restrictive requirement. For nonissuers, the firm may only issue
a compilation report that includes a statement that the firm is not independent.

.29 PCAOB Rule 3525, Audit Committee Pre-approval of Non-audit Services Related to Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and Related Rules, Select Rules of the Board), provides guidance
related to the auditor’s responsibilities when seeking audit committee preapproval of internal control related
nonaudit services. The rule is intended to ensure that audit committees are provided relevant information for
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them to make an informed decision on how the performance of internal control-related services may affect
independence. Specifically, the public accounting firm shall describe, in writing, the scope of the service and
submit to the audit committee, as well as discuss with the audit committee the potential effects of the service
on the firm’s independence. Issuers are also required to document the substance of such discussions in
writing. The full text of this rule can be found at http://pcaobus.org/Rules/PCAOBRules/Pages/Section_
3.aspx#rule3525.

.30 PCAOB Rule 3526, Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence (AICPA, PCAOB
Standards and Related Rules, Select Rules of the Board), which builds on ISB Standard No. 1, provides that before
accepting a new audit engagement and annually thereafter the auditor must describe in writing to the audit
committee all relationships between the auditor and the client (including affiliates of both) that reasonably
could be thought to bear on independence. The auditor must also discuss these matters with the audit

committee, and document the substance of that discussion. The full text of this rule can be found at
http:/ /pcaobus.org/Rules/PCAOBRules/Pages/Section_3.aspx#rule3526.

Reissuance of Audit Reports as Predecessors

.31 If the auditor is asked by a former client to reissue its report on prior-period financial statements, he
or she should inform the client of the procedures necessary to comply with that request. If the client agrees
to perform these procedures, and pay the fee for these services, the auditor would ordinarily agree to reissue
the report.

.32 Before reissuing a report, the auditor should consider whether the previous opinion on those prior
period statements is still appropriate. Differences in the current form and presentation of the financial
statements for the prior period, or the possibility of material subsequent events affecting those financial
statements, could make the previous opinion inappropriate. The auditor should perform at least the following
procedures:

® Read the financial statements of the current period.

e Compare the prior-period financial statements with the financial statements to be presented in
comparative format by the successor.

® Obtain a letter of representation from the management of the former client and successor auditor. The
representation letter from management of the former client should state (2) whether any information
has come to management’s attention that would cause them to believe that any of the previous
representations should be modified, and (b) whether any events have occurred subsequent to the
balance sheet date of the latest prior period financial statements reported on by the predecessor
auditor that would require adjustment to or disclosure in those financial statements.* The successor
should represent that his or her audit has not revealed any matters that may have a material effect
on the prior period financial statements.

.33 If the firm reissues its report without change, the previous report date should be used. If the financial
statements or the report of the prior period are revised, the report should be dual dated as to the event or
matter causing the revision. There should be no reference to the report or the work of the successor auditor.

* See appendix C, “Illustrative Updating Management Representation Letter,” paragraph .18 of AU section 333, Management
Representations (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1).
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Reiss;xance of the Audit Report Subsequent to the Date of Original
Issue

.34 Occasionally the firm may be requested by a client to furnish additional copies of a previously issued
report. Approval of the engagement partner may be necessary to reissue a previously issued report. In such
situations, the engagement partner may prepare a memo stating the reasons for the reissuance and that he or
she is not aware of any circumstances occurring since the original report date that would require adjustment
to or disclosure in the financial statements.

.35 Use of the original report date removes any implication that records, transactions, or events after that
date have been audited or reviewed. Although the auditor has no responsibility to make further investigation
or inquiry as to subsequent events, the engagement partner may consider a brief discussion with the client’s
chief financial or executive officer before reissuing his or her report.

Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at Report Date

.36 Although the auditor has no obligation to make any continuing inquiries or perform other procedures
after issuing his or her report, the auditor may become aware of information that affects the financial
statements upon which he or she has previously reported. When becoming aware of such information, the
auditor should determine the reliability of the information and whether such information existed at the date
of the report. The auditor should make inquiries of client management in this regard.

.37 If the information is reliable and did exist at the date of the report, if the report would have been
affected if the information had been known at the report date, and if there are persons relying on the financial
statements who would attach importance to the information, the auditor should take action to prevent future
reliance on the report. If the engagement partner concludes that action should be taken to prevent future
reliance on the report, he or she should advise the client to make appropriate disclosure of the newly
discovered facts and their impact on the financial statements to the persons known to be, or likely to be, relying
on the financial statements and related report. Disclosures may be made in one of the following ways:

e [f the effects of subsequent facts can be promptly determined, disclosure should include reissuing
revised financial statements and a revised report. The reasons for the revision usually should be
described in a note to the financial statements and referred to in the auditor’s report.

® If the current financial statements have not been released, appropriate disclosure of the revision of
the prior period financial statements can be included therein.

e  When the effects of subsequent facts cannot be readily determined, revisions of financial statements
and reports may be delayed. In this case, persons known to be, or likely to be, relying on the financial
statements should be notified by the client that the financial statements and related reports should
not be relied on, and that revised financial statements and report will be forthcoming.

.38 If the client refuses to make the disclosures discussed in the preceding paragraph, the auditor may wish
to contact legal counsel. He or she should also notify all members of the board of directors of such refusal.
The firm will take the following steps to prevent future reliance on its report:

e Notify the client that the auditor’s report must no longer be associated with the financial statements.
e Notify any applicable regulatory agencies that the report should no longer be relied upon.

e Notify each person known to be relying on the financial statements that the report should no longer
be relied upon.

5 The AICPA Auditing Standards Board Interpretation No. 1, “Eliminating a Going-Concern Explanatory Paragraph From a Reissued
Report,” of AU section 341, The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1, AU sec. 9341 par. .01-.02), provides guidance regarding situations when a previously issued report contains a going-concern
explanatory paragraph, and the situation that gave rise to the going-concern has been resolved.
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.39 If the auditor’s investigation of the subsequently discovered information is satisfactory, and he or she
has determined that the information is reliable, the notifications in paragraph .36 should include a description
of the effects of the information on the financial statements. If the client has not cooperated and, as a result,
the auditor has been unable to conduct a satisfactory investigation, the auditor does not need to indicate the
details of the information. Instead, the auditor can merely indicate that information has come to his or her
attention that his or her client has not cooperated in attempting to substantiate, and that, if the information
is true, the auditor believes that his or her report must no longer be relied upon nor should the auditor be
associated with the financial statements.

[The next page is 9211.]
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AAM Section 9210
Unqualified Opinions

.01 Auditor’s Standard Report—Comparative Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1)]
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.02 Auditor’s Standard Report—Single Year Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508]
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.03 Report on a Single Statement Audit (Balance Sheet Only Presented) [Assuming the Auditor is Able
to Satisfy Himself or Herself Regarding the Consistency of Application of Accounting Principles]

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20XX. This financial
statement is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
this financial statement based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the balance sheet is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the balance sheet. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
balance sheet presentation. We believe that our audit of the balance sheet provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the balance sheet referred to above, presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20XX, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .34 of AU section 508]

Note: If reporting on a single statement (for example, balance sheet only) when other financial statements are
also presented, the following paragraph may be added after the opinion paragraph:

Because we were not engaged to audit the statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows,
we did not extend our auditing procedures to enable us to express an opinion on the results of
operations and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20XX. Accordingly, we express no opinion
on them.
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.04 Reference to Other Auditors—Successor Auditor’s Report When Predecessor’s Report (Unquali-
fied) Is Not Presented

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the balance sheet of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. The financial statements of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X1, were
audited by other auditors whose report dated March 31, 20X2, expressed an unqualified opinion on those
statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 20X2 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .74 of AU section 508]

Practice Tip

(1) The successor auditor should not name the predecessor auditor in his or her report; however, the
successor auditor may name the predecessor auditor if the predecessor auditor’s practice was acquired
by, or merged with, that of the successor auditor.

[Source: Paragraph .74 footnote 29 of AU section 508]
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.05 Reference to Other Auditors in Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of ABC Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20X2
and 20X1, and the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial
statements of B Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary, which statements reflect total assets of $ and
$ as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, respectively, and total revenues of $ and $ for
the years then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to
us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for B Company, is based solely on the report
of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of ABC Company and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .13 of AU section 508]
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.06 Reference to Other Auditors—Successor Auditor’s Unqualified Report When Predecessor’s Report
That included an Explanatory Paragraph Is Not Presented

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the balance sheet of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. The financial statements of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X1, were
audited by other auditors whose report dated March 1, 20X2, on those statements included an explanatory
paragraph that described the change in the Company’s method of computing depreciation discussed in Note
X to the financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 20X2 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .74 of AU section 508]
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.07 Reference to Other Auditors—Successor Auditor’s Report When Prior Year Financial Statements
Have Been Restated Following Issuance of the Predecessor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the balance sheet of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. The financial statements of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X1, before
the restatement described in Note X, were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 31, 20X2,
expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 20X2 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ABC Company as of December 31,20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

We also audited the adjustments described in Note X that were applied to restate the 20X1 financial statements.
In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied.!

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .74 of AU section 508]

! This paragraph may be added to the report when the successor auditor is engaged to audit and applies sufficient procedures to
satisfy himself or herself as to the appropriateness of the restatement adjustments.
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.08 Reference to Other Auditors—Prior Year Financial Statements Restated Following a Pooling of
Interests

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

We previously audited and reported on the consolidated statements of income and cash flows of XYZ
Company and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 19X1, prior to their restatement for the 19X2
pooling of interests. The contribution of XYZ Company and subsidiaries to revenues and net income
represented . . . . . percent and . . . .. percent of the respective restated totals. Separate financial statements
of the other companies included in the 19X1 restated consolidated statements of income and cash flows were
audited and reported on separately by other auditors. We also audited the combination of the accompanying
consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 19X1, after restatement
for the 19X2 pooling of interests; in our opinion, such consolidated statements have been properly combined
on the basis described in Note A of notes to consolidated financial statements.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508 and paragraph .16 of AU section 543, Part of Audit Performed by Other
Independent Auditors (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

Note: This report is used when the auditor concludes that he or she cannot serve as principal auditor for the
restated financial statements.

AAM §921008 Copyright © 2010, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.




85 6-10 Unqualified Opinions 9219

.09 Reference to Other Auditors—Successor Auditor Report When Prior Period Financial Statements
Were Audited by a Predecessor Auditor Who Has Ceased Operations

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X1,
and for the year then ended were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. Those auditors
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their report dated March 31, 20X2.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 20X2 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ABC Company as of December 31,20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508 and paragraph .61 of Interpretation No. 15, “Reporting as Successor
Auditor When Prior-Period Audited Financial Statement Were Audited by a Predecessor Auditor Who Has
Ceased Operations,” of AU section 508 (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .60-.75)]
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.10 Reference to Other Auditors—Successor Auditor Report When Prior Period Financial Statements
Were Audited By a Predecessor Auditor Who Has Ceased Operations Have Been Restated

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X1,
and for the year then ended, before the restatement described in Note X, were audited by other auditors who
have ceased operations. Those auditors expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements in
their report dated March 31, 20X2.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 20X2 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

We also audited the adjustments described in Note X that were applied to restate the 20X1 financial statements.
In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied.”

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .74 of AU section 508 and paragraphs .61-.63 and .66 of Interpretation No. 15 of AU section
508]

2 See footnote 1.
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.11 Reference to Other Accountants—Report on Nonpublic Entity Presented With Prior Period Finan-
cial Statements Reviewed by a Predecessor Accountant Who Has Ceased Operations

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We have conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the 20X2 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

The 20X1 financial statements were reviewed by other accountants who have ceased operations, and their
report thereon, dated March 1, 20X2, stated they were not aware of any material modifications that should
be made to those statements for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
However, a review is substantially less in scope than an audit and does not provide a basis for the expression
of an opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .17 of AU section 504, Association with Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1), paragraph .74 of AU section 508, and paragraph .66 of Interpretation No. 15 of AU section 508]
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.12 Reference to Other Accountants—Report on Nonpublic Entity Presented With Prior Period
Financial Statements Compiled by a Predecessor Accountant Who Has Ceased Operations

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosure in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by managements, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 20X2 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ABC Company as of December 31,20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

The 20X1 financial statements were compiled by other accountants who have ceased operations, and their
report thereon, dated February 1, 20X2, stated that they did not audit or review those financial statements and,
accordingly, express no opinion or any other form of assurance on them.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .17 of AU section 504, paragraph .74 of AU section 508, and paragraph .66 of Interpretation
No. 15 of AU section 508]
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.13 Change in Accounting Principles or Method of Accounting

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of computing
depreciation in 20XX.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraphs .08 and .17 of AU section 508]
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.14 Going Concern—Uncertainty

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a
going concern. As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses
from operations and has a net capital deficiency that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as
a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note X. The financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508 and paragraph .13 of AU section 341, The Auditor’s Consideration of
an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

Note: In a going-concern explanatory paragraph, the auditor should not use conditional language in
expressing a conclusion concerning the existence of substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern.
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.15 Liquidation Basis of Accounting—Single Year Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the statement of net assets in liquidation of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X2, and
the related statement of changes in net assets in liquidation for the period from April 26, 20X2 to December
31, 20X2. In addition, we have audited the statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the
period from January 1, 20X2 to April 25, 20X2. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As described in Note X to the financial statements, the stockholders of XYZ Company approved a plan of
liquidation on April 25, 20X2, and the company commenced liquidation shortly thereafter. As a result, the
company has changed its basis of accounting for periods subsequent to April 25, 20X2 from the going-concern
basis to a liquidation basis.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net assets
in liquidation of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X2, the changes in its net assets in liquidation for the
period from April 26, 20X2 to December 31, 20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
period from January 1, 20X2 to April 25, 20X2, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America applied on the bases described in the preceding paragraph.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .36 of Interpretation No. 8, “Reporting on Financial Statements Prepared on a Liquidation
Basis of Accounting,” of AU section 508 (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .33-.37)]
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.16 Liquidation Basis of Accounting—Comparative Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the balance sheet of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X1, the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the statements of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the period from January 1, 20X2 to April 25, 20X2. In addition, we have audited
the statement of net assets in liquidation as of December 31, 20X2, and the related statement of changes in net
assets in liquidation for the period from April 26, 20X2 to December 31, 20X2. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatements. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As described in Note X to the financial statements, the stockholders of XYZ Company approved a plan of
liquidation on April 25, 20X2, and the company commenced liquidation shortly thereafter. As a result, the
company has changed its basis of accounting for periods subsequent to April 25, 20X2 from the going-concern
basis to a liquidation basis.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X1, the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
then ended and for the period from January 1, 20X2 to April 25, 20X2, its net assets in liquidation as of
December 31, 20X2, and the changes in its net assets in liquidation for the period from April 26, 20X2 to
December 31, 20X2, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America applied on the bases described in the preceding paragraph.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .36 of Interpretation No. 8 of AU section 508]
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.17 Comparative Financial Statements—Unqualified Opinion on the Current Year’s Financial State-
ments With Disclaimer of Opinion on the Prior Year’s Statements of Income, Retained Earnings, and Cash
Flows

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

Except as explained in the following paragraph, we conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We did not observe the taking of the physical inventory as of December 31, 20X0, since that date was prior
to our appointment as auditors for the Company, and we were unable to satisfy ourselves regarding inventory
quantities by means of other auditing procedures. Inventory amounts as of December 31, 20X0, enter into the
determination of net income and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20X1.

Because of the matter discussed in the preceding paragraph, the scope of our work was not sufficient to enable
us to express, and we do not express, an opinion on the results of operations and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 20X1.

In our opinion, the balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements
of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20X2, present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20X2, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraphs .08 and .67 of AU section 508]

Note: This report assumes that the independent auditor has been able to satisfy himself as to the consistency
of application of generally accepted accounting principles.
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.18 Comparative Financial Statements—Subsequent Restatement of Prior-Period Financial Statements
to Conform With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our report dated March 1, 20X2, we expressed an opinion that the 20X1 financial statements did not fairly
present financial position, results of operations, and cash flows in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles because of two departures from such principles: (1) the Company carried its property,
plant, and equipment at appraisal values, and provided for depreciation on the basis of such values, and (2)
the Company did not provide for deferred income taxes with respect to differences between income for
financial reporting purposes and taxable income. As described in Note X, the Company has changed its
method of accounting for these items and restated its 20X1 financial statements to conform with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, our present opinion on the 20X1
financial statements, as presented herein, is different from that expressed in our previous report.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraphs .08 and .69 of AU section 508]
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.19 Comparative Financial Statements—Current Year’s Statements Audited and Prior Year’s Statements
Reviewed

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The 20X1 financial statements were reviewed by us (other accountants) and our (their) report thereon, dated
March 1, 20X2, stated we (they) were not aware of any material modifications that should be made to those
statements for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. However, a review is
substantially less in scope than an audit and does not provide a basis for the expression of an opinion on the
financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508 and paragraph .17 of AU section 504]

Notes: When unaudited financial statements are presented in comparative form with audited financial
statements, the unaudited financial statements should be clearly marked to indicate their status.

When the financial statements are those of a public entity, the separate paragraph should include a disclaimer
of opinion or a description of a review. (A sample of a disclaimer of opinion is provided in paragraph .21.)
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.20 Comparative Financial Statements—Current Year’s Statements Audited and Prior Year’s Statements
Compiled

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The 20X1 financial statements were compiled by us (other accountants) and our (their) report thereon, dated
March 1, 20X2, stated we (they) did not audit or review those financial statements and, accordingly, express
no opinion or other form of assurance on them.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508 and paragraph .17 of AU section 504]

Note: When unaudited financial statements are presented in comparative form with audited financial
statements, the unaudited financial statements should be clearly marked to indicate their status.
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.21 Comparative Financial Statements—Current Year’s Statements Audited and Disclaimer on Prior
Year’s Unaudited Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20X1, and the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended were not audited by us and, accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on them.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508 and paragraphs .05 and .17 of AU section 504]

Notes: The preceding report illustrates a disclaimer of opinion as described in paragraphs .05 and .17 of AU
section 504 when the financial statements are those of a public entity. For a nonpublic entity, see paragraphs
.19-20 in this section.

When unaudited financial statements are presented in comparative form with audited financial statements,
the unaudited financial statements should be clearly marked to indicate their status.
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.22 U.S.-Style Report Modified to Report on Financial Statements Prepared in Conformity With
Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in Another Country That Are Intended for Use Only
Outside the United States

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of International Company as of December 31, 20XX and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended which, as described
in Note X, have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally accepted in [name of country].
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (and in [name of country]). U.S. standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of International Company as of [at] December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in [name of country].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .10 of AU section 534, Reporting on Financial Statements Prepared for Use in Other Countries
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]
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.23 Report on Financial Statements Prepared in Conformity With the Accounting Principles Generally
Accepted in Another Country That Will Have More Than Limited Distribution in the United States

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of International Company as of December 31, 20XX, and
the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As described in Note X to the financial statements, the Company has recorded fixed assets in excess of
historical cost using appraised value as the basis for adjustment in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in [name of country]. If the fixed assets had been recorded at historical cost, fixed assets and
retained earnings would be decreased by $XXX, XXX and $XXX, XXX respectively, as of December 31, 20XX,
and net income and earnings per share would be increased by $X,XXX and $X.XX respectively for the year
then ended.

In our opinion, except for the effects of recording the fixed assets in excess of historical costs, discussed in the
preceding paragraph, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
International Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

(Optional Paragraph)

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly the financial position of International
Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in [name of country].

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraphs .08 and .35-.57 of AU section 508 and paragraphs .14-.15 of AU section 534]

Note: This report does not apply to reports on financial statements of U.S. subsidiaries of foreign registrants
presented in Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filings of foreign parent companies where the
subsidiaries’ financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting used by the parent company.
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.24 Correction of an Error, Not Involving an Accounting Principle

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, certain errors resulting in an understatement of previously
reported expenses for the years ended December 31, 20X1 and 20X0 were discovered by the Company’s
management during the current year. Accordingly, the 20X1 financial statements have been restated and an
adjustment has been made to retained earnings as of January 1, 20X1 to correct the errors.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Sources: Paragraph .08 of AU section 508 and paragraph .12 of AU section 420, Consistency of Application of
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

Note: This report would be used when the issuance of financial statements accompanied by the auditor’s
report for a subsequent period is imminent so that disclosure is not delayed (paragraph .06b) of AU section
561, Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date of the Auditor’s Report [AICPA, Professional Standards, vol.

1))
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.25 Subsequent Event Prior to Issuance of Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, on March 1, 20X3, the Company entered into an agreement
to sell Subsidiary A. This Subsidiary represents X percent of the Company’s total assets and X percent of its
revenues.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraphs .08 and .19 of AU section 508]
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.26 Reissued Report Due to Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date of the Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As discussed in Note 10 to the financial statements, the Company’s 20X2 [specify account corrected] previously
reported as $XX, XXX should have been $X,XXX. This discovery was made subsequent to the issuance of the
financial statements. The financial statements have been restated to reflect this correction.

[Signature]
[March 31, 20X3, except for Note 10, as to which the date is April 30, 20X3]
[Sources: Paragraph .06(a) of AU section 561 and paragraph .08 of AU section 508]
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.27 Clarification in the Audit Report of the Extent of Testing of Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X4, and the related
statements of income and retained earnings and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X4, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .88 of Interpretation No. 17, “Clarification in the Audit Report of the Extent of Testing of
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards,” of
AU section 508 (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .85-.88)]

Note: The additional language related to internal control should not be used when reporting on the audit of
financial statements of a nonissuer that engages its auditor to examine (or audit) and report on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting either voluntarily or to comply with regulatory
requirements.
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.28 Reference to Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Standards in an Audit Report on a
Nonissuer

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X4, and the related
statements of income and retained earnings and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards as established by the Auditing
Standards Board (United States) and in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting
Owersight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company
is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our
audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.Accordingly we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X4, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .92 of Interpretation No. 18, “Reference to PCAOB Standards in an Audit Report on a
Nonissuer,” of AU section 508 (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .89-.92)]

Note: This example includes the illustrative language from paragraph .88 of AU section 9508. Because the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s (PCAOB) Auditing Standard No. 5, An Audit of Internal Control
Ower Financial Reporting that is Integrated With An Audit of Financial Statements (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and
Related Rules, Auditing Standards), requires an audit of internal control for those entities that are subject to
Section 404(a) of the act, an audit of a nonissuer performed under PCAOB auditing standards does not require
an audit of internal control unless otherwise required by a regulator with jurisdiction over the nonissuer. The
additional language related to internal control should not be used when reporting on the audit of financial
statements of a nonissuer that engages its auditor to examine (or audit) and report on the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting either voluntarily or to comply with regulatory requirements.

[The next page is 9271.]
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AAM Section 9220

Adverse Opinions

.01 Departures from GAAP

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, the Company carries its property, plant and equipment
accounts at appraisal values, and provides depreciation on the basis of such values. Further, the Company
does not provide for income taxes with respect to differences between financial income and taxable income
arising because of the use, for income tax purposes, of the installment method of reporting gross profit from
certain types of sales. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that
property, plant and equipment be stated at an amount not in excess of cost, reduced by depreciation based
on such amount, and that deferred income taxes be provided.

Because of the departures from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
identified above, as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, inventories have been increased $ and $

by inclusion in manufacturing overhead of depreciation in excess of that based on cost; property, plant and
equipment, less accumulated depreciation, is carried at $ and $ in excess of an amount based
on the cost to the Company; and deferred income taxes of $ and $ have not been recorded;
resulting in an increase of $ and $ in retained earnings and in appraisal surplus of $

and $ , respectively. For the years ended December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, cost of goods sold has been
increased $ and $ , respectively, because of the effects of the depreciation accounting referred
to above and deferred income taxes of $ and $ have not been provided, resulting in an increase
in net income of $ and $ , respectively.
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In our opinion, because of the effects of the matters discussed in the preceding paragraphs, the financial
statements referred to above do not present fairly, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, the financial position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, or
the results of its operations or its cash flows for the years then ended.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .60 of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1)]

[The next page is 9321.]
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AAM Section 9230

Disclaimers of Opinion

.01 Beginning Inventory Not Observed (First Examination)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.!

Except as discussed in the following paragraph, we conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Because we were not engaged as auditors until after December 31, 20X1, we were not present to observe the
physical inventory taken at that date and we were not able to apply other auditing procedures to satisfy
ourselves as to inventory quantities. Accordingly, the scope of our work was not sufficient to enable us to
express, and we do not express, an opinion on the accompanying statements of income, retained earnings and
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20X2.

In our opinion, the balance sheet referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of X Company as of December 31, 20X2, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .26 of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1)]

! Although the introductory paragraph of the standard disclaimer of opinion begins with “We were engaged to audit ...” and the scope
paragraph of the report is omitted, paragraph .67 of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1), shows that the introductory paragraph does not need to be modified nor does the scope paragraph need to be omitted when the
disclaimed financial statements are with audited financial statements.
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.02 Inability to Obtain Sufficient Competent Evidential Matter Due to a Scope Limitation

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We were engaged to audit the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1,
and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.?

[Second paragraph of standard report should be omitted]

The Company did not make a count of its physical inventory in 20X2 or 20X1, stated in the accompanying
financial statements at § as of December 31, 20X2, and at $ as of December 31, 20X1. Further,
evidence supporting the cost of property and equipment acquired prior to December 31, 20X1, is no longer
available. The Company’s records do not permit the application of other auditing procedures to inventories
or property and equipment.

Since the Company did not take physical inventories and we were not able to apply other auditing procedures
to satisfy ourselves as to inventory quantities and the cost of property and equipment, the scope of our work
was not sufficient to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion on these financial statements.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .63 of AU section 508]

% The wording in the first paragraph of the auditor’s standard report is changed in a disclaimer of opinion because of a scope
limitation. The first sentence now states that “we were engaged to audit” rather than “we have audited” since, because of the scope
limitation, the auditor was not able to perform an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. In addition, the last
sentence of the first paragraph is also deleted, because of the scope limitation, to eliminate the reference to the auditor’s responsibility
to express an opinion.
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.03 Scope Limitation—Inventory and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Departure—
Capitalized Lease Obligations

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We were engaged to audit the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1,
and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

The Company has excluded, from property and debt in the accompanying balance sheets, certain lease
obligations that, in our opinion, should be capitalized in order to conform with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. If these lease obligations were capitalized, property would

be increased by $ and $ , long-term debt by $ and $ , and retained earnings by
$ and $ as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, respectively. Additionally, net income would be
increased (decreased) by $ and $ and earnings per share would be increased (decreased) by
$ and $ , respectively, for the years then ended.

The Company did not make a count of its physical inventory in 20X2 or 20X1, stated in the accompanying
financial statements at $ as of December 31, 20X2, and at $ as of December 31, 20X1. Further,
evidence supporting the cost of property and equipment acquired prior to December 31, 20X1, is no longer
available. The Company’s records do not permit the application of other auditing procedures to inventories
or property and equipment.

Since the Company did not take physical inventories and we were not able to apply other auditing procedures
to satisfy ourselves as to inventory quantities and the cost of property and equipment, the scope of our work
was not sufficient to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion on these financial statements.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraphs .39 and .63 of AU section 508]

Note: This report would be used if the generally accepted accounting principles departure is not so material
to require an adverse opinion. See paragraph .01 of section 9220 for an example of an adverse opinion.

[The next page is 9371.]
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AAM Section 9240
Qualified Opinions

.01 Scope Limitation—Investment in Foreign Affiliate (Assuming Effects Are Such That Qualification
Rather Than Disclaimer Is Appropriate)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

Except as discussed in the following paragraph, we conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We were unable to obtain audited financial statements supporting the Company’s investment in a foreign
affiliate stated at $ and $ at December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, respectively, or its equity in earnings
of that affiliate of $ and $ , which is included in net income for the years then ended as
described in Note X to the financial statements; nor were we able to satisfy ourselves as to the carrying value
of the investment in the foreign affiliate or the equity in its earnings by other auditing procedures.

In our opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be
necessary had we been able to examine evidence regarding the foreign affiliate investment and earnings, the
financial statements referred to in the first paragraph above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .26 of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1)]
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.02 Departure From GAAP—Leases Not Capitalized

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The Company has excluded, from property and debt in the accompanying balance sheets, certain lease
obligations that, in our opinion, should be capitalized in order to conform with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. If these lease obligations were capitalized, property would

be increased by $ and $ , long-term debt by $ and $ , and retained earnings by
$ and $ as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, respectively. Additionally, net income would be
increased (decreased) by $ and $ and earnings per share would be increased (decreased) by
$ and $ , respectively, for the years then ended.

In our opinion, except for the effects of not capitalizing certain lease obligations as discussed in the preceding
paragraph, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .39 of AU section 508]
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.03 Departure From GAAP—Leases Not Capitalized—Pertinent Facts Disclosed in Note

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As more fully described in Note X to the financial statements, the Company has excluded certain lease
obligations from property and debt in the accompanying balance sheets. In our opinion, accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America require that such obligations be included in the balance
sheets.

In our opinion, except for the effects of not capitalizing certain lease obligations as discussed in the preceding
paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .40 of AU section 508]
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.04 Inadequate Disclosure—Omission of Disclosures

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The Company’s financial statements do not disclose [describe the nature of the omitted information that it is not
practicable to present in the auditor’s report]. In our opinion, disclosure of this information is required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In our opinion, except for the omission of the information discussed in the preceding paragraph, the financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of X Company as of
[at] December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .42 of AU section 508]

Note: This report assumes the effects are such that the auditor has concluded an adverse opinion is not
appropriate.
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.05 Inadequate Disclosure—Omission of Statement of Cash Flows

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income and retained earnings for the years then ended. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The Company declined to present a statement of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 20X2 and 20X1.
Presentation of such statement summarizing the Company’s operating, investing, and financing activities is
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In our opinion, except that the omission of a statement of cash flows results in an incomplete presentation as
explained in the preceding paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its
operations for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .44 of AU section 508]
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.06 Change in Accounting Principle Without Reasonable Justification

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As disclosed in Note X to the financial statements, the Company adopted, in 20X2, the first-in, first-out method
of accounting for its inventories, whereas it previously used the last-in, first-out method. Although use of the
first-in, first-out method is in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, in our opinion the Company has not provided reasonable justification for making this change as
required by those principles.

In our opinion, except for the change in accounting principle discussed in the preceding paragraph, the
financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of X
Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .52 of AU section 508]

Note: If the change was from an accounting principle that is not generally accepted to one that is generally
accepted it would be a correction of an error and would require recognition in the auditor’s report as to
consistency. However, because the middle paragraph contains all of the information required in an explana-
tory paragraph (following the opinion paragraph) as required by paragraph .16-.18 of AU section 508, an
explanatory paragraph is not required in this instance.
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.07 Change to an Accounting Principle Not in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The company previously recorded its land at cost but adjusted the amounts to appraised values during the
year, with a corresponding increase in stockholders” equity in the amount of $ . In our opinion, the new
basis on which land is recorded is not in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

In our opinion, except for the change to recording appraised values as described above, the financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of X Company as of
[at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .55 of AU section 508]
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.08 More than One Reason—Qualified Opinion on Prior Year’s Financial Statements With the Current
Year Qualified for the Same Reason and an Additional Reason

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

Except as discussed in the following paragraph, we conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We were unable to obtain audited financial statements supporting the Company’s investment in a foreign
affiliate stated at $ and $ at December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, respectively, or its equity in earnings
of that affiliate of $ and $ , which is included in net income for the years then ended as
described in Note X to the financial statements; nor were we able to satisfy ourselves as to the carrying value
of the investment in the foreign affiliate or the equity in its earnings by other auditing procedures.

The Company has excluded, from property and debt in the accompanying balance sheets, certain lease
obligations that, in our opinion, should be capitalized in order to conform with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. If these lease obligations were capitalized, property would

be increased by $ and $ , long-term debt by $ and $ , and retained earnings by
$ and $ as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, respectively. Additionally, net income would be
increased (decreased) by $ and $ and earnings per share would be increased (decreased) by
$ and $ , respectively, for the years then ended.

In our opinion, except for the effects on the 20X2 and 20X1 financial statements of such adjustments, if any,
as might have been determined to be necessary had we been able to examine evidence regarding the foreign
affiliate investment and earnings, and except for the effects of the 20X2 financial statements of not capitalizing
certain lease obligations as discussed in the preceding paragraph, the financial statements referred to in the
first paragraph above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of X Company as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraphs .26 and .39 of AU section 508]

[The next page is 9421.]
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AAM Section 9245

Informatiog Accompanying Audited Financial
Statements

.01 Omission of Supplementary Information Required by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The Company has not presented [describe the supplementary information required by generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP)! ] that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States has determined is
necessary to supplement, although not required to be part of, the basic financial statements.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A, Required Supplementary Information (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1)]

" In February 2010, the Auditing Standards Board issued Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 118, Other Information in
Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements; SAS No. 119, Supplementary Information in Relation to the Financial Statements as a Whole;
and SAS No. 120, Required Supplementary Information (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU secs. 550, 551, and 558). These standards
amend or supersede AU section 550A, Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements; AU section 551A, Reporting
on Information Accompanying the Basic Financial Statements in Auditor-Submitted Documents; and AU section 558A, Required Supplementary
Information (AICPA Professional Standards, vol. 1), respectively. Collectively, these statements address the auditor’s responsibilities with
respect to information that is required by a designated standard setter (for example,the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB),
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB), and the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB)) to accompany an entity’s basic financial statements and supplementary information that is
presented outside the basic financial statements. The effective date of the SASs is for audits of financial statements for periods beginning
on or after December 15, 2010, and early application is permitted.

! The auditor may identify the body requiring the information, such as the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in this
example.
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.02 Omission of Supplementary Information Required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB)*

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20X1, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the City of Example’s management. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]> An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely pre-
sented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20X1, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

The City of Example, Any State, has not presented [describe the supplementary information required by GAAP® ]
that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America has determined is necessary to
supplement, although not required to be part of, the basic financial statements.

[Signature]
[Date]

% See subparagraph A-1 of paragraph 14.79 in the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments for conditions that
may make modifications to this report necessary, such as when the financial statements include information from a prior period.

% This optional wording may be added in accordance with Interpretation No. 17 “Clarification in the Audit Report of the Extent of
Testing of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards,” of AU section 508,
Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .85-.88), which provides reporting guidance
for audits of nonissuers. (This wording may be added even in a report on the financial statements in an audit conducted in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards or U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and
Non-Profit Organizations, in which the auditor reports on internal control over financial reporting but does not express an opinion on that
internal control. See the AICPA Audit Guide Government Auditing Standards and Circular A-133 Audits.) Interpretation No. 17 addresses
how auditors may expand this report to explain that their consideration of internal control was sufficient to provide the auditor sufficient
understanding to plan the audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of tests to be performed, but was not sufficient to express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. If this optional wording is added, the remainder of the paragraph would read as
follows:

An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

*If a government presents required budgetary comparison information as basic financial statements instead of as required
supplementary information (RSI), the opinion paragraph would be replaced with the following:
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to previously present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information
of the City of Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20X1, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof and the
respective budgetary comparison for the [indicate the major governmental funds involved] for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

5 The auditor may identify the body requiring the information, such as GASB in this example.
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[Sources: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A;" AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments,
updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph 14.79 (appendix A example A-1)]

" See footnote * in section title.
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.03 Material Departures From FASB Guidelines for Required Supplementary Information

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The [specifically identify the supplementary information] on page XX is not required part of the basic financial
statements, and we did not audit and do not express an opinion on such information. However, we have
applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the
methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information. As result of such limited
procedures, we believe that the [specifically identify the supplementary information] is not in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States because [describe the material departure(s) from the
GAAP® |.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A" ]

Note: Ordinarily, the required supplementary information should be distinct from the audited financial
statements and distinguished from other information outside the financial statements that is not required by
GAAP. However, management may choose not to place the required supplementary information outside the
basic financial statements. In such circumstances, unless it is audited as part of the basic financial statements,
the information should be clearly marked as unaudited. If the information is not clearly marked as unaudited,
the auditor’s report on the audited financial statements should be expanded to include a disclaimer on the
supplementary information.

[Source: Paragraph .11 of AU section 558A" | (See paragraph .10 of this section.)

6 See footnote 1.
" See footnote * in section title.
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.04 Material Departures From GASB Guidelines for Required Supplementary Information’

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20X1, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the City of Example’s management. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]> An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely pre-
sented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20X1, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.’

The [specifically identify the supplementary information] on pages XX through XX and XX through XX are not a
required part of the basic financial statements, and we did not audit and do not express an opinion on such
information. However, we have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries
of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information.
As a result of such limited procedures, we believe that the [specifically identify the supplementary information]
is not in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States because [describe the
material departure(s) from GAAP' ].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Sources: Derived from paragraph .08 of AU section 558A;" AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local
Governments, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraphs 14.56 and 14.79 (appendix A example A-1)]

7 See footnote 2.
8 See footnote 3.
9 See footnote 4.
10 See footnote 5.
* See footnote * in section title.

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9245.04



9426 Accountants” Reports 85 6-10

Note: GASB standards require the management’s discussion and analysis, which is required supplementary
information (RSI), to precede the basic financial statements and most other RSI to be presented immediately
following the notes to the financial statements. Although paragraph .11 of AU section 558A discusses
alternative placement of RSI provided it is clearly marked as unaudited, that alternative is not available for
GASB-required supplementary information given the GASB'’s specific requirements for placement. If a
government does not place GASB-required supplementary information in its financial report as required by
GASB standards, the auditor should consider the effect of the placement on his or her report. Specifically, the
auditor should consider whether to report that the RSI placement constitutes a presentation that departs
materially from prescribed guidelines.

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments, updated as of March 1, 2010,
paragraph 2.62]
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.05 Prescribed Procedures Not Completed Regarding Supplementary Information Required by the
FASB

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The [specifically identify the supplementary information] on page XX is not a required part of the basic financial
statements, and we did not audit and do not express an opinion on such information. Further, we were unable
to apply to the information certain procedures prescribed by professional standards because [state the reasons].

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A" ]

Notes: Even though the auditor is unable to complete the prescribed procedures, if, on a basis of facts known
to him or her, the auditor concludes that the supplementary information has not been measured or presented
within prescribed guidelines, he or she should suggest appropriate revision; failing that, he or she should
describe the nature of any material departure(s) in the report. [Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A" |

Ordinarily, the required supplementary information should be distinct from the audited financial statements
and distinguished from other information outside the financial statements that is not required by GAAP.
However, management may choose not to place the required supplementary information outside of the basic
financial statements. In such circumstances, unless it is audited as part of the basic financial statements, the
information should be clearly marked as unaudited. If the information is not clearly marked as unaudited,
the auditor’s report should be expanded to include a disclaimer on the supplementary information. [Source:
Paragraph .11 of AU section 558A" | (See paragraph .10 in this section.)

" See footnote * in section title.
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.06 Prescribed Procedures Not Completed Regarding Supplementary Information Required by GASB™

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20X1, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the City of Example’s management. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]'* An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely pre-
sented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20X1, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.'

The [specifically identify the supplementary information] on pages XX through XX and XX through XX are not a
required part of the basic financial statements, and we did not audit and do not express an opinion on such
information. Further, we were unable to apply to the information certain procedures prescribed by profes-
sional standards because [state the reasons].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Sources: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A;" AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments,
updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph 14.79, (appendix A example A-1)]

T See footnote 2.
12 See footnote 3.
13 See footnote 4.
* See footnote * in section title.
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Notes: Even though the auditor is unable to complete the prescribed procedures, if, on the basis of facts known
to him or her, the auditor concludes that the supplementary information has not been measured or presented
within prescribed guidelines, he or she should suggest appropriate revision; failing that, he or she should
describe the nature of any material departure(s) in the report. [Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A" ]

GASB standards require the management’s discussion and analysis, which is RSI, to precede the basic financial
statements and most other RSI to be presented immediately following the notes to the financial statements.
Although paragraph .11 of AU section 558A" discusses alternative placement of RSI provided it is clearly
marked as unaudited, that alternative is not available for GASB-required supplementary information given
the GASB’s specific requirements for placement. If a government does not place GASB-required supplemen-
tary information in its financial report as required by GASB standards, the auditor should consider the effect
of the placement on his or her report. Specifically, the auditor should consider whether to report that the RSI
placement constitutes a presentation that departs materially from prescribed guidelines. [Source: AICPA Audit
and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph 2.62]

" See footnote * in section title.
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.07 Unresolved Doubts About Adherence to Guidelines Regarding Supplementary Information Re-
quired by FASB

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The [specifically identify the supplementary information] on page XX is not a required part of the basic financial
statements, and we did not audit and do not express an opinion on such information. However, we have
applied certain limited procedures prescribed by professional standards that raised doubts that we were
unable to resolve regarding whether material modifications should be made to the information for it to
conform with guidelines established by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. [The
auditor should consider including in the report the reason(s) he or she was unable to resolve his or her substantial doubts.]

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A" ]

Note: Even though the auditor is unable to complete the prescribed procedures, if, on the basis of facts known
to him or her, the auditor concludes that the supplementary information has not been measured or presented
within prescribed guidelines, he or she should suggest appropriate revision; failing that, he or she should
describe the nature of any material departure(s) in the report.

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A" ]

Ordinarily, the required supplementary information should be distinct from the audited financial statements
and distinguished from other information outside the financial statements that is not required by GAAP.
However, management may choose not to place the required supplementary information outside of the basic
financial statements. In such circumstances, unless it is audited as part of the basic financial statements, the
information should be clearly marked as unaudited. If the information is not clearly marked as unaudited,
the auditor’s report should be expanded to include a disclaimer on the supplementary information.

[Source: Paragraph .11 of AU section 558A" | (See paragraph .10 in this section.)

" See footnote * in section title.
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.08 Unresolved Doubts About Adherence to Guidelines Regarding Supplementary Information Re-
quired by GASB™

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20X1, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the City of Example’s management. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]'> An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely pre-
sented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20X1, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.'®

The [specifically identify the supplementary information] on pages XX through XX and XX through XX are not a
required part of the basic financial statements, and we did not audit and do not express an opinion on such
information. However, we have applied certain limited procedures prescribed by professional standards that
raised doubts that we were unable to resolve regarding whether material modifications should be made to
the information for it to conform with guidelines established by accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. [The auditor should consider including in the report the reason(s) he or she was unable to resolve
his or her substantial doubts.]

[Signature]
[Date]

[Sources: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A;" AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments,
updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph 14.79, (appendix A example A-1)]

14 See footnote 2.
15 See footnote 3.
16 See footnote 4.
" See footnote * in section title.
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Notes: Even though the auditor is unable to complete the prescribed procedures, if, on the basis of facts known
to him or her, the auditor concludes that the supplementary information has not been measured or presented
within prescribed guidelines, he or she should suggest appropriate revision; failing that, he or she should
describe the nature of any material departure(s) in the report. [Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 558A" |

GASB standards require the management’s discussion and analysis, which is RSI, to precede the basic financial
statements and most other RSI to be presented immediately following the notes to the financial statements.
Although paragraph .11 of AU section 558A" discusses alternative placement of RSI provided it is clearly
marked as unaudited, that alternative is not available for GASB-required supplementary information given
the GASB’s specific requirements for placement. If a government does not place GASB-required supplemen-
tary information in its financial report as required by GASB standards, the auditor should consider the effect
of the placement on his or her report. Specifically, the auditor should consider whether to report that the RSI
placement constitutes a presentation that departs materially from prescribed guidelines.

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments, updated as of March 1, 2010,
paragraph 2.62.]

" See footnote * in section title.
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.09 Report on Accompanying Information

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as
a whole. The (identify accompanying information) is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not
a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .12 of AU section 551A," Reporting on Information Accompanying the Basic Financial Statements
in Auditor-Submitted Documents (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

Note: The report on the accompanying information may be added to the auditor’s report on the basic financial
statements or may appear separately in the auditor-submitted document.

[Source: Paragraph .06 of AU section 551A" ]

" See footnote * in section title.
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.10 Disclaimer on Accompanying Information (Not Audited)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as
a whole. The [identify the accompanying information] is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not
a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and, accordingly, we express no opinion on
it.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .13 of AU section 551A" ]

Notes: The report on the accompanying information may be added to the auditor’s standard report on the
basic financial statements or may appear separately in the auditor-submitted document.

[Source: Paragraph .06 of AU section 551A" ]

When the auditor disclaims an opinion on all or part of the accompanying information in a document that
he or she submits to his or her client or to others, such information should either be marked as unaudited or
should include a reference to the auditor’s disclaimer of opinion. The wording of the disclaimer will vary
according to the circumstances.

[Source: Paragraph .13 of AU section 551A" ]

" See footnote * in section title.
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.11 Disclaimer on Part of the Accompanying Information (Not Audited)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as
a whole. The information on pages XX-YY is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information, except for that portion marked “unaudited,”
on which we express no opinion, has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements; and, in our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .13 of AU section 551A" ]

Notes: The report on the accompanying information may be added to the auditor’s standard report on the
basic financial statements or may appear separately in the auditor-submitted document.

[Source: Paragraph .06 of AU section 551A" ]

When the auditor disclaims an opinion on all or part of the accompanying information in a document that
he or she submits to his or her client or to others, such information should either be marked as unaudited or
should include a reference to the auditor’s disclaimer of opinion. The wording of the disclaimer will vary
according to the circumstances.

[Source: Paragraph .13 of AU section 551A" ]

" See footnote * in section title.
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.12 Qualification on Basic Financial Statements and Accompanying Information (Departure From
GAAP)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The Company has excluded, from property and debt in the accompanying balance sheets, certain lease
obligations that, in our opinion, should be capitalized in order to conform with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. If these lease obligations were capitalized, property would

be increased by $ and $ , long-term debt by $ and $ , and retained earnings by
$ and $ as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, respectively. Additionally, net income would be
increased (decreased) by $ and $ and earnings per share would be increased (decreased) by
$ and $ , respectively, for the years then ended.

In our opinion, except for the effects of not capitalizing certain lease obligations as discussed in the preceding
paragraph, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as
awhole. The schedules of property and related depreciation (page X), and long-term debt with related interest
(page Y), as of December 31, 20X2, and 20X1, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not
a required part of the basic financial statements. The information in such schedules has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements; and, in our opinion, except for the
effects on the schedule of property of not capitalizing certain lease obligations as explained in the third
paragraph of this report, such information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Sources: Paragraph .14 of AU section 551A" and paragraph .39 of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial
Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

Note: The report on the accompanying information may be added to the auditor’s standard report on the basic
financial statements or may appear separately in the auditor-submitted document.

[Source: Paragraph .06 of AU section 551A" ]

" See footnote * in section title.
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.13 Supplementary Information Required by the FASB Included in Auditor-Submitted Document
Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the
related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of X Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The [identify the supplementary information] on page XX is not a required part of the basic financial statements
but is supplementary information required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.'” We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of
management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information.
However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .15 of AU section 551A" ]

Notes: The report on the accompanying information may be added to the auditor’s standard report on the
basic financial statements or may appear separately in the auditor-submitted document. [Source: Paragraph
.06 of AU section 551A" |

When supplementary information required by GAAP is presented outside the basic financial statements in
an auditor-submitted document, the auditor should (a) express an opinion on the information if the auditor
has been engaged to examine the information, (b) report on the information using the guidance in paragraphs
.12 and .14 of AU section 551A, provided such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, or (c) disclaim an opinion on the information.'® [Source:
Paragraph .15 of AU section 551A" |

In certain circumstances, the auditor’s report should be expanded in accordance with paragraphs .08-.09 of
AU section 558A. The illustrative reports at paragraphs .01-.08 in this section are assembled from illustrative
reporting language in paragraph .08 of AU section 558A.

17 See footnote 1.
" See footnote * in section title.
18 See footnote 1.
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.14 Supplementary Information Required by the GASB Included in Auditor-Submitted Documents'’

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Example, Any State, as of and for the year ended June 30, 20X1, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the City of Example’s management. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]** An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely pre-
sented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Example, Any State, as of June 30, 20X1, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.’!

The [identify accompanying required supplementary information] on pages XX through XX and XX through XX are
not a required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.?> We have applied certain limited procedures,
which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and pre-
sentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express
no opinion on it.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Sources: Paragraph .15 of AU section 551A" ; AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and Local Governments,
updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph 14.79 (appendix A example A-1)]

Notes: The report on the accompanying information may be added to the auditor’s standard report on the
basic financial statements or may appear separately in auditor-submitted documents. [Source: Paragraph .06
of AU section 551A" ]

When supplementary information required by GAAP is presented outside the basic financial statements in
an auditor-submitted document, the auditor should (a) express an opinion on the information if the auditor
has been engaged to examine the information, (b) report on the information using the guidance in paragraphs
.12 and .14 of AU section 551A), provided such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, or (c) disclaim an opinion on the information.

19 See footnote 2.
20 See footnote 3.
2l See footnote 4.
22 See footnote 5.
* See footnote * in section title.
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In certain circumstances, the auditor’s report should be expanded in accordance with paragraphs .08-.09 of
AU section 558A. The illustrative reports at paragraphs .01-.08 in this section are assembled from illustrative
reporting language in paragraph .08 of AU section 558 and the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide State and
Local Governments, updated as of March 1, 2010.
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.15 Consolidating Information Not Separately Audited

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of X Company and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings, and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of X Company and subsidiaries as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole. The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the
consolidated financial statements rather than to present the financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows of the individual companies. The consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .19 of AU section 551A" ]

Notes: The report on the consolidating information may be added to the auditor’s report on the basic financial
statements or may appear separately in the auditor-submitted document.

[Source: Paragraph .06 of AU section 551A" ]

When the auditor is engaged to express an opinion only on the consolidated financial statements and
consolidating information is also included, the auditor should be satisfied that the consolidating information
is suitably identified. For example, when the consolidated financial statements include columns of informa-
tion about the components of the consolidated group, the balance sheets might be titled, “Consolidated
Balance Sheet-December 31, 20X1, with Consolidating Information,” and the columns including the consoli-
dating information might be marked, “Consolidating Information.” When the consolidating information is
presented in separate schedules, the schedules presenting balance sheet information of the components might
be titled, for example, “Consolidating Schedule, Balance Sheet Information, December 31, 20X1.”

[Source: Paragraph .18 of AU section 551A" ]

" See footnote * in section title.
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.16 Unqualified Opinion on Selected Financial Data in a Client-Prepared Document That Includes
Audited Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of ABC Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 19X5
and 19X4, and the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 19X5. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provided a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the ABC Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20X5 and 20X4, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 20X5,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 20X3, 20X2, and 20X1, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 20X2, and 20X1
(none of which are presented herein); and we expressed unqualified opinions on those consolidated financial
statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the selected financial data for each of the five years
in the period ended December 31, 20X5, appearing on page Xx, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the consolidated financial statements from which it has been derived.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .10 of AU section 552, Reporting on Condensed Financial Statements and Selected Financial Data
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

[The next page is 9471.]

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9245.16






85 6-10 Engagements to Report on Internal Control 9471

AAM Section 9250

Engagements to Report on Internal Control

.01 Auditor’s Report When Expressing an Unqualified Opinion Directly on an Entity’s Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting as of a Specified Date

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have examined W Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based
on [identify criteria].! W Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assertion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying [title of management’s report]. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on W
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our examination.

We conducted our examination in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our examination included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our examination also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with governance,
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of
reliable financial statements in accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America]. An entity’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America], and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, W Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based on [identify criteria].

We also have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the [identify financial statements] of W Company and our report dated [date of report, which should be
the same as the date of the report on the examination of internal control] expressed [include nature of opinion].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Example 1 in paragraph .169 of AT section 501, An Examination of an Entity’s Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting That Is Integrated With an Audit of Its Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

! For example, the following may be used to identify the criteria: “criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).”
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.02 Auditor’s Report When Expressing an Unqualified Opinion Directly on an Entity’s Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting as of a Specified Date—Insured Depository Institution That Is a Bank (Which
Is Not Subject to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) That Has Elected to Report on Controls
for Purposes of Section 112 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act at the Bank
Holding Company Level

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have examined W Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based
on [identify criteria] > W Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assertion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying [title of management’s report]. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on W
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our examination.

We conducted our examination in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our examination included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our examination also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with governance,
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of
reliable financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. Because management’s assessment and our examination were conducted to meet the reporting
requirements of Section 112 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act (FDICIA), our
examination of [Holding Company’s] internal control over financial reporting included controls over the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America and with the instructions to the Consolidated Financial Statements for Bank Holding
Companies (Form FR Y-9C).? An entity’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the entity
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and those charged with governance;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthor-
ized acquisition, use, or disposition of the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, W Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based on [identify criteria].

2 See footnote 1.

% This sentence would be modified if the insured depository institution (IDI) reports at the institution level rather than at the bank
holding company level to refer to the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council Instructions for Consolidated Reports of
Condition and Income or the Office of Thrift Supervision Instructions for Thrift Financial Reports instead of to the Form FR Y-9C. This
sentence would also be modified if the IDI reports at a holding company level and employs another approach to reporting on controls
over the preparation of regulatory reports as permitted by FIL 86-94.
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We also have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the [identify financial statements] of W Company and our report dated [date of report, which should be
the same as the date of the report on the examination of internal control] expressed [include nature of opinion].

[Signature]

[Date]
[Source: Derived from example 1 in paragraph .169 and paragraph .171 of AT section 501, An Examination of

an Entity’s Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated With an Audit of Its Financial Statements
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1).]
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.03 Auditor’s Report When Expressing an Unqualified Opinion on a Written Assertion About an
Entity’s Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of a Specified Date

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have examined management’s assertion, included in the accompanying [title of management report], that W
Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX based on
lidentify criteria].* W Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assertion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying [title of management’s report]. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assertion based on our examination.

We conducted our examination in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our examination included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our examination also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with governance,
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of
reliable financial statements in accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America]. An entity’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America], and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assertion that W Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 20XX is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on [identify criteria].

We also have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the [identify financial statements] of W Company and our report dated [date of report, which should be
the same as the date of the report on the examination of internal control] expressed [include nature of opinion].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Example 2 in paragraph .169 of AT section 501]

4 See footnote 1.

AAM §925003 Copyright © 2010, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



85 6-10 Engagements to Report on Internal Control 9475

.04 Adverse Opinion on Internal Control When a Material Weakness in Internal Control Exists as of a
Specified Date

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have examined W Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based
on [identify criteria].” W Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assertion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying [title of management’s report]. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on W
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our examination.

We conducted our examination in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our examination included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our examination also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with governance,
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of
reliable financial statements in accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America]. An entity’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America], and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. The following material weakness
has been identified and included in the accompanying [title of management’s report].

[Identify the material weakness described in management’s report.]®

In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the
objectives of the control criteria, W Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based on [identify criteria].

5 See footnote 1.

® The auditor’s report need only refer to the material weaknesses described in management’s report and need not include a description
of each material weakness, provided each material weakness is included and fairly presented in all material respects in management’s
report. Paragraphs .111-.114 of AT section 501, An Examination of an Entity’s Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated With
an Audit of Its Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1), establishes standards and provides guidance regarding reporting
adverse opinions.
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We also have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the [identify financial statements] of W Company. We considered the material weakness identified
above in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 20XX financial
statements, and this report does not affect our report dated [date of report, which should be the same as the date
of the report on the examination of internal control], which expressed [include nature of opinion].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Example 3 in paragraph .169 of AT section 501]
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.05 Disclaimer of Opinion When Restrictions That Significantly Limit the Scope of the Examination
Are Imposed by the Client or the Responsible Party

Independent Auditor’s Report

We were engaged to examine W Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX,
based on [identify criterial.” W Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for its assertion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying [title of management’s report].

[Paragraph that describes the substantive reasons for the scope limitation] Accordingly, we were unable to perform

auditing procedures necessary to form an opinion on W Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 20XX.

Because of the limitation on the scope of our audit described in the paragraph above, the scope of our work
was not sufficient to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion on the effectiveness of W
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .118 and example 4 in paragraph .169 of AT section 501]

7 See footnote 1.
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.06 Disclaimer of Opinion When Restrictions That Significantly Limit the Scope of the Examination
Are Imposed by the Client or the Responsible Party and the Limited Procedures Performed by the Auditor
Caused the Auditor to Conclude That One or More Material Weaknesses Exist

Independent Auditor’s Report

We were engaged to examine W Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX,
based on [identify criteria.* W Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for its assertion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying [title of management’s report].

[Paragraph that describes the substantive reasons for the scope limitation] Accordingly, we were unable to perform
auditing procedures necessary to form an opinion on W Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 20XX.

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with governance,
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of
reliable financial statements in accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America]. An entity’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America], and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. If one or more material
weaknesses exist, an entity’s internal control over financial reporting cannot be considered effective. The
following material weakness has been identified and included in the accompanying [title of management’s
report].

[Identify the material weakness described in management’s report and include a description of the material weakness,
including its nature and its actual and potential effect on the presentation of the entity’s financial statements issued
during the existence of the material weakness.]

Because of the limitation on the scope of our audit described in the second paragraph, the scope of our work
was not sufficient to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion on the effectiveness W Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the [identify financial statements] of W Company and our report dated [date of report] expressed [include nature
of opinion]. We considered the material weakness identified above in determining the nature, timing, and
extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 20XX financial statements, and this report does not affect such
report on the financial statements.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraphs .118-.119 and example 4 in paragraph .169 of AT section 501]

8 See footnote 1.
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.07 Unqualified Opinion on Internal Control When the Auditor Decides to Make Reference to the
Report of Another Practitioner as the Basis, in Part, for the Auditor’s Opinion on the Entity’s Internal
Control

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have examined W Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based
on [identify criteria].” W Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assertion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying [title of management’s report]. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on W
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our examination. We did not examine the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of B Company, a wholly owned subsidiary, whose
financial statements reflect total assets and revenues constituting 20 percent and 30 percent, respectively, of
the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 20XX. The
effectiveness of B Company’s internal control over financial reporting was examined by other auditors whose
report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the effectiveness of B Company’s
internal control over financial reporting, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.

We conducted our examination in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our examination included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our examination also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
examination and the report of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with governance,
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of
reliable financial statements in accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America]. An entity’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America], and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, based on our examination and the report of the other auditors, W Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based on
[identify criteria).1”

We also have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the [identify financial statements] of W Company and our report dated [date of report, which should be
the same as the date of the report on the examination of internal control] expressed [include nature of opinion].

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Example 5 in paragraph .169 of AT section 501]

9 See footnote 1.

10 Whether the other auditor’s opinion is expressed on management’s assertion or on internal control does not affect the determination
of whether the principal auditor’s opinion is expressed on management’s assertion or on internal control.
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.08 Ungqualified Opinion About the Suitability of Design of the Entity’s Internal Control

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have examined the suitability of W Company’s design of internal control over financial reporting to
prevent or detect and correct material misstatements in its financial statements on a timely basis as of
December 31, 20XX, based on [identify criteria]. W Company’s management is responsible for the suitable
design of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the design
of internal control based on our examination.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, evaluating the design of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion. We were not engaged to examine and report on the operating effectiveness
of W Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on operating effectiveness.

Because of its inherent, internal control, over financial reporting may not prevent or detect and correct
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
the internal control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, W Company’s internal control over financial reporting was suitably designed, in all material
respects, to prevent or detect and correct material misstatements in the financial statements on a timely basis
as of December 31, 20XX, based on [identify criteria].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Interpretation No. 7, “Reporting on the Design of Internal Control,” of AT section 101, Attest
Engagements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AT sec. 9101 par. .59-.69)]

Note: This report assumes that the control criteria of the regulatory agency are both suitable and available to
users as discussed in paragraphs .23—.34 of AT section 101. Therefore, there is no restriction on the use of this
report.
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.09 Auditor’s Combined Report When Expressing an Unqualified Opinion on an Entity’s Internal
Control and on the Financial Statements as of a Specified Date'!

Independent Auditor’s Report

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of W Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended. We also have audited W
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based on [identify criteria].'* W.
Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assertion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying [title of management’s report]. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on W Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America and our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with
attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of the financial statements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an under-
standing of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with governance,
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of
reliable financial statements in accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America]. An entity’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, such as accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America], and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of W Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also in our opinion, W Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based on [identify criteria].

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Example 6 in paragraph .169 of AT section 501]

1 Because the examination of internal control is integrated with the audit of the financial statements and an examination provides
the same level of assurance as an audit, the auditor may refer to the examination of internal control as an audit in his or her report or
other communications.

12 See footnote 1.
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.10 Communication of Significant Deficiencies and Material Weaknesses

In connection with our audit of W Company’s (the “Company”) financial statements as of December 31, 20XX
and for the year then ended, and our audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 20XX (“integrated audit”), the standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants require that we advise you of the following internal control matters identified during our
integrated audit.

Our responsibility is to plan and perform our integrated audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether caused by error or fraud, and whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects (that is, whether
material weaknesses exist as of the date specified in management’s assertion). The integrated audit is not
designed to detect deficiencies that, individually or in combination, are less severe than a material weakness.
However, we are responsible for communicating to management and those charged with governance
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified during the integrated audit. We are also respon-
sible for communicating to management deficiencies that are of a lesser magnitude than a significant
deficiency, unless previously communicated, and inform those charged with governance when such a
communication was made.

A deficiency in internal control over financial reporting exists when the design or operation of a control does
not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. [A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the Company’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.
We believe the following deficiencies constitute material weaknesses:]

[Describe the material weaknesses that were identified during the integrated audit. The auditor may separately identify
those material weaknesses that exist as of the date of management’s assertion by referring to the auditor’s report.]

[A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting that
is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We
consider the following deficiencies to be significant deficiencies:]

[Describe the significant deficiencies that were identified during the integrated audit.]

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, [identify the body or
individuals charged with governance], others within the organization, and [identify any specified governmental
authorities] and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .170 of AT section 501]
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.11 Communication of Internal Control Matters Noted in an Audit
Addressee:

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of ABC Company (the “Company”) as of
and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, we considered the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (internal
control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or
material weaknesses and therefore, there can be no assurance that all deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or
material weaknesses have been identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses [and other deficiencies that we consider to be significant
deficiencies].

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. [We consider the following
deficiencies in the Company’s internal control to be material weaknesses:]

[Describe the material weaknesses that were identified.]

[A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.We consider the following
deficiencies in the Company’s internal control to be significant deficiencies:]

[Describe the significant deficiencies that were identified.]

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, [identify the body or
individuals charged with governance], others within the organization, and [identify any specified governmental
authorities] and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]

The auditor should not issue a written communication stating that no significant deficiencies were
identified during the audit.

[Source: Paragraphs .25 and .28 of AU section 325, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in
an Audit (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)** ]

13 See section 8300, “Communicating Internal Control Related Matters in an Audit—Understanding SAS No. 115,” for further
guidance.
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.12 Communication of Internal Control Related Matters Noted in an Audit When the Auditor Has Not
Identified Any Material Weaknesses and Wishes to Communicate That to Management and Those
Charged With Governance

Addressee:

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of ABC Company (the “Company”) as of
and for the year ended December 31, 20XX, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, we considered the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (internal
control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies,
or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, [identify the body or
individuals charged with governance], others within the organization, and [identify any specified governmental
authorities] and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]

The auditor should not issue a written communication stating that no significant deficiencies were
identified during the audit.

[Source: Paragraphs .25-.28 of AU section 325" |

Note: If one or more significant deficiencies have been identified, the auditor may add the following sentence
to the third paragraph of the communication:

However, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be significant defi-
ciencies, and communicated them in writing to management and those charged with governance on
[date]. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is
less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance.

14 See footnote 13.
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.13 Communication of Significant Deficiencies and Material Weaknesses Prior to the Completion of the
Compliance Audit for Participants in Office of Management and Budget Single Audit Pilot Project

Addressee:

This communication is provided pursuant to the parameters of the 2009 Office of Management and Budget
(OMB) pilot project. Such project requires auditors of entities that volunteer for the project to issue, in writing,
an early communication of significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compli-
ance for certain federal programs having expenditures of American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009
(ARRA) funding at an interim date, prior to the completion of the compliance audit. Accordingly, this
communication is based on our audit procedures performed through [insert “as of date”], an interim period.
Because we have not completed our compliance audit, additional significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses may be identified and communicated in our final report on compliance and internal control over
compliance issued to meet the reporting requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.

In planning and performing our audit through [insert “as of date”] of [identify the federal programs selected to be
tested as a major program from the federal list of approved ARRA pilot project programs], we are considering [Example
Entity’s] compliance with [list the applicable types of compliance requirements subject to the communication
requirement in the pilot project (for example, activities allowed or unallowed, allowable costs and cost principles, cash
management, eligibility, reporting, and special tests and provisions)] as described in the OMB Circular A-133
Compliance Supplement for the year ended June 30, 2009. We are also considering [Example Entity’s] internal
control over compliance with the requirements previously described that could have a direct and material
effect on [identify the federal programs selected to be tested as a major program from the federal list of approved ARRA
pilot project programs] in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion
on compliance and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular
A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the [Example Entity’s] internal
control over compliance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance is for the limited purpose described in the preceding
paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in the entity’s internal control that might be
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses as defined in the following paragraph. However, as discussed
subsequently, based on the audit procedures performed through [insert “as of date”], we identified certain
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be significant deficiencies and other
deficiencies that we consider to be material weaknesses.

Adeficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement'” of a federal program
on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiencies in internal control over compliance
to be material weaknesses:

[Describe the material weaknesses that were identified either here or by reference to a separate schedule.]'®

15 Under Section 510(a)(1) of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, the auditor’s
determination of whether a deficiency in internal control over compliance is a material weakness or significant deficiency for the purpose
of reporting an audit finding is in relation to a type of compliance requirement for a major program or an audit objective identified in
the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement (the Compliance Supplement). This reference to “type of compliance requirement” refers to
the 14 types of compliance requirements (identified as A-N) described in part 3 of the Compliance Supplement. For purposes of reporting
audit findings, auditors are alerted that certain of the types of compliance requirements may include multiple compliance requirements
with multiple audit objectives (for example, compliance requirement “G” covers 3 separate requirements—matching, level of effort, and
earmarking; and “N” covers separate requirements specific to each individual special test and provision).

16 The OMB pilot project requires the auditee, upon receipt of the interim communication from the auditor, to provide it to the federal
cognizant agency for audit. Federal agencies are required to follow-up with the auditee concerning actions taken or needed to correct
the finding. Therefore, to assist the federal agencies with this responsibility, significant deficiency and material weakness finding
descriptions should include the level of detail required by both Government Auditing Standards and Section 510(b) of OMB Circular A-133.
This would require the inclusion of, among other things, the views of responsible officials (see footnote 10).
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A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance. We consider the following deficiencies in internal control over compliance to be
significant deficiencies:

[Describe the significant deficiencies that were identified either here or by reference to a separate schedule.]"
[Example Entity’s] responses to our findings are described [insert either “in the preceding paragraph” or “in the
accompanying schedule”]. We did not audit [Example Entity’s] responses and, accordingly, we express no opinion
on the responses.

This interim communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, [identify the body
or individuals charged with governance], others within the entity, [identify the legislative or regulatory body], federal
awarding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone
other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]

The auditor should not issue a written communication stating that no significant deficiencies were
identified during the audit.”®

[Source: Paragraph .25 of AU section 325 and paragraph .06 of Interpretation No. 2, “Communication of
Significant Deficiencies and Material Weaknesses Prior to the Completion of the Compliance Audit for
Participants in Office of Management and Budget Single Audit Pilot Project,” of AU section 325 (AICPA,
Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9325 par. .04-.06)]

17 See footnote 16.

18 The OMB pilot project requires the auditor to obtain management responses to the internal control matters identified and to include
them in the interim communication.

© According to paragraph .13 of Interpretation No. 4, “Appropriateness of Identifying No Significant Deficiencies or No Material
Weaknesses in an Interim Communication,” of AU section 325, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit (AICPA,
Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9325 par. .11-.13), although AU section 325 would permit the auditor to issue a communication at
the end of an audit stating that no material weaknesses were identified by the auditor, it would not be appropriate for an auditor to do
so at an interim date. Making such a communication at an interim date could lead to misinterpretation by management and those charged
with governance, that there are no identified material weaknesses when, in fact, material weaknesses could be identified before
completion of the compliance audit.
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.14 Communication of Significant Deficiencies and Material Weaknesses Prior to the Completion of the
Compliance Audit for Auditors That Are Not Participants in Office of Management and Budget Pilot
Project

Addressee:

This communication is provided pursuant to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133
Compliance Supplement, which encourages auditors to communicate, at an interim date, control deficiencies
related to federal programs with expenditures of American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA)
funding that are, or likely to be, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is based on our audit procedures performed through [insert “as
of date”], an interim period. Because we have not completed our compliance audit, additional significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses may be identified and communicated in our final report on compliance
and internal control over compliance issued to meet the reporting requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits
of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.

In planning and performing our audit through [insert “as of date”] of [identify the federal programs with ARRA
expenditures selected by the auditor to be tested as a major program], we are considering [Example Entity’s]
compliance with the applicable types of compliance requirements as described in the OMB Circular A-133
Compliance Supplement for the year ended June 30, 20XX. We are also considering [Example Entity’s] internal
control over compliance with the requirements previously described that could have a direct and material
effect on [identify the federal programs with ARRA expenditures selected by the auditor to be tested as a major
program] in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on
compliance and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the [Example Entity’s] internal control over
compliance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance is for the limited purpose described in the preceding
paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in the entity’s internal control that might be
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses as defined in the following paragraph. However, as discussed
subsequently, based on the audit procedures performed through [insert “as of date”], we identified certain
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be significant deficiencies and other
deficiencies that we consider to be material weaknesses.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement® of a federal program
on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiencies in internal control over compliance
to be material weaknesses:

[Describe the material weaknesses that were identified either here or by reference to a separate schedule.]

A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance. We consider the following deficiencies in internal control over compliance to be
significant deficiencies:

[Describe the significant deficiencies that were identified either here or by reference to a separate schedule.]

This interim communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, [identify the body
or individuals charged with governance], others within the entity, [identify the legislative or regulatory body], federal

20 See footnote 15.
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awarding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone
other than these specified parties.

[Signature]

[Date]

The auditor should not issue a written communication stating that no significant deficiencies were
identified during the audit.”!

[Source: Paragraph .25 of AU section 325 and paragraph .10 of Interpretation No. 3, “Communication of
Significant Deficiencies and Material Weaknesses Prior to the Completion of the Compliance Audit for
Auditors That Are Not Participants in Office of Management and Budget Pilot Project,” of AU section 325
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9325 par. .07-.10)]

2l See footnote 19.
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.15 Report on Controls Placed in Operation at a Service Organization
To XYZ Service Organization:

We have examined the accompanying description of controls related to the  application of XYZ Service
Organization. Our examination included procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether (1) the
accompanying description presents fairly, in all material respects, the aspects of XYZ Service Organization’s
controls that may be relevant to a user organization’s internal control as it relates to an audit of financial
statements, (2) the controls included in the description were suitably designed to achieve the control objectives
specified in the description, if those controls were complied with satisfactorily,?? and (3) such controls had
been placed in operation as of . The control objectives were specified by . Our examination was performed
in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
included those procedures we considered necessary in the circumstances to obtain a reasonable basis for
rendering our opinion.

We did not perform procedures to determine the operating effectiveness of controls for any period. Accord-
ingly, we express no opinion on the operating effectiveness of any aspects of XYZ Service Organization’s
controls, individually or in the aggregate.

In our opinion, the accompanying description of the aforementioned application presents fairly, in all material
respects, the relevant aspects of XYZ Service Organization’s controls that had been placed in operation as of
. Also, in our opinion, the controls, as described, are suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance
that the specified control objectives would be achieved if the described controls were complied with
satisfactorily.

The description of controls at XYZ Service Organization is as of _and any projection of such information
to the future is subject to the risk that, because of change, the description may no longer portray the controls
in existence. The potential effectiveness of specific controls at the Service Organization is subject to inherent
limitations and, accordingly, errors or fraud may occur and not be detected. Furthermore, the projection of
any conclusions, based on our findings, to future periods is subject to the risk that changes may alter the
validity of such conclusions.

This report is intended solely for use by the management of XYZ Service Organization, its customers, and the
independent auditors of its customers .

[Source: Paragraph .38 of AU section 324, Service Organizations (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

Notes: This report should have an attachment containing a description of the service organization’s controls
that may be relevant to a user organization’s internal control.

This report is illustrative only and should be modified as appropriate to suit the circumstances of individual
engagements.

Paragraph .39 of AU section 324 provides, an example explanatory paragraph and modification to the opinion
paragraph when the service auditor concludes that the description is inaccurate or insufficiently complete for
user auditors.

Paragraph .40 of AU section 324 provides, an example explanatory paragraph and modification to the opinion
paragraph when the service auditor concludes that there are significant deficiencies in the design or operation
of the service organization’s controls.

22 If the application of controls by user organizations is necessary to achieve the stated control objectives, the service auditor’s report
should be modified to include the phrase “and user organizations applied the controls contemplated in the design of XYZ Service
Organization’s controls” following the words “complied with satisfactorily” in the scope and opinion paragraphs.
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.16 Report on Controls Placed in Operation at a Service Organization and Tests of Operating Effec-
tiveness

To XYZ Service Organization:

We have examined the accompanying description of controls related to the  application of XYZ Service
Organization. Our examination included procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether (1) the
accompanying description presents fairly, in all material respects, the aspects of XYZ Service Organization’s
controls that may be relevant to a user organization’s internal control as it relates to an audit of financial
statements, (2) the controls included in the description were suitably designed to achieve the control objectives
specified in the description, if those controls were complied with satisfactorily,?® and (3) such controls had
been placed in operation as of . The control objectives were specified by . Our examination was performed
in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
included those procedures we considered necessary in the circumstances to obtain a reasonable basis for
rendering our opinion.

In our opinion, the accompanying description of the aforementioned application presents fairly, in all material
respects, the relevant aspects of XYZ Service Organization’s controls that had been placed in operation as of

. Also, in our opinion, the controls, as described, are suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance
that the specified control objectives would be achieved if the described controls were complied with
satisfactorily.

In addition to the procedures we considered necessary to render our opinion as expressed in the previous
paragraph, we applied tests to specific controls, listed in Schedule X, to obtain evidence about their
effectiveness in meeting the control objectives, described in Schedule X, during the period from to . The
specific controls and the nature, timing, extent, and results of the tests are listed in Schedule X. This
information has been provided to user organizations of XYZ Service Organization and to their auditors to be
taken into consideration, along with information about the internal control at user organizations, when
making assessments of control risk for user organizations. In our opinion the controls that were tested, as
described in Schedule X, were operating with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the control objectives specified in Schedule X were achieved during the period from to .
[However, the scope of our engagement did not include tests to determine whether control objectives not listed in Schedule
X were achieved; accordingly, we express no opinion on the achievement of control objectives not included in Schedule
X.]24

The relative effectiveness and significance of specific controls at XYZ Service Organization and their effect on
assessments of control risk at user organizations are dependent on their interaction with the controls and other
factors present at individual user organizations. We have performed no procedures to evaluate the effective-
ness of controls at individual user organizations.

The description of controls at XYZ Service Organization is as of , and information about tests of the
operating effectiveness of specific controls covers the period from to . Any projection of such information
to the future is subject to the risk that, because of change, the description may no longer portray the controls
in existence. The potential effectiveness of specific controls at the Service Organization is subject to inherent
limitations and, accordingly, errors or fraud may occur and not be detected. Furthermore, the projection of
any conclusions, based on our findings, to future periods is subject to the risk that changes may alter the
validity of such conclusions.

23 See footnote 22.

2 This sentence should be added when all of the control objectives listed in the description of controls placed in operation are not
covered by the tests of operating effectiveness. This sentence would be omitted when all of the control objectives listed in the description
of controls placed in operation are included in the tests of operating effectiveness.
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This report is intended solely for use by the management of XYZ Service Organization, its customers, and the
independent auditors of its customers.

[Source: Paragraph .54 of AU section 324]

Notes: This report should have two attachments: (2) a description of the service organization’s controls that
may be relevant to a user organization’s internal control as it relates to an audit of financial statements and
(b) a description of controls for which tests of operating effectiveness were performed, the control objectives
the controls were intended to achieve, the tests applied, and the results of these tests.

This report is illustrative only and should be modified as appropriate to suit the circumstances of individual
engagements.

Paragraph .55 of AU section 324 provides an example explanatory paragraph and modification to the opinion
paragraph when the service auditor concludes that the description is inaccurate or insufficiently complete for
user auditors.

Paragraph .56 of AU section 324 provides an example explanatory paragraph and modification to the opinion
paragraph when the service auditor concludes that there are sufficient deficiencies in the design or operation
of the service organization’s controls.
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.17 Reports on Internal Control Required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 17a-5

The following is an illustration of the independent auditor’s report on internal control required by Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) Rule 17a-5(g)(1).%

Board of Directors
Standard Stockbrokerage Co., Inc.:

In planning and performing our audit of the [consolidated] financial statements of Standard Stockbrokerage
Co., Inc. [and Subsidiaries] (the Company), as of and for the year ended December 31, 20X9, in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the [consolidated] financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

Also, as required by Rule 17a-5(g)(1) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), we have made a study
of the practices and procedures followed by the Company, including consideration of control activities for
safeguarding securities. This study included tests of compliance with such practices and procedures that we
considered relevant to the objectives stated in Rule 17a-5(g), in the following:

1. Making the periodic computations of aggregate indebtedness (or aggregate debits) and net capital
under Rule 17a-3(a)(11) and the reserve required by Rule 15¢3-3(e)

2. Making the quarterly securities examinations, counts, verifications, and comparisons, and the
recordation of differences required by Rule 17a-13

3. Complying with the requirements for prompt payment for securities under Section 8 of Federal
Reserve Regulation T of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

4. Obtaining and maintaining physical possession or control of all fully paid and excess margin
securities of customers as required by Rule 15¢3-3

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control and the
practices and procedures referred to in the preceding paragraph. In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and
judgments by management are required to assess the expected benefits and related costs of controls, and of
the practices and procedures referred to in the preceding paragraph, and to assess whether those practices and
procedures can be expected to achieve the SEC’s above-mentioned objectives. Two of the objectives of internal
control and the practices and procedures are to provide management with reasonable but not absolute
assurance that assets for which the Company has responsibility are safeguarded against loss from unauthor-
ized use or disposition, and that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization

% For audits conducted in accordance with Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) standards, PCAOB Auditing
Standard No. 1, References in Auditors’ Reports to the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (AICPA, PCAOB Standards
and Related Rules, Auditing Standards), replaces this sentence with the following sentence: “We conducted our audit in accordance with
the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).” On May 14, 2004, the SEC issued an interpretive
release to help with the implementation of PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1. See Release No. 33-8422 for more information. The release
specifies that effective May 14, 2004, references in SEC rules and staff guidance and in the federal securities laws to GAAS or to specific
standards under GAAS, as they relate to issuers, should be understood to mean the standards of the PCAOB, plus any applicable rules
of the SEC. The guidance in this release is applicable only to auditors’ engagements that are governed by PCAOB rules. The PCAOB,
for example, has not established particular auditing standards for nonissuer broker-dealers or investment advisers. This release is not
applicable to such engagements and related filings.

The staff of the PCAOB published a series of questions and answers on PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1. See the PCAOB website
at www.pcaobus.org for more information.

In June 2004, the Auditing Standards Board (ASB) issued Interpretation No. 18, “Reference to PCAOB Standards in an Audit Report
of a Nonissuer,” of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .89-.92),
which provides reporting guidance for audits of nonissuers. Interpretation No. 18 in AU section 9508 provides guidance on the
appropriate referencing of PCAOB auditing standards in audit reports when an auditor is engaged to perform the audit in accordance
with both GAAS and PCAOB auditing standards. The ASB also is revising AU section 508 (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1) in light
of the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board’s recently exposed International Standard on Auditing, The Independent
Auditor’s Report on a Complete Set of General Purpose Financial Statements, and PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1. See the AICPA website
atwww.aicpa.org/INTERESTAREAS/ ACCOUNTINGANDAUDITING/RESOURCES/AUDATTEST /Pages/ Auditand AttestServices.aspx
for more information.
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and recorded properly to permit the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. Rule 17a-5(g) lists additional objectives of the practices and procedures listed in the
preceding paragraph.

Because of inherent limitations in internal control and the practices and procedures referred to above, error
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of them to future periods is subject
to the risk that they may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the effectiveness of their
design and operation may deteriorate.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees,
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely
basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s financial statements will not be
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first and second paragraphs
and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. We
did not identify any deficiencies in internal control and control activities for safeguarding securities that we
consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.?

We understand that practices and procedures that accomplish the objectives referred to in the second
paragraph of this report are considered by the SEC to be adequate for its purposes in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and related regulations, and that practices and procedures that do not
accomplish such objectives in all material respects indicate a material inadequacy for such purposes. Based
on this understanding and on our study, we believe that the Company’s practices and procedures, as described
in the second paragraph of this report, were adequate at December 31, 20X9, to meet the SEC’s objectives.”

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management, the SEC,
[Designated self-requlatory organization], and other regulatory agencies that rely on Rule 17a-5(g) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in their regulation of registered brokers and dealers, and is not intended to
be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Accounting Firm
New York, New York
February 15, 20Y0

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Brokers and Dealers in Securities, updated as of August 1, 2009,
appendix C* ]

Note: Section 9650 illustrates the auditor’s reports on the financial statements of brokers and dealers in
securities.

% If significant deficiencies are identified, this paragraph may be modified by inserting, “However, we identified certain deficiencies
in internal control that we consider to be significant deficiencies, and communicated them in writing to management and those charged
with governance on [date].” Paragraph .25 of AU section 325 states that the auditor should not issue a written communication stating that
no significant deficiencies were identified because of the potential for misinterpretation of the limited degree of assurance provided by
such a communication.

If conditions believed to be material weaknesses are disclosed, the report should describe the weaknesses that have come to the
auditor’s attention and may state that these weaknesses do not affect the report on the financial statements. The last sentence of this
paragraph of the report should be modified as follows:

However, we identified the following deficiencies in [internal control or control activities for safeguarding securities] that we consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above. These conditions were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of the procedures performed in our
audit of the [consolidated] financial statements of Standard Stockbrokerage Co., Inc. [and Subsidiaries] as of and for the year ended December 31, 20X9,
and this report does not affect our report thereon dated February 15, 20Y0. [A description of the material weaknesses that have come to the auditor’s attention
and corrective action.]
¥ Whenever inadequacies are described, the last sentence of this paragraph should be modified as per footnote 26. The report should
also describe material inadequacies that the auditor becomes aware of that existed during the period but were corrected prior to the end
of the period, unless management already has reported them to the SEC.

28 See footnote 13.
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.18 Report on Internal Control Required by SEC Rule 17a-5 (g) (1) for a Broker-Dealer Claiming an
Exemption From SEC Rule 15¢3-3

The following is an illustration of an independent auditor’s report on internal control of a broker-dealer
claiming an exemption from Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Rule 15¢3-3.2°°

Board of Directors
Standard Stockbrokerage Co., Inc.:

In planning and performing our audit of the [consolidated] financial statements of Standard Stockbrokerage
Co., Inc. [and Subsidiaries] (the Company), as of and for the year ended December 31, 20X9 in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the [consolidated] financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

Also, as required by Rule 17a-5(g)(1) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), we have made a study
of the practices and procedures followed by the Company including consideration of control activities for
safeguarding securities. This study included tests of such practices and procedures that we considered
relevant to the objectives stated in Rule 17a-5(g) in making the periodic computations of aggregate indebt-
edness (or aggregate debits) and net capital under Rule 17a-3(a)(11) and for determining compliance with the
exemptive provisions of Rule 15¢3-3. Because the Company does not carry securities accounts for customers
or perform custodial functions relating to customer securities, we did not review the practices and procedures
followed by the Company in any of the following;:

1. Making quarterly securities examinations, counts, verifications, and comparisons and recordation of
differences required by Rule 17a-13

2. Complying with the requirements for prompt payment for securities under Section 8 of Federal
Reserve Regulation T of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control and the
practices and procedures referred to in the preceding paragraph. In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and
judgments by management are required to assess the expected benefits and related costs of controls and of
the practices and procedures referred to in the preceding paragraph and to assess whether those practices and
procedures can be expected to achieve the SEC’s above-mentioned objectives. Two of the objectives of internal
control and the practices and procedures are to provide management with reasonable but not absolute
assurance that assets for which the Company has responsibility are safeguarded against loss from unauthor-
ized use or disposition and that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and
recorded properly to permit the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. Rule 17a-5(g) lists additional objectives of the practices and procedures listed in the
preceding paragraph.

Because of inherent limitations in internal control and the practices and procedures referred to above, error
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of them to future periods is subject
to the risk that they may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the effectiveness of their
design and operation may deteriorate.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees,
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely
basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

? For audits conducted in accordance with PCAOB standards, see footnote 25.

%0 There are different types of exemptions under SEC Rule 15¢3-3-k(1),k(2)(i), and k(2)(ii). Other formats of this letter will be required
depending on the type of exemption filed.
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s financial statements will not be
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first and second paragraphs
and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. We
did not identify any deficiencies in internal control and control activities for safeguarding securities that we
consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.’!

We understand that practices and procedures that accomplish the objectives referred to in the second
paragraph of this report are considered by the SEC to be adequate for its purposes in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and related regulations, and that practices and procedures that do not
accomplish such objectives in all material respects indicate a material inadequacy for such purposes. Based
on this understanding and on our study, we believe that the Company’s practices and procedures, as described
in the second paragraph of this report, were adequate at December 31, 20X9, to meet the SEC’s objectives.*?

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management, the SEC,
[Designated self-regulatory organization], and other regulatory agencies that rely on Rule 17a-5(g) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in their regulation of registered brokers and dealers, and is not intended to
be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Accounting Firm
New York, New York
February 15, 20Y0

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Brokers and Dealers in Securities, updated as of August 1, 2009,
appendix D% |

Note: Section 9650 illustrates the auditor’s reports on the financial statements of brokers and dealers in
securities.

31 See footnote 26.
32 See footnote 27.
3 See footnote 28.
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.19 Letter to SEC When the Broker-Dealer Has Not Made the Required Notification

The following report is appropriate if the broker-dealer has not made the required notification of material
inadequacy or if the auditor does not agree with the statements therein. Modification of this letter may be
required based on the facts and circumstances of the particular situation.

Securities and Exchange Commission
Washington D.C., and [Appropriate regional office]
Designated Examining Authority

Dear Sirs:

Our most recent audit of the [consolidated] financial statements of Standard Stockbrokerage Co., Inc. [and
Subsidiaries] (the Company), was as of December 31, 20X8, and for the year then ended, which we reported
on under date of February 15, 20X9. We have not audited any financial statements of the Company as of any
date or for any period subsequent to December 31, 20X8. Although we are presently performing certain
procedures as part of our audit of the [consolidated] financial statements of the Company as of December 31,
20X9, and for the year then ending, these procedures do not constitute all the procedures necessary in an audit
conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America or all
the procedures necessary to (1) consider the Company’s internal control as required by generally accepted
auditing standards or (2) study the Company’s practices and procedures relevant to the objectives stated in
Rule 17a-5(g) of the Securities and Exchange Commission as required by Rule 17a-5.

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control. In fulfilling
this responsibility, estimates and judgments by management are required to assess the expected benefits and
related costs of controls. The objectives of internal control are to provide management with reasonable but not
absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition and that
transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and are recorded properly to
permit the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of inherent limitations in internal control, error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also,
projection of any evaluation of internal control to future periods is subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the effectiveness of the design and operation of controls
may deteriorate.

The purpose of performing certain procedures prior to the date of the financial statements is to facilitate the
expression of an opinion on the Company’s financial statements. It must be understood that the procedures
performed would not necessarily identify all material weaknesses in internal control and control activities for
safeguarding securities.

However, pursuant to the requirements of Rule 17a-5(h)(2), we are to call to the attention of the chief financial
officer any weaknesses that we believe to be material and that were disclosed during the course of interim
work. We have made such notification to the chief financial officer of Standard Stockbrokerage Co., Inc., and
we believe the following additional information is required pursuant to the requirements of the rule.

[List and describe all instances where the independent auditor did not agree with the notification of the broker or dealer
or where the required notification was not made.]

Accounting Firm
New York, New York
December 10, 20X9

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Brokers and Dealers in Securities, updated as of August 1, 2009,
appendix E]

Note: Section 9650 illustrates the auditor’s reports on the financial statements of brokers and dealers in
securities.
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.20 Report on Internal Control Required by CFTC Regulation 1.16 and SEC Rule 17a-5(g)(1)

The following is an illustration of the independent auditor’s report on internal control required by CFTC
Regulation 1.16 and SEC Rule 17a-5(g)(1).*

Board of Directors
Standard Stockbrokerage Co., Inc.:

In planning and performing our audit of the [consolidated] financial statements of Standard Stockbrokerage
Co., Inc. [and Subsidiaries] (the Company) as of and for the year ended December 31, 20X9, in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the [consolidated] financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

Also, as required by Rule 17a-5(g)(1) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), we have made a study
of the practices and procedures followed by the Company, including consideration of control activities for
safeguarding securities. This study included tests of compliance with such practices and procedures that we
considered relevant to the objectives stated in Rule 17a-5(g), in the following:

1. Making the periodic computations of aggregate indebtedness (or aggregate debits) and net capital
under Rule 17a-3(a)(11) and the reserve required by Rule 15¢3-3(e)

2. Making the quarterly securities examinations, counts, verifications, and comparisons, and the
recordation of differences required by Rule 17a-13

3. Complying with the requirements for prompt payment for securities under Section 8 of Federal
Reserve Regulation T of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System

4. Obtaining and maintaining physical possession or control of all fully paid and excess margin
securities of customers as required by Rule 15¢3-3

In addition, as required by Regulation 1.16 of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC), we have
made a study of the practices and procedures followed by the Company including consideration of control
activities for safeguarding customer and firm assets. This study included tests of such practices and
procedures that we considered relevant to the objectives stated in Regulation 1.16, in making the following:

1. The periodic computations of minimum financial requirements pursuant to Regulation 1.17

2. The daily computations of the segregation requirements of Section 4d(a)(2) of the Commodity
Exchange Act and the regulations thereunder, and the segregation of funds based on such compu-
tations

3. The daily computations of the foreign futures and foreign options secured amount requirements
pursuant to Regulation 30.7 of the CFTC

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control and the
practices and procedures referred to in the preceding paragraphs. In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and
judgments by management are required to assess the expected benefits and related costs of controls and of
the practices and procedures referred to in the preceding paragraphs and to assess whether those practices
and procedures can be expected to achieve the SEC’s and the CFTC’s above-mentioned objectives. Two of the
objectives of internal control and the practices and procedures are to provide management with reasonable
but not absolute assurance that assets for which the Company has responsibility are safeguarded against loss
from unauthorized use or disposition, and that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s
authorization and recorded properly to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. Rule 17a-5(g) and Regulation 1.16(d)(2) list additional objectives of
the practices and procedures listed in the preceding paragraphs.

3 See footnote 25.
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Because of inherent limitations in internal control and the practices and procedures referred to above, error
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of them to future periods is subject
to the risk that they may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the effectiveness of their
design and operation may deteriorate.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees,
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely
basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s financial statements will not be
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first, second and third
paragraphs and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control and control activities for safeguarding
securities and certain regulated commodity customer and firm assets that we consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above.®

We understand that practices and procedures that accomplish the objectives referred to in the second and third
paragraphs of this report are considered by the SEC and CFTC to be adequate for their purposes in accordance
with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Commodity Exchange Act, and related regulations, and that
practices and procedures that do not accomplish such objectives in all material respects indicate a material
inadequacy for such purposes. Based on this understanding and on our study, we believe that the Company’s
practices and procedures, as described in the second and third paragraphs of this report, were adequate at
December 31, 20X9, to meet the SEC’s and CFTC’s objectives.36

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management, the SEC,
the CFTC, [Designated Self-Regulatory Organization] and other regulatory agencies that rely on Rule 17a-5(g)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or Regulation 1.16 of the CFTC or both in their regulation of
registered broker-dealers and futures commission merchants, and is not intended to be and should not be used
by anyone other than these specified parties.

Accounting Firm
New York, New York
February 15, 20Y0

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Brokers and Dealers in Securities, updated as of August 1, 2009,
appendix F¥ ]

[The next page is 9521.]

% See footnote 26.
% See footnote 27.
%7 See footnote 28.
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AAM Section 9260
Special Reports

.01 Cash Basis Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of assets and liabilities arising from cash transactions of XYZ
Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of revenue collected and expenses
paid for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As described in Note X, these financial statements were prepared on the basis of cash receipts and disburse-
ments, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the assets and
liabilities arising from cash transactions of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and its revenue
collected and expenses paid during the years then ended, on the basis of accounting described in Note X.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 623, Special Reports (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]
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.02 Income Tax Basis Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of assets, liabilities, and capital—income tax basis of ABC
Partnership as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of revenue and expenses—income
tax basis and of changes in partners’ capital accounts—income tax basis for the years then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As described in Note X, these financial statements were prepared on the basis of accounting the Partnership
uses for income tax purposes, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted
accounting principles.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the assets,
liabilities, and capital of ABC Partnership as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and its revenue and expenses
and changes in partners’ capital accounts for the years then ended, on the basis of accounting described in
Note X.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 623]
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.03 Regulatory (Statutory) Basis Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of admitted assets, liabilities, and surplus—statutory basis of
XYZ Insurance Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of income and cash
flows—statutory basis and changes in surplus—statutory basis for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As described in Note X, these financial statements were prepared in conformity with the accounting practices
prescribed or permitted by the Insurance Department of [State], which is a comprehensive basis of accounting
other than generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the admitted
assets, liabilities, and surplus of XYZ Insurance Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, on the basis of accounting described in Note X.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the board of directors and management of XYZ
Insurance Company and [name of regulatory agency] and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone
other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .08 of AU section 623]
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.04 Report Relating to Amount of Sales for the Purpose of Computing Rental
(Report on one or more specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying schedule of gross sales (as defined in the lease agreement dated March
4, 20XX, between ABC Company, as lessor, and XYZ Stores Corporation, as lessee) of XYZ Stores Corporation
at its Main Street store, [City], [State], for the year ended December 31, 20X2. This schedule is the responsibility
of XYZ Stores Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this schedule based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the schedule of gross sales is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the schedule of gross sales. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall schedule presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the schedule of gross sales referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, the gross
sales of XYZ Stores Corporation at its Main Street store, [City], [State], for the year ended December 31, 20X2,
as defined in the lease agreement referred to in the first paragraph.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the boards of directors and managements of XYZ
Stores Corporation and ABC Company and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than
these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .18 of AU section 623]
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.05 Royalties
(Report on one or more specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying schedule of royalties applicable to engine production of the Q Division
of XYZ Corporation for the year ended December 31, 20X2, under the terms of a license agreement dated May
14, 20XX, between ABC Company and XYZ Corporation. This schedule is the responsibility of XYZ Corpo-
ration’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the schedule of royalties is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the schedule of royalties. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall schedule presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We have been informed that, under XYZ Corporation’s interpretation of the agreement referred to in the first
paragraph, royalties were based on the number of engines produced after giving effect to a reduction for
production retirements that were scrapped, but without a reduction for field returns that were scrapped, even
though the field returns were replaced with new engines without charge to customers.

In our opinion, the schedule of royalties referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, the number
of engines produced by the Q Division of XYZ Corporation during the year ended December 31, 20X2, and
the amount of royalties applicable thereto, under the license agreement referred to above.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the boards of directors and managements of XYZ
Corporation and ABC Company and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .18 of AU section 623]

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9260.05



9526 Accountants” Reports 85 6-10

.06 Profit Participation'
(Report on one or more specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the financial statements of XYZ Company for the year ended December 31, 20X1, and have issued our report
thereon dated March 10, 20X2. We have also audited XYZ Company’s schedule of John Smith’s profit
participation for the year ended December 31, 20X1. This schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the schedule in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the schedule of profit participation is free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the schedule. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall schedule presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

We have been informed that the documents that govern the determination of John Smith’s profit participation
are (a) the employment agreement between John Smith and XYZ Company dated February 1, 20X0, (b) the
production and distribution agreement between XYZ Company and Television Network Incorporated dated
March 1, 20X0, and (c) the studio facilities agreement between XYZ Company and QRX Studios dated April
1, 20X0, as amended November 1, 20X0.

In our opinion, the schedule of profit participation referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects,
John Smith’s participation in the profits of XYZ Company for the year ended December 31, 20X1, in accordance
with the provisions of the agreements referred to above.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the boards of directors and managements of XYZ
Company and John Smith and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .18 of AU section 623]

1 If a specified element, account, or item is, or is based upon, an entity’s net income or stockholders’ equity or the equivalent thereof,
the auditor should have audited the complete financial statements to express an opinion on the specified element, account, or item.
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.07 Report on Federal and State Income Taxes Included in Financial Statements>
(Report on one or more specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the financial statements of XYZ Company, Inc., for the year ended June 30, 20XX, and have issued our report
thereon dated August 15, 20XX. We have also audited the current and deferred provision for the Company’s
federal and state income taxes for the year ended June 30, 20XX, included in those financial statements, and
the related asset and liability tax accounts as of June 30, 20XX. This income tax information is the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on it based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the income tax information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the federal and state income tax accounts are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures related
to the federal and state income tax accounts. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the federal
and state income tax accounts. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Company has paid or, in all material respects, made adequate provision in the financial
statements referred to above for the payment of all federal and state income taxes and for related deferred
income taxes that could be reasonably estimated at the time of our audit of the financial statements of XYZ
Company, Inc., for the year ended June 30, 20XX.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .18 of AU section 623]

2 See footnote 1.
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.08 Report in Connection With a Proposed Acquisition

Independent Accountant’s Report
on Applying Agreed-Upon Procedures

To the Board of Directors and Management of X Company:

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by the Board of Directors and
Management of X Company, solely to assist you in connection with the proposed acquisition of Y Company
as of December 31, 20XX. Y Company is responsible for its cash and accounts receivable records. This
agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the
responsibility of the parties specified in this report. Consequently, we make no representation regarding the
sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the purpose for which this report has been requested
or for any other purpose.

The procedures and the associated findings are as follows:

Cash

1. We obtained confirmation of the cash on deposit from the following banks, and we agreed the
confirmed balance to the amount shown on the bank reconciliations maintained by Y Company. We
mathematically checked the bank reconciliations and compared the resultant cash balances per book
to the respective general ledger account balances.

General Ledger
Account Balances as of

Bank December 31, 20XX
ABC National Bank $ 5,000
DEF State Bank 3,776
XYZ Trust Company regular account 86,912
XYZ Trust Company payroll account 5,000
$110,688

We found no exceptions as a result of the procedures.
Accounts Receivable

2. We added the individual customer account balances shown in an aged trial balance of accounts
receivable (identified as Exhibit A) and compared the resultant total with the balance in the general
ledger account.

We found no difference.

3. We compared the individual customer account balances shown in the aged trial balance of accounts
receivable (Exhibit A) as of December 31, 19XX, to the balances shown in the accounts receivable
subsidiary ledger.

We found no exceptions as a result of the comparisons.

4. We traced the aging (according to invoice dates) for 50 customer account balances shown in Exhibit
A to the details of outstanding invoices in the accounts receivable subsidiary ledger. The balances
selected for tracing were determined by starting at the eighth item and selecting every fifteenth item
thereafter.

We found no exceptions in the aging of the amounts of the 50 customer account balances selected. The sample
size traced was 9.8 percent of the aggregate amount of the customer account balances.
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5. We mailed confirmations directly to the customers representing the 150 largest customer account
balances selected from the accounts receivable trial balance, and we received responses as indicated
below. We also traced the items constituting the outstanding customer account balance to invoices
and supporting shipping documents for customers from which there was no reply. As agreed, any
individual differences in a customer account balance of less than $300 were to be considered minor,
and no further procedures were performed.

Of the 150 customer balances confirmed, we received responses from 140 customers; 10 customers did
not reply. No exceptions were identified in 120 of the confirmations received. The differences disclosed
in the remaining 20 confirmation replies were either minor in amount (as defined above) or were
reconciled to the customer account balance without proposed adjustment thereto. A summary of the
confirmation results according to the respective aging categories is as follows.

Accounts Receivable
December 31, 20XX

Customer
Account Confirmations Confirmations
Aging Categories Balances Requested Received
Current $156,000 $ 76,000 $ 65,000
Past due:
Less than one month 60,000 30,000 19,000
One to three months 36,000 18,000 10,000
Over three months 48,000 48,000 8,000
$300,000 $172,000 $102,000

We were not engaged to and did not conduct an audit, the objective of which would be the expression of an
opinion on cash and accounts receivable. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. Had we performed
additional procedures, other matters might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the board of directors and management of X
Company and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .48 of AT section 201, Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1)]
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.09 Report in Connection With Claims of Creditors

Independent Accountant’s Report on Applying Agreed-Upon Procedures

To the Trustee of XYZ Company:

We have performed the procedures described below, which were agreed to by the Trustee of XYZ Company,
with respect to the claims of creditors solely to assist you in determining the validity of claims of XYZ
Company as of May 31, 20XX, as set forth in the accompanying Schedule A. XYZ Company is responsible for
maintaining records of claims submitted by creditors of XYZ Company. This agreed-upon procedures
engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the responsibility of the party
specified in this report. Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures
described below either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or for any other purpose.

The procedures and associated findings are as follows:

1. Compare the total of the trial balance of accounts payable at May 31, 20XX, prepared by XYZ
Company, to the balance in the related general ledger account.

The total of the accounts payable trial balance agreed with the balance in the related general ledger account.

2. Compare the amounts for claims received from creditors (as shown in claim documents provided by
XYZ Company) to the respective amounts shown in the trial balance of accounts payable. Using the
data included in the claims documents and in XYZ Company’s accounts payable detail records,
reconcile any differences found to the accounts payable trial balance.

All differences noted are presented in column 3 of Schedule A. Except for those amounts shown in column
4 of Schedule A, all such differences were reconciled.

3. Obtain the documentation submitted by creditors in support of the amounts claimed and compare
it to the following documentation in XYZ Company’s files: invoices, receiving reports, and other
evidence of receipt of goods or services.

No exceptions were found as a result of these comparisons.

We were not engaged to and did not conduct an audit, the objective of which would be the expression of an
opinion on the claims of creditors set forth in the accompanying Schedule A. Accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to our attention
that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Trustee of XYZ Company and is not intended
to be and should not be used by anyone other than this specified party.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .48 of AT section 201]
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.10 Reporting on the Subject Matter
Independent Accountant’s Report’
Addressee:

We have examined the accompanying XBRL Instance Document of XYZ Company, which reflects the data
presented in the financial statements of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20XX, and for the year then ended
[optional to include the location of the financial statements, such as “included in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20XX”]. XYZ Company’s management is responsible for the XBRL Instance Document. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion based on our examination.

We have also audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the financial statements of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20XX, and for the year then ended,
and in our report dated [Month] XX, 20XX, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.* °

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the XBRL Instance Document and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the XBRL Instance Document of XYZ Company referred to above accurately reflects, in all
material respects, the data presented in the financial statements in conformity with [identify the criteria—for
example, specific XBRL taxonomy, such as the “XBRL U.S. Consumer and Industrial Taxonomy,” and where applicable,
the company extension taxonomy, such as “XYZ Company’s extension taxonomy,” and the XBRL International
Technical Specifications 2.0].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Example 1 in paragraph .55 of Interpretation No. 5, “Attest Engagements on Financial Information Included
in XBRL Instance Documents,” of AT section 101, Attest Engagements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AT
sec. 9101 par. .47-.55).]

3 Financial information includes data presented in audited or reviewed financial statements or other financial information (for
example, Management Discussion and Analysis).

4 If the financial statements have been reviewed, the sentence would read: “We have also reviewed, in accordance with [standards
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants] [Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants], the financial statements of XYZ Company as of March 31, 20XX, and for the three months
then ended, the objective of which was the expression of limited assurance on such financial statements, and issued our report thereon
dated [Month] XX, 20XX, [describe any modifications of such report].”

If the financial information has not been audited or reviewed, no reference to a report is required. The sentence would read: “We
were not engaged to and did not conduct an audit or review of the [identify information], the objectives of which would have been the
expression of an opinion or limited assurance on such [identify information]. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other
assurance on [it] [them].”

% If the audit opinion on the related financial statements is other than unqualified, the practitioner should disclose that fact, and any
substantive reasons therefore.
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.11 Reporting on Management’s Assertions

Independent Accountant’s Report on Attest Engagements on Financial Information®
Included in XBRL Instance Documents

Addressee:

We have examined management’s assertion that [identify the assertion—for example, the accompanying XBRL
Instance Document accurately reflects the data presented in the financial statements of XYZ Company as of December
31, 20XX, and for the year then ended in conformity with (identify the criteria—for example, specific XBRL taxonomy,
such as the “XBRL U.S. Consumer and Industrial Taxonomy,” and where applicable, the company extension taxonomy,
such as “"XYZ Company’s extension taxonomy,” and the XBRL International Technical Specifications 2.0)]. XYZ
Company’s management is responsible for the assertion. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
assertion based on our examination.

We have also audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the financial statements of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20XX, and for the year then ended,
and in our report dated [Month] XX, 20XX, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the XBRL Instance Document and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, management’s assertion referred to above is fairly stated, in all material respects, in conformity
with [identify the criterin—for example, specific XBRL taxonomy, such as the “XBRL U.S. Consumer and Industrial
Taxonomy,” and where applicable, the company extension taxonomy, such as “XYZ Company’s extension taxonomy,”
and the XBRL International Technical Specifications 2.0].

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Example 2 in paragraph .55 of Interpretation No. 5 of AT section 101.]

6 See footnote 3.
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.12 Report on Compliance With Contractual Provisions (Given in a Separate Report)

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the balance sheet of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related statement of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, and have issued our report thereon dated February 16, 20X3.

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the Company failed
to comply with the terms, covenants, provisions, or conditions of sections XX to XX, inclusive, of the Indenture
dated July 21, 20X0, with ABC Bank insofar as they relate to accounting matters. However, our audit was not
directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the boards of directors and management of XYZ
Company and ABC Bank and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .21 of AU section 623]

Note: When this report is included in the auditor’s standard report accompanying financial statements, the
last two paragraphs are examples of the paragraphs that should follow the opinion paragraph of the auditor’s
report on the financial statements.

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9260.12




9534 Accountants” Reports 85 6-10

.13 Report on Compliance With Regulatory Requirements Given in a Separate Report When the
Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements Included an Explanatory Paragraph Because of an Uncer-
tainty

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the balance sheet of XYZ Company as of December 31, 20X2, and the related statement of income, retained
earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, and have issued our report thereon dated March 5, 20X3,
which included an explanatory paragraph that described the litigation discussed in Note X of those
statements.

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the Company failed
to comply with the accounting provisions in sections (1), (2) and (3) of the [name of state requlatory agency].
However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the board of directors and managements of XYZ
Company and the [name of state regulatory agency] and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone
other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .21 of AU section 623]
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.14 Report on Financial Statements Prepared Pursuant to Loan Agreements That Results in a Presen-
tation Not in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles or an Other Comprehensive
Basis of Accounting

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the special-purpose statement of assets and liabilities of ABC Company as of December 31,
20X2 and 20X1, and the related special-purpose statements of revenues and expenses and of cash flows for
the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The accompanying special-purpose financial statements were prepared for the purpose of complying with
Section 4 of a loan agreement between DEF Bank and the Company as discussed in Note X, and are not
intended to be a presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

In our opinion, the special-purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the assets and liabilities of ABC Company at December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the revenues,
expenses and cash flows for the years then ended, on the basis of accounting described in Note X.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the boards of directors and management of ABC
Company and DEF Bank and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .30 of AU section 623]
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.15 Report on a Schedule of Gross Income and Certain Expenses to Meet Regulatory Requirements and
to be Included in a Document Distributed to the General Public

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying Historical Summaries of Gross Income and Direct Operating Expenses
of ABC Apartments, City, State (Historical Summaries), for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 20XX. These Historical Summaries are the responsibility of the Apartments’ management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Summaries based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Historical Summaries are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Historical Summaries. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the Historical Summaries. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

The accompanying Historical Summaries were prepared for the purpose of complying with the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (for inclusion in the registration statement on Form
S-11 of DEF Corporation) as described in Note X and are not intended to be a complete presentation of the
Apartments’ revenues and expenses.

In our opinion, the Historical Summaries referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the gross
income and direct operating expenses described in Note X of ABC Apartments for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 20XX, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .26 of AU section 623]
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.16 Report on a Statement of Assets Sold and Liabilities Transferred to Comply With a Contractual
Agreement

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statement of net assets sold of ABC Company as of June 8, 20XX. This
statement of net assets sold is the responsibility of ABC Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the statement of net assets sold based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the statement of net assets sold is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the statement. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the statement of net assets sold. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

The accompanying statement was prepared to present the net assets of ABC Company sold to XYZ
Corporation pursuant to the purchase agreement described in Note X, and is not intended to be a complete
presentation of ABC Company’s assets and liabilities.

In our opinion, the accompanying statement of net assets sold presents fairly, in all material respects, the net
assets of ABC Company as of June 8, 20XX sold pursuant to the purchase agreement referred to in Note X,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the boards of directors and managements of ABC
Company and XYZ Corporation and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .26 of AU section 623]

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9260.16



9538 Accountants” Reports 85 6-10

.17 Report on the Application of Accounting Principles
Introduction

We have been engaged to report on the appropriate application of accounting principles generally accepted
in [country of origin of such principles] to the specific transaction described below. This report is being issued
to ABC Company for assistance in evaluating accounting principles for the described specific transaction. Our
engagement has been conducted in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Description of Transaction

The facts, circumstances, and assumptions relevant to the specific transaction as provided to us by the
management of ABC Company are as follows:

Appropriate Accounting Principles
[Text discussing generally accepted accounting principles]
Concluding Comments

The ultimate responsibility for the decision on the appropriate application of accounting principles generally
accepted in [country of origin of such principles] for an actual transaction rests with the preparers of financial
statements, who should consult with their continuing accountant. Our judgment on the appropriate appli-
cation of accounting principles generally accepted in [country of origin of such principles] for the described
specific transaction is based solely on the facts provided to us as described above; should these facts and
circumstances differ, our conclusion may change.

Restricted Use

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the board of directors and management of ABC
Company and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

[Source: Paragraph .11 of AU section 625, Reports on the Application of Accounting Principles (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 1)]

Notes: This illustrative report is intended for a reporting accountant either in connection with a proposal to
obtain a new client or otherwise, should apply when preparing a written report on (1) The application of
accounting principles to specified transactions, either completed or proposed, involving facts and circum-
stances of a specific entity (“specific transactions”), or (2) The type of opinion that may be rendered on a
specific entity’s financial statements.

[Source: Paragraph .03 of AU section 625]

Because of the nature of a transaction not involving facts or circumstances of a specific entity (“hypothetical
transaction”), a reporting accountant cannot know, for example, whether the continuing accountant has
reached a different conclusion on the application of accounting principles for the same or similar transaction,
or how the specific entity has accounted for similar transactions in the past. Therefore an accountant should
not undertake an engagement to provide a written report on the application of accounting principles to a
hypothetical transaction.

[Source: Paragraph .04 of AU section 625]
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.18 Report on Financial Statements Presented in Conformity With a Prescribed Basis of Accounting
(Property and Liability Insurance Company)

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Directors
ABC Property and Liability Company

We have audited the accompanying statutory statements of admitted assets, liabilities, and surplus of ABC
Property and Liability Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statutory statements of
income and changes in surplus, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America.” Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As described more fully in Note X to the financial statements, the Company prepared these financial
statements using accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Insurance Department of the State of
[State of domicile], which practices differ from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. The effects on the financial statements of the variances between these statutory accounting practices
and accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, although not reasonably
determinable, are presumed to be material.

In our opinion, because of the effects of the matter discussed in the preceding paragraph, the financial
statements referred to above do not present fairly, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, the financial position of ABC Property and Liability Company as of December
31, 20X2 and 20X1, or the results of its operations or its cash flows® for the years then ended.

7 For audits conducted in accordance with PCAOB standards, PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1, References in Auditors’ Reports to the
Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and Related Rules, Auditing Standards), replaces this
sentence with the following sentence: “We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States).”

Interpretation No. 18, “Reference to PCAOB Standards in an Audit Report on a Nonissuer,” of AU section 508, Reports on Financial
Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .89-.92), provides reporting guidance for audits of nonissuers.
Interpretation No. 18 provides guidance on the appropriate referencing of PCAOB auditing standards in audit reports when an auditor
is engaged to perform the audit in accordance with both generally accepted auditing standards and PCAOB auditing standards. The
Auditing Standards Board also has undertaken a project to determine what amendments, if any, should be made to AU section 508. See
the AICPA website at www.aicpa.org/INTERESTAREAS/ACCOUNTINGANDAUDITING/RESOURCES/AUDATTEST/
AUDATTESTDUEPROC /Pages/ Auditand AttestServices-DueProcess.aspx for more information.

This optional wording may be added in accordance with Interpretation No. 17, “Clarification in the Audit Report of the Extent of
Testing Internal Control Over Financial Reporting With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards,” of AU section 508 (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .85-.88), which provides reporting guidance for audits of nonissuers. Interpretation No. 17 addresses
how auditors may expand their independent audit report to explain that their consideration of internal control was sufficient to provide
the auditor sufficient understanding to plan the audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of tests to be performed, but was not
sufficient to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. If this optional language is added, then the remainder of the
paragraph would read as follows:

An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
8 Reference to cash flows would not be needed if the entity, under generally accepted auditing principles, is not required to present
a statement of cash flows.
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In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the admitted
assets, liabilities, and surplus of ABC Property and Liability Company as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and

the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, on the basis of accounting described
in Note X.

[Firm Signature]

Certified Public Accountants
[City, State]

[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Property and Liability Insurance Companies, updated as of June 1,
2009, paragraph 8.32]
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.19 Report on Compliance With Contractual Provisions

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the balance sheet of ABC Bank (the “Bank”) as of [insert date—e.g. December 31, 20XY], and the related
statement of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, and have issued our report
thereon dated [insert date].

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the Bank failed to
comply with the computational provisions of Exhibit 4.15A Single Family Shared-Loss Agreement, Article II
section 2.1(b), [[and] Exhibit 4.15B, Commercial Shared-Loss Agreement, Article II section 2.1(a)]’ of the
Purchase and Assumption agreement between the Bank and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation dated
[insert date], insofar as they relate to accounting matters. However, our audit was not directed primarily
toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Bank and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Example A of Technical Question and Answer (TIS) section 9110.16, “Example Reports on Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation Loss Sharing Purchase and Assumption Transactions” (AICPA, Technical
Practice Aids)]

° Applicable depending on the nature of the agreement between the acquiring bank and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
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.20 Report on Compliance With Contractual Provisions: Assuming Amended Computations Are At-
tached

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the balance sheet of ABC Bank (the “Bank”) as of [insert date—e.g. December 31, 20XY], and the related
statement of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, and have issued our report
thereon dated [insert date].

In connection with our audit, after giving effect to the attached corrected computations, nothing came to our
attention that caused us to believe that the Bank failed to comply with the computational provisions of Exhibit
4.15A Single Family Shared-Loss Agreement, Article II section 2.1(b), [[and] Exhibit 4.15B, Commercial
Shared-Loss Agreement, Article II section 2.1(a)]'’ of the Purchase and Assumption agreement between the
Bank and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation dated [insert date], insofar as they relate to accounting
matters. However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Bank and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Example B of TIS section 9110.16]

10 See footnote 9.
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.21 Report on Compliance With Contractual Provisions: Noncompliance

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the balance sheet of ABC Bank (the “Bank”) as of [insert date—e.g. December 31, 20XY], and the related
statement of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, and have issued our report
thereon dated [insert date].

In connection with our audit except as stated in the following sentence, nothing came to our attention that
caused us to believe that the Bank failed to comply with the computational provisions of Exhibit 4.15A Single
Family Shared-Loss Agreement, Article II section 2.1(b), [[and] Exhibit 4.15B, Commercial Shared-Loss
Agreement, Article II section 2.1(a)]" of the Purchase and Assumption agreement between the Bank and the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation dated [insert date], insofar as they relate to accounting matters. The
Bank did not comply with [state computational provision not met]. However, our audit was not directed primarily
toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Bank and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Example C of TIS section 9110.16]

[The next page is 9571.]

11 See footnote 9.
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AAM Section 9270

Unaudited Financial Statements of a
Public Entity

.01 Disclaimer

(When an accountant is associated with the financial statements but has not audited or reviewed such
statements)

Addressee:

The accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 19X1, and the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended were not audited by us and, accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on them.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .05 of AU section 504, Association With Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1)]

Notes: The disclaimer may accompany the unaudited financial statements or it may be placed directly on
them. In addition, each page of the financial statements should be clearly and conspicuously marked as
unaudited.

If the unaudited financial statements are those of a nonissuer, this example is not appropriate. See sections
2610 and 2620.
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.02 Current Period Financial Statements Unaudited—Prior Period Financial Statements Audited
Addressee:

The accompanying balance sheet of X Company as of December 31, 19X1, and the related statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended were not audited by us and, accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on them.

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 19X1, were audited by us (other accountants) and
we (they) expressed an unqualified opinion on them in our (their) report dated March 1, 19X2, but we (they)
have not performed any auditing procedures since that date.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraphs .05 and .16 of AU section 504]

Notes: The disclaimer may accompany the unaudited financial statements or it may be placed directly on
them. In addition, each page of the financial statements should be clearly and conspicuously marked as
unaudited.

If the unaudited financial statements are those of a nonissuer, this example is not appropriate. See sections
2610 and 2620.
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.03 Disclaimer—Cash Basis Statements

(When an accountant is associated with unaudited financial statements of a public entity prepared in
accordance with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles)

Addressee:

The accompanying statement of assets and liabilities resulting from cash transactions of XYZ Corporation as
of December 31, 19X1, and the related statement of revenues collected and expenses paid during the year then
ended were not audited by us and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion on them.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .07 of AU section 504]

Notes: A note to the financial statements should describe how the basis of presentation differs from generally
accepted accounting principles, but the monetary effect of such differences need not be stated.

The disclaimer may accompany the unaudited financial statements or it may be placed directly on them. In
addition, each page of the financial statements should be clearly and conspicuously marked as unaudited.

If the unaudited financial statements are those of a nonissuer, this example is not appropriate. See sections
2610 and 2620.
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.04 Disclaimer—Regulatory (Statutory) Basis Statements

(When an accountant is associated with unaudited financial statements of a public entity prepared in
accordance with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles)

Addressee:

The accompanying statement of admitted assets, liabilities, and surplus—statutory basis of XYZ Insurance
Company as of December 31, 20XX, and the related statements of income—statutory basis, cash flows—
statutory basis, and changes in surplus—statutory basis for the year then ended were not audited by us and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion on them.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Derived from paragraph .07 of AU section 504]

Notes: A note to the financial statements should describe how the basis of presentation differs from generally
accepted accounting principles, but the monetary effect of such differences need not be stated.

The disclaimer may accompany the unaudited financial statements or it may be placed directly on them. In
addition, each page of the financial statements should be clearly and conspicuously marked as unaudited.

If the unaudited financial statements are those of a nonissuer, this example is not appropriate. See sections
2610 and 2620.

[The next page is 9621.]
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AAM Section 9280
Lack of Independence

.01 Disclaimer
Addressee:

We are not independent with respect to XYZ Company, and the accompanying balance sheet as of December
31, 19X1, and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended were
not audited by us and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion on them.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .10 of AU section 504, Association With Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 1)]

Notes: When an accountant is not independent, any procedures he or she might perform would not be in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and he or she would be precluded from expressing
an opinion on the financial statements. Accordingly, he or she should disclaim an opinion with respect to the
financial statements and state specifically that he or she is not independent. The accountant should not include
in his or her disclaimer the reasons for the lack of independence or any description of the procedures he or
she has performed; including such matters might confuse readers concerning the importance of the lack of
independence.

If the financial statements are those of a nonissuer, the accountant must consider the guidance in Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services. (See paragraph .04 of section 2610.)

[The next page is 9671.]
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AAM Section 9300

Review of Interim Financial Information

.01 Independent Accountant’s Report!

Independent Accountant’s Report

Addressee:

We have reviewed the accompanying [describe the interim financial information or statements reviewed] of ABC
Company and consolidated subsidiaries as of September 30, 20X1, and for the three-month and nine-month
periods then ended. This interim financial information is the responsibility of the company’s management.

We conducted our review in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical
procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substan-
tially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial information taken
as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying
interim financial information for it to be in conformity with [identify the applicable financial reporting framework;
for example, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America].

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .38 of AU section 722, Interim Financial Information (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

Note: AU section 722 establishes standards and provides guidance on the nature, timing, and extent of the
procedures to be performed by an independent accountant when conducting a review of interim financial
information, as that term is defined in paragraph .02 of AU section 722.

! If interim financial information of a prior period is presented with that of the current period and the accountant has conducted a
review of that information, the accountant should report on his or her review of the prior period. An example of the first sentence of such
a report follows: “We have reviewed ... of ABC Company and consolidated subsidiaries as of September 30, 20X1 and 20X2, and for the
three-month and nine-month periods then ended ....”
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.02 Independent Accountant’s Report—Reference Made to Another Accountant’s Review Report on the
Interim Financial Information of a Significant Component of a Reporting Entity?

Independent Accountant’s Report

Addressee:

We have reviewed the accompanying [describe the interim financial information or statements reviewed] of ABC
Company and consolidated subsidiaries as of September 30, 20X1, and for the three-month and nine-month
periods then ended. This interim financial information is the responsibility of the company’s management.

We were furnished with the report of other accountants on their review of the interim financial information
of DEF subsidiary, whose total assets as of September 30, 20X1, and whose revenues for the three-month and
nine-month periods then ended, constituted 15 percent, 20 percent, and 22 percent, respectively, of the related
consolidated totals.

We conducted our review in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical
procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substan-
tially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial information taken
as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review and the report of other accountants, we are not aware of any material modifications that
should be made to the accompanying interim financial information for it to be in conformity with [identify the
applicable financial reporting framework; for example, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
Americal.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .40 of AU section 722]

Note: AU section 722 establishes standards and provides guidance on the nature, timing, and extent of the
procedures to be performed by an independent accountant when conducting a review of interim financial
information, as that term is defined in paragraph .02 of AU section 722.

[The next page is 9701.]

2 See AU section 543, Part of Audit Performed by Other Independent Auditors (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1).
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AAM Section 9400

Accountants’ Reports on Condensed Financial
Statements and Selected Financial Data

.01 Unqualified Opinion on Condensed Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
the consolidated balance sheet of X Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20X0, and the related
consolidated statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended (not presented
herein); and in our report dated February 15, 20X1, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financial statements.

In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements
is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements from which it has
been derived.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: Paragraph .06 of AU section 552, Reporting on Condensed Financial Statements and Selected Financial Data
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]
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.02 Adverse Opinion on Condensed Financial Statements Due to Inadequate Disclosure

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of X Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20X0, and
the related earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein). These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 20X0, and the related condensed statements of
income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, presented on pages xx-xx, are presented
as a summary and therefore do not include all of the disclosures required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

In our opinion, because of the significance of the omission of the information referred to in the preceding
paragraph, the condensed consolidated financial statements referred to above do not present fairly, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the financial
position of X Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20X0, or the results of its operations or its cash
flows for the year then ended.

[Signature]
[Date]

Note: The above report is used when expressing an adverse opinion on condensed financial statements with
inadequate disclosures that are included in a client-prepared document and the client is a nonissuer.

[Source: Footnote 6 in paragraph .07 of AU section 552]

AAM §9400.02 Copyright © 2010, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.




85 6-10 Accountants’ Reports on Condensed Financial Statements and Selected Financial Data 9703

.03 Review Report on Condensed Financial Statements

Independent Accountant’s Report

Addressee:

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of ABC Company and subsidiaries as of March
31, 20X1, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the three-month
periods ended March 31, 20X1 and 20X0. This condensed financial information is the responsibility of the
company’s management.

We conducted our reviews in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical
procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substan-
tially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial information taken
as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed
financial information referred to above for them to be in conformity with [identify the applicable financial
reporting framework; for example, accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America].

We have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, the consolidated balance sheet of ABC Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20X0, and
the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended (not
presented herein); and in our report dated February 15, 20X1, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 20X0, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: Paragraph .39 of AU section 722, Interim Financial Information (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1)]

Note: This is an illustrative review report on a condensed balance sheet as of March 31, 20X1, and the related
condensed statements of income and cash flows for the three-month periods ended March 31, 20X1 and 20X0,
and a condensed balance sheet derived from audited financial statements as of December 31, 20X0, that were
included in Form 10-Q.

[The next page is 9751.]
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AAM Section 9500

Reports on Personal Financial Statements

.01 Auditor’s Standard Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

I (We) have audited the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended. These financial statements are
the responsibility of James and Jane Person. My (Our) responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on my (our) audit.

I (We) conducted my (our) audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that I (we) plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by James and Jane Person, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. I (We) believe that my (our) audit provides a
reasonable basis for my (our) opinion.

In my (our) opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date], and the changes in their net worth for the [period]
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.14.]
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.02 Audit Report—Statement of Financial Condition Only

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

I (We) have audited the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date].
This financial statement is the responsibility of James and Jane Person. My (Our) responsibility is to express
an opinion on this financial statement based on my (our) audit.

I (We) conducted my (our) audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that I (we) plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the statement of financial condition is free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the statement of financial
condition. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
James and Jane Person, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the statement of financial condition.
I (We) believe that my (our) audit provides a reasonable basis for my (our) opinion.

In my (our) opinion, the financial statement referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, the
financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date] in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.21]
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.03 Audit Report—Departure From GAAP—Inappropriate Valuation Methods—Adverse Opinion
Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

I (We) have audited the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended. These financial statements are
the responsibility of James and Jane Person. My (Our) responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on my (our) audit.

I (We) conducted my (our) audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that I (we) plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by James and Jane Person, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. I (We) believe that my (our) audit provides a
reasonable basis for my (our) opinion.

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, assets amounting to $XX,XXX (XX percent of total assets)
as of [date] have been valued at estimated current value as determined by James Person. I (We) have reviewed
the procedures applied by James Person in valuing the assets and have inspected the underlying documen-
tation. In my (our) opinion those procedures are not appropriate to determine the estimated current values
of the assets in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The effects on the financial
statements of not applying appropriate procedures to determine the estimated current values of the assets are
not reasonably determinable.

In my (our) opinion, because of the effects of the matters discussed in the preceding paragraph, the financial
statements referred to above do not present fairly, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, the financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date], or the changes
in their net worth for the [period] then ended.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.19]
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.04 Audit Report—Departure From GAAP—Inappropriate Valuation Methods—Qualified Opinion

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

I (We) have audited the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended. These financial statements are
the responsibility of James and Jane Person. My (Our) responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on my (our) audit.

I (We) conducted my (our) audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that I (we) plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by James and Jane Person, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. I (We) believe that my (our) audit provides a
reasonable basis for my (our) opinion.

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, assets amounting to $XX,XXX (XX percent of total assets)
as of [date] have been valued at estimated current value as determined by James Person. I (We) have reviewed
the procedures applied by James Person in valuing the assets and have inspected the underlying documen-
tation. In my (our) opinion, these procedures are not appropriate to determine the estimated current values
of the assets in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The effects on the financial
statements of not applying appropriate procedures to determine the estimated current values of the assets are
not reasonably determinable.

In my (our) opinion, except for the effects of the valuation of assets determined by James Person as described
in the preceding paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date], and the changes in their net worth for the [period]
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.18]
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.05 Audit Report—Disclaim Opinion Because of Scope Limitation—Inadequate Records

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

I (We) were engaged to audit the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as
of [date], and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of James and Jane Person.

James and Jane Person do not maintain accounting records sufficient to assure that all transactions are
recorded. Accordingly, it was not practicable for me (us) to extend my (our) auditing procedures sufficiently
to determine that all of their assets and liabilities and the changes in their net worth are recorded in the
financial statements referred to above.

Since James and Jane Person do not maintain certain accounting records and supporting documentation and
I was (we were) unable to apply adequate auditing procedures regarding the recording of transactions, the
scope of my (our) work was not sufficient to enable me (us) to express, and I (we) do not express, an opinion
on these financial statements.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.17]
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.06 Audit Report—Scope Limitation—Inadequate Records

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

I (We) have audited the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended. These financial statements are
the responsibility of James and Jane Person. My (Our) responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on my (our) audit.

Except as discussed in the following paragraph, I (we) conducted my (our) audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that I (we) plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by James and Jane Person, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
I (We) believe that my (our) audit provides a reasonable basis for my (our) opinion.

James and Jane Person do not maintain accounting records sufficient to assure that all transactions are
recorded. Accordingly, it was not practicable for me (us) to extend my (our) auditing procedures sufficiently
to determine that all of their assets and liabilities and the changes in their net worth are recorded in the
financial statements referred to above.

In my (our) opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be
necessary had I (we) been able to determine that all assets and liabilities and changes in net worth were
recorded in the financial statements, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date], and the changes in their net worth for
the [period] then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.16]
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.07 Audit Report—Income Tax Basis

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

I (We) have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities—income tax basis of James and Jane
Person as of [date], and the related statement of changes in net worth—income tax basis for the [period] then
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of James and Jane Person. My (Our) responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my (our) audit.

I (We) conducted my (our) audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that I (we) plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by James and Jane Person, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. I (We) believe that my (our) audit provides a
reasonable basis for my (our) opinion.

As described in Note X, these financial statements were prepared on the basis of accounting James and Jane
Person use for income tax purposes, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally
accepted accounting principles.

In my (our) opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the assets
and liabilities of James and Jane Person as of [date], and the changes in their net worth for the [period] then
ended on the basis of accounting described in Note X.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.20]

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9500.07



82 7-09
9758 Accountants” Reports

.08 Accountant’s Standard Compilation Report
Addressee:

I (We) have compiled the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance with Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is the representation
of the individuals whose financial statements are presented. I (We) have not audited or reviewed the
accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance
on them.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.04]
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.09 Compilation Report—Statement of Financial Condition Only

Addressee:

I (We) have compiled the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is the representation
of the individuals whose financial statements are presented. I (We) have not audited or reviewed the

accompanying statement of financial condition and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form
of assurance on it.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.21]
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.10 Compilation Report—Omission of Substantially All Disclosures
Addressee:

I (We) have compiled the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance with Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is the representation
of the individuals whose financial statements are presented. I (We) have not audited or reviewed the
accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance
on them.

James and Jane Person have elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures required by generally accepted
accounting principles. If the omitted disclosures were included in the financial statements, they might
influence the user’s conclusions about the financial condition of James and Jane Person and changes in their
net worth. Accordingly, these financial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about such
matters.

[Signature]
[Date]
[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.05]

Note: When personal financial statements omit substantially all disclosures and do not disclose that the assets
are presented at their estimated current values and that the liabilities are presented at their estimated current
amounts, the accountant should include the following sentence at the end of the first paragraph of his or her
report:

The financial statements are intended to present the assets of James and Jane Person at estimated current
values and their liabilities at estimated current amounts.

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.06]
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.11 Compilation Report—GAAP Departure—Material Assets at Cost
Addressee:

I (We) have compiled the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance with Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is the representation
of the individuals whose financial statements are presented. I (We) have not audited or reviewed the
accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance
on them. However, I (we) did become aware of a departure from generally accepted accounting principles that
is described in the following paragraph.

As disclosed in Note X to the financial statements, generally accepted accounting principles require that assets
be presented at their estimated current values and that liabilities be presented at their estimated current
amounts. James and Jane Person have informed me (us) that their investment in ABC Company is stated in
the accompanying financial statements at cost and that the effects of this departure from generally accepted
accounting principles on their financial condition and the changes in their net worth have not been
determined.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.13]

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9500.11



82 7-09
9762 Accountants” Reports

.12 Compilation Report—Income Tax Basis

Addressee:

I (We) have compiled the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities—income tax basis of James and Jane
Person as of [date], and the related statement of changes in net assets—income tax basis for the [period] then
ended, in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is the representation
of the individuals whose financial statements are presented. I (We) have not audited or reviewed the
accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance
on them.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.20]
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.13 Compilation Report—Financial Statements Included in a Prescribed Form

Addressee:

I (We) have compiled the [identification of financial statements, including period covered and name of individual(s)]
included in the accompanying prescribed form, in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

My (Our) compilation was limited to presenting in the form prescribed by [name of body] information that is
the representation of the individuals whose financial statements are presented. I (We) have not audited or
reviewed the financial statements referred to above and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other
form of assurance on them.

These financial statements (including related disclosures) are presented in accordance with the requirements
of [name of body], which differ from generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, these financial
statements are not designed for those who are not informed about such differences.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.09]
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.14 Accountant’s Standard Review Report
Addressee:

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance with Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. All information included in these financial statements is the representation of James and Jane
Person.

A review consists principally of inquiries of the individuals whose financial statements are presented and
analytical procedures applied to financial data. It is substantially less in scope than an audit in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the
financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not express such an opinion.

Based on my (our) review, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the
accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.11]
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.15 Review Report—Statement of Financial Condition Only
Addressee:

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. All information included in this financial statement is the repre-
sentation of James and Jane Person.

A review of personal financial statements consists principally of inquiries of the individuals whose financial
statements are presented and analytical procedures applied to financial data. It is substantially less in scope
than an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the
expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not
express such an opinion.

Based on my (our) review, | am (we are) not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the
accompanying statement of financial condition in order for it to be in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.21]
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.16 Review Report—GAAP Departure—Failure to Include a Provision for Estimated Income Taxes on
the Differences Between the Estimated Current Values of Assets and the Estimated Current Amounts of
Liabilities and Their Tax Bases

Addressee:

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of [date],
and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance with Statements
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. All information included in these financial statements is the representation of James and Jane
Person.

A review of personal financial statements consists principally of inquiries of the individual whose financial
statements are presented and analytical procedures applied to financial data. It is substantially less in scope
than an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the
expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not
express such an opinion.

Based on my (our) review, with the exception of the matter described in the following paragraph, I am (we
are) not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying financial statements
in order for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Generally accepted accounting principles require that personal financial statements include a provision for
estimated income taxes on the differences between the estimated current values of assets and the estimated
current amounts of liabilities and their tax bases. The accompanying financial statements do not include such
a provision and the effect of this departure from generally accepted accounting principles has not been
determined.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.13]
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.17 Review Report—Historical Cost Basis
Addressee:

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities—historical cost basis of James and
Jane Person as of [date], and the related statement of changes in net assets—historical cost basis for the [period]
then ended, in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. All information included in these financial statements is
the representation of James and Jane Person.

A review of personal financial statements consists principally of inquiries of the individuals whose financial
statements are presented and analytical procedures applied to financial data. It is substantially less in scope
than an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the
expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not
express such an opinion.

Based on my (our) review, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the
accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in conformity with the historical cost basis of
accounting described in Note X.

[Signature]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, updated as of May 1, 2008, paragraph 5.20]

[The next page is 9801.]
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AAM Section 9600
Reports on Employee Benefit Plans

Practice Tip
Audits of 11-K Filers—Performance and Reporting Requirements
SEC Requirements

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requires employee stock purchase, savings and similar plans
with interests that constitute securities registered under the Securities Act of 1933 to file Form 11-K pursuant
to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Reports on Form 11-K must be filed with the SEC within
90 days after the end of the fiscal year of the plan, provided that plans subject to the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) file the plan financial statements within 180 days after the plan’s fiscal
year end.

Applicable Audit Standards

Plans that are required to file Form 11-Ks are deemed to be issuers under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and must
submit to the SEC an audit in accordance with the auditing and related professional practice standards
promulgated by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB).

Performance and Reporting Requirements

Based on AICPA staff discussions with the SEC and PCAOB staff to seek clarification of the performance and
reporting requirements for audits of 11-K filers, firms will need to conduct their audits of these 11-K plans in
accordance with two sets of standards and prepare two separate audit reports; an audit report referencing
PCAOB standards for Form 11-K filings with the SEC and a separate audit report referencing generally
accepted auditing standards (GAAS) for Department of Labor (DOL) filings. The PCAOB and SEC staff
believe that an opinion issued in accordance with PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1, References in Auditors’
Reports to the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (AICPA, PCAOB Standards and Related
Rules, Auditing Standards), does not allow a reference to GAAS, hence a “dual” standard report is not
appropriate and will not be accepted by the SEC.

Any questions regarding performance and reporting requirements of audits of financial statements of Form
11-K filers should be directed to the SEC Division of Corporation Finance, Office of the Chief Accountant at
(202) 942-2960.
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.01 Unqualified Opinion—Defined Benefit Plan Assuming End-of-Year Benefit Information Date

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits and of accumulated plan
benefits of XYZ Pension Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of changes in net
assets available for benefits and of changes in accumulated plan benefits for the year ended December 31,
20X2. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]' An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
status of the Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the changes in its financial status for the year ended
December 31, 20X2 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.?

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.04]

Note: Section 2520.103-1 of Title 29 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 2520.C requires the
accountant’s report to be dated, manually signed, indicate the city and state where issued and identify the
financial statements and schedules covered by the report.

! This optional language may be added to the auditor’s standard report to clarify that an audit performed in accordance with GAAS
does not require the same level of testing and reporting on internal control over financial reporting as an audit of an issuer when Section
404(b) of the act is applicable. If this optional language is added then the remainder of the paragraph should read as follows:

An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

See Interpretation No. 17, “Clarification in the Audit Report of the Extent of Testing of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in
Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards,” of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .85-.88), issued in June 2004.

2 Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 960, Plan Accounting—Defined Benefit Pension
Plans, left unresolved the question of whether accumulated plan benefit information represents a liability of a defined benefit pension
plan. Accordingly, because the financial statements of a defined benefit pension plan do not present information on accumulated plan
benefits as a liability of the plan, and because they do not present an account comparable to the owners’ equity of other types of entities,
the auditor’s opinion in the illustrative reports does not refer to the presentation of the financial position of the plan. The terms financial
status and changes in financial status, as used here, refer to the presentation of information regarding net assets available for plan benefits
and changes therein and information regarding accumulated plan benefits and changes therein as specified in FASB ASC 960.
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.02 Unqualified Opinion—Defined Benefit Plan Assuming Beginning-of-Year Benefit Information
Date

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits of XYZ Pension Plan as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of changes in net assets available for benefits for the
years then ended and the statement of accumulated plan benefits as of December 31, 20X1, and the related
statement of changes in accumulated plan benefits for the year then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Plan’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]> An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, information
regarding the Plan’s net assets available for benefits as of December 31, 20X2, and changes therein for the year
then ended and its financial status as of December 31, 20X1, and changes therein for the year then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.*

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.05]

3 See footnote 1.
4 See footnote 2.
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.03 Unqualified Opinion—Defined Contribution Profit-Sharing Plan

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits of ABC Company
Profit-Sharing Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statement of changes in net assets
available for benefits for the year ended December 31, 20X2. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]> An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net assets
available for benefits of the Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the changes in net assets available
for benefits for the year ended December 31, 20X2 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.06]

5 See footnote 1.
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.04 Unqualified Opinion—Employee Health and Welfare Benefit Plans

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits and of plan benefit
obligations of Allied Industries Benefit Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of
changes in net assets available for benefits and of changes in benefits obligations for the year ended December
31, 20X2. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]® An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
status of the Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the changes in its financial status for the year ended
December 31, 20X2 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.07]

6 See footnote 1.
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.05 Unqualified Opinion—Supplemental Schedules Required by ERISA and DOL Regulations

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as
a whole. The supplemental schedules of [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the
purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements but are supple-
mentary information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and
Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are
the responsibility of the Plan’s management. The supplemental schedules have been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.11]

Notes: This paragraph can be shown separately in the auditor-submitted document or as a separate
paragraph, after the opinion paragraph, of the auditor’s standard report, when the auditor’s report covers
additional information and the auditor has applied auditing procedures and is expressing an opinion on the
additional information.

Examples of paragraphs that should be added to the standard auditor’s report when the report on the
supplemental schedules is modified because of omitted information or an omitted schedule required by DOL
regulations are presented in paragraphs .07-.08 and .18.
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.06 Unqualified Opinion—Defined Benefit Pension Plan Prepared on the Modified Cash Basis

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits (modified cash basis) of XYZ
Pension Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statement of changes in net assets available
for benefits (modified cash basis) for the year ended December 31, 20X2. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Plan’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]’” An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note X, these financial statements and supplemental schedules were prepared on a modified
cash basis of accounting, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net assets
available for benefits of XYZ Pension Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the changes in net assets
available for benefits for the year ended December 20X2, on the basis of accounting described in Note X.

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplemental schedules (modified cash basis) of [identify titles of schedules and period covered] are
presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements,
but are supplementary information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for
Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental
schedules are the responsibility of the Plan’s management. The supplemental schedules have been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.22]

7 See footnote 1.
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Note: When reporting on financial statements prepared in conformity with a basis of accounting other than
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the auditor should consider whether the financial state-
ments and notes thereto include all informative disclosures that are appropriate for the basis of accounting
used. Interpretation No. 14, “Evaluating the Adequacy of Disclosure and Presentation in Financial Statements
Prepared in Conformity With an Other Comprehensive Basis of Accounting (OCBOA),” of AU section 623,
Special Reports (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9623 par. .90-.95), states that if cash, modified
cash, or income tax basis financial statements contain elements, accounts, or items for which GAAP would
require disclosure, the statements should either provide the relevant disclosure that would be required for
those items in a GAAP presentation or provide information that communicates the substance of that
disclosure. That may result in substituting qualitative information for some of the quantitative information
required for GAAP presentations. Regardless of the basis of accounting used (GAAP or OCBOA), accumu-
lated plan benefits disclosures should be made. If such disclosures are not made, the auditor should comment
in his or her report on the lack of such disclosures and should express a qualified or adverse opinion on the
financial statements.

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.23]
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.07 Modified Report—Omitted Information or Omitted Schedule Required Under DOL Regulations

Following are examples of paragraphs added to the auditor’s report when the auditor modifies his or her
report on the supplemental schedules because of omitted information or an omitted schedule which is
required under DOL regulations:

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:
[Same first, second, and third paragraphs as the standard report. See paragraphs .01-.03 in this section.]

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplemental schedules of [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the purpose
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements, but are supplementary
information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management. The supplemental schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

The supplemental Schedule H, line 4i—Schedule of Assets (Held at End of Year) as of December 31, 20X2 that
accompanies the Plan’s financial statements does not disclose the historical cost of certain nonparticipant
directed plan assets held by the Plan trustee [or custodian]. Disclosure of this information is required by the
Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974.

or

The Plan has not presented the supplemental Schedule H, line 4—Schedule of Reportable Transactions for the
year ended December 31, 20X2. Disclosure of this information is required by the Department of Labor’s Rules
and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.16]
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.08 Qualified Opinion—Omitted or Incomplete Schedule or Material Inconsistency

The following are examples of paragraphs that have been added to the auditor’s report when the auditor
qualifies his or her opinion on the supplemental schedules because a schedule, or information thereon, was
omitted (when the schedules are not covered by a trustee’s certification as to completeness and accuracy), or
because information in a required schedule is materially inconsistent with the financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:
[Same first, second, and third paragraphs as the standard report. See paragraphs .01-.03 in this section.]

The supplemental Schedule H, line 4i—Schedule of Assets (Held at End of Year) as of December 31, 20X2 that
accompanies the Plan’s financial statements does not disclose that the Plan had loans to participants which
are considered assets held for investment purposes. Disclosure of this information is required by the
Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974.

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplemental schedules of [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the purpose
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements, but are supplementary
information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management. The supplemental schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, except for the omission of the
information discussed in the preceding paragraph, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.16]
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.09 Qualified Opinion—Disclosure of Material Prohibited Transaction With Party in Interest Omitted

The following are examples of paragraphs that have been added to the auditor’s report on the plan’s financial
statements when the auditor qualifies his or her opinion on the supplemental schedules because disclosure
of a material prohibited transaction with a party in interest is omitted.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:
[Same first, second, and third paragraphs as the standard report. See paragraphs .01-.03 in this section.]

The supplemental Schedule G, Part III—Schedule of Nonexempt Transactions that accompanies the plan’s
financial statements does not disclose that the Plan [describe prohibited transaction]. Disclosure of this infor-
mation is required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplemental schedules [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the purpose
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements, but are supplementary
information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management. The supplemental schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, except for the omission of the
information discussed in the preceding paragraph, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.17]
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.10 Adverse Opinion—Disclosure of Material Prohibited Transaction With Party in Interest Omitted

The following are examples of paragraphs that have been added to the auditor’s report on the plan’s financial
statements when the auditor decides that an adverse opinion should be expressed on the supplemental
schedules because disclosure of a material prohibited transaction with a party in interest is omitted.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:
[Same first, second, and third paragraphs as the standard report. See paragraphs .01-.03 in this section.]

Schedule G, Part IlI—Schedule of Nonexempt Transactions that accompanies the plan’s financial statements
does not disclose that the Plan [describe prohibited transaction]. Disclosure of this information is required by the
Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974.

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplemental schedules of [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the purpose
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements, but are supplementary
information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management. The supplemental schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, because of the omission of the
information discussed in the preceding paragraph are not fairly stated in all material respects in relation to
the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.17]
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.11 Modified Report—Disclosure of Immaterial Prohibited Transaction With Party in Interest Omitted

The following are examples of paragraphs that have been added to the auditor’s report on the plan’s financial
statements when the auditor decides to modify his or her report on the supplemental schedules because
disclosure of a prohibited transaction with a party in interest that is not material to the financial statements
has been omitted.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:
[Same first, second, and third paragraphs as the standard report. See paragraphs .01-.03 in this section.]

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplemental schedules of [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the purpose
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements, but are supplementary
information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management. The supplemental schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Schedule G, Part III—Schedule of Nonexempt Transactions that accompanies the plan’s financial statements
does not disclose that the Plan [describe prohibited transaction]. Disclosure of this information, which is not
considered material to the financial statements taken as a whole, is required by the Department of Labor’s
Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.17]
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.12 Qualified Opinion—Disclosure of Material Prohibited Transaction With Party in Interest Omitted—
Related-Party Transaction

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statement of net assets available for benefits of XYZ Company Profit-
Sharing Plan as of December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, and the related statement of changes in net assets available
for benefits for the year ended December 31, 20X1. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Plan’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

The Plan’s financial statements do not disclose that the Plan [describe related-party transaction]. Disclosure of
this information is required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In our opinion, except for the omission of the information discussed in the preceding paragraph, the financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net assets available for benefits of the
Plan as of December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, and the changes in net assets available for benefits for the year ended
December 31, 20X1 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Schedule G, Part III—Schedule of Nonexempt Transactions that accompanies the plan’s financial statements
does not disclose that the plan [describe prohibited transaction]. Disclosure of this information is required by the
Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974.

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplemental schedules of [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the purpose
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements, but are supplementary
information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management. The supplemental schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, except for the omission of the
information discussed in the preceding paragraph, are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.18]
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.13 Limited-Scope Audits Under DOL Regulations

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We were engaged to audit the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits of XYZ Pension
Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statement of changes in net assets available for benefits
for the year ended December 31, 20X2 and the supplemental schedules of (1) Schedule H, line 4i-Schedule of
Assets Held (At End of Year), and (2) Schedule H, line 4j-Schedule of Reportable Transactions as of or for the
year ended December 31, 20X2. These financial statements and supplemental schedules are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management.

As permitted by 29 CFR 2520.103-8 of the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and
Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the plan administrator instructed us
not to perform, and we did not perform, any auditing procedures with respect to the information summarized
in Note X, which was certified by ABC Bank, the trustee (or custodian) of the Plan, except for comparing such
information with the related information included in the financial statements and supplemental schedules. We
have been informed by the plan administrator that the trustee (or custodian) holds the Plan’s investment assets
and executes investment transactions. The plan administrator has obtained a certification from the trustee (or
custodian) as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1 and for the year ended December 31, 20X2, that the information
provided to the plan administrator by the trustee (or custodian) is complete and accurate.

Because of the significance of the information that we did not audit, we are unable to, and do not, express an
opinion on the accompanying financial statements and supplemental schedules taken as a whole. The form
and content of the information included in the financial statements and supplemental schedules, other than
that derived from the information certified by the trustee or custodian, have been audited by us in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and, in our opinion, are presented
in compliance with the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.26]

Note: If the plan’s financial statements are prepared on the cash basis or a modified cash basis of accounting,
the auditor’s report should also include a paragraph stating the basis of presentation and that cash basis is
a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP (see paragraph 13.21-.22 of the AICPA Audit and
Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, for wording of such a paragraph).

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.26 footnote 6]
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.14 Limited-Scope Audit in Prior Year

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits of XYZ Pension Plan as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the
year ended December 31, 20X2, and the statements of accumulated plan benefits as of December 31, 20X2 and
20X1, and the related statement of changes in accumulated plan benefits for the year ended December 31,
20X2. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

Except as explained in the following paragraph, we conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As permitted by 29 CFR 2520.103-8 of the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and
Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, investment assets held by ABC Bank,
the trustee (or custodian) of the Plan, and transactions in those assets were excluded from the scope of our
audit of the Plan’s 20X1 financial statements, except for comparing the information provided by the trustee
(or custodian), which is summarized in Note X, with the related information included in the financial
statements.

Because of the significance of the information that we did not audit, we are unable to, and do not, express an
opinion on the Plan’s financial statements as of December 31, 20X1. The form and content of the information
included in the 20X1 financial statements, other than that derived from the information certified by the trustee
(or custodian), have been audited by us and, in our opinion, are presented in compliance with the Department
of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974.

In our opinion, the financial statements, referred to above, of XYZ Pension Plan as of December 31, 20X2, and
for the year then ended present fairly, in all material respects, the financial status of XYZ Pension Plan as of
December 31, 20X2, and changes in its financial status for the year then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Our audit of the Plan’s financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 20X2, was made for
the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole. The supplemental schedules
of [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not
a required part of the basic financial statements, but are supplementary information required by the
Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are the responsibility of the Plan’s management.
The supplemental schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
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financial statements for the year ended December 31, 20X2, and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.28]
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.15 Limited-Scope Audit in Current Year

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We were engaged to audit the accompanying statement of net assets available for benefits of XYZ Pension Plan
as of December 31, 20X2, and the related statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the year
ended December 31, 20X2 and the supplemental schedules of (1) Schedule H, line 4i—Schedule of Assets Held
(At End of Year), (2) Schedule H, line 4j—Schedule of Reportable Transactions as of or for the year ended
December 31, 20X2. These financial statements and supplemental schedules are the responsibility of the Plan’s
management.

As permitted by 29 CFR 2520.103-8 of the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and
Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the plan administrator instructed us
not to perform, and we did not perform, any auditing procedures with respect to the information summarized
in Note X, which was certified by ABC Bank, the trustee (or custodian) of the Plan, except for comparing the
information with the related information included in the 20X2 financial statements and the supplemental
schedules. We have been informed by the plan administrator that the trustee (or custodian) holds the Plan’s
investment assets and executes investment transactions. The plan administrator has obtained a certification
from the trustee (or custodian) as of and for the year ended December 31, 20X2, that the information provided
to the plan administrator by the trustee (or custodian) is complete and accurate.

Because of the significance of the information in the Plan’s 20X2 financial statements that we did not audit,
we are unable to, and do not, express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements and supplemental
schedules as of or for the year ended December 31, 20X2. The form and content of the information included
in the financial statements and supplemental schedules, other than that derived from the information certified
by the trustee (or custodian), have been audited by us in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and, in our opinion, are presented in compliance with the
Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974.

We have audited the statement of net assets available for benefits of XYZ Pension Plan as of December 31,
20X1, and in our report dated May 20, 20X2, we expressed our opinion that such financial statement presents
fairly, in all material respects, the financial status of XYZ Pension Plan as of December 31, 20X1, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.29]
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.16 Initial Limited-Scope Audit in Current Year, Prior Year Limited-Scope Audit Performed by Other
Auditors

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

Addressee:

We were engaged to audit the accompanying statement of net assets available for benefits of ABC Company
Profit-Sharing Plan (the “Plan”) as of December 31, 20X2, and the related statement of changes in net assets
available for benefits for the year ended December 31, 20X2 and the supplemental Schedule H, line
4i—Schedule of Assets (Held at End of Year) as of December 31, 20X2. These financial statements and
supplemental schedule are the responsibility of the Plan’s management. The financial statements of the plan
as of December 31, 20X1 were audited by other auditors. As permitted by 29 CFR 2520.103-8 of the Department
of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), the Plan administrator instructed the other auditors not to perform and they
did not perform, any auditing procedures with respect to the information certified by the Trustee. Their report,
dated May 20, 20X2, indicated that (a) because of the significance of the information that they did not audit,
they were unable to, and did not, express an opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole and (b) the
form and content of the information included in the financial statements other than that derived from the
information certified by the Trustee, were presented in compliance with the Department of Labor’s Rules and
Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under ERISA.

As permitted by 29 CFR 2520.103-8 of the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and
Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the Plan administrator instructed us
not to perform, and we did not perform, any auditing procedures with respect to the information summarized
in note E, which was certified by Bank & Trust Company, the trustee of the Plan, except for comparing such
information with the related information included in the 20X2 financial statements and supplemental
schedule. We have been informed by the Plan administrator that the trustee holds the Plan’s investment assets
and executes investment transactions. The Plan administrator has obtained a certification from the trustee as
of and for the year ended December 31, 20X2, that the information provided to the Plan administrator by the
trustee is complete and accurate.

Because of the significance of the information in the Plan’s 20X2 financial statements and supplemental
schedule that we did not audit, we are unable to, and do not, express an opinion on the accompanying 20X2
financial statements and supplemental schedule taken as a whole. The form and content of the information
included in the 20X2 financial statements and supplemental schedule, other than that derived from the
information certified by the trustee, have been audited by us in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and, in our opinion, are presented in compliance with the
Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.30]
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.17 Limited Scope Audit—Change in Trustee

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

Addressee:

We were engaged to audit the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits and of accumulated
plan benefits of XYZ Pension Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of changes
in net assets available for benefits and of changes in accumulated plan benefits for the year ended December
31, 20X2, and the supplemental schedules of (1) Schedule H, line 4i—Schedule of Assets (Held at End of Year)
as of December 31, 20X2, and (2) Schedule H, line 4—Schedule of Reportable Transactions for the year ended
December 31, 20X2. These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of the Plan’s management.

As permitted by 29 CFR 2520.103-8 of the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and
Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the plan administrator instructed us
not to perform, and we did not perform, any auditing procedures with respect to the investment information
summarized in Note X, which was certified by the ABC Bank and XYZ Trust Company, the trustees of the Plan,
except for comparing such information with the related information included in the financial statements and
supplemental schedules. We have been informed by the plan administrator that XYZ Trust Company held the
Plan’s investment assets and executed investment transactions from July 1, 20X2 to December 31, 20X2, and
that ABC Bank held the Plan’s investment assets and executed investment transactions as of December 31,
20X1 and for the period January 1, 20X1 to June 30, 20X2. The plan administrator has obtained certifications
from the trustees as of and for the years ended December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, that the information provided
to the plan administrator by the trustees is complete and accurate.

Because of the significance of the information that we did not audit, we are unable to, and do not, express an
opinion on the accompanying financial statements and supplemental schedules taken as a whole. The form
and content of the information included in the financial statements and supplemental schedules, other than
that derived from the investment information certified by the trustees, have been audited by us in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and, in our opinion, are presented in
compliance with the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.31]
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.18 Audit of Multiemployer Defined Benefit Pension Plan With Scope Limitation

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We were engaged to audit the statements of [identify title of schedules and period covered] of XYZ Multiemployer
Pension Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and for the years then ended. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Plan’s management.

The Plan’s records and procedures are not adequate to assure the completeness of participants” data on which
contributions and benefit payments are determined, and the Board of Trustees did not engage us to perform,
and we did not perform, any other auditing procedures with respect to participants” data maintained by the
sponsor companies or individual participants.

Because of the significance of the information that we did not audit, the scope of our work was not sufficient
to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion on these financial statements.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.32]
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.19 Modified Report—Omitted Information or Omitted Schedule Required Under DOL Regulations in
a Limited Scope Engagement

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:
[Same first and second paragraphs as the limited-scope report. See paragraph .13 in this section.]

The supplemental Schedule H, line 4i—Schedule of Assets (Held at End of Year) as of December 31, 20X2 that
accompanies the Plan’s financial statements does not disclose that the Plan has loans to participants which
are considered assets held for investment purposes. Disclosure of this information is required by the
Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974.

Because of the significance of the information that we did not audit, we are unable to, and do not, express an
opinion on the accompanying financial statements and schedules taken as a whole. The form and content of
the information included in the financial statements and schedules, other than that derived from the
information certified by the trustee, have been audited by us in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and, in our opinion, except for the omission of the information
discussed in the preceding paragraph, are presented in compliance with the Department of Labor’s Rules and
Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

or

The Plan has not presented the supplemental Schedule H, line 4—Schedule of Reportable Transactions for the
year ended December 31, 20X2. Disclosure of this information is required by the Department of Labor’s Rules
and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.16]
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.20 Trust Established Under an Employee Benefit Plan

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statement of net assets of ABC Pension Trust as of December 31, 20X2,
and the related statement of changes in net assets and trust balance for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Trust’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net assets
of ABC Pension Trust as of December 31, 20X2, and the changes in its net assets and trust balance for the year
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying statements are those of ABC Pension Trust, which is established under XYZ Pension Plan;
the statements do not purport to present the financial status of XYZ Pension Plan. The statements do not
contain certain information on accumulated plan benefits and other disclosures necessary for a fair presen-
tation of the financial status of XYZ Pension Plan in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Furthermore, these statements do not purport to satisfy the Department of
Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 relating to the financial statements of employee benefit plans.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.33]
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.21 Defined Benefit Plan Assuming Inadequate Procedures to Value Investments

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits of XYZ Pension Plan as of
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1 and of accumulated Plan benefits as of December 31, 20X2, and the related
statements of changes in net assets available for benefits and of changes in accumulated plan benefits for the
year ended December 31, 20X2. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.]> An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note X, investments amounting to $ (__ percent of net assets available for benefits) as
of December 31, 20X2, have been valued at estimated fair value as determined by the Board of Trustees. We
have reviewed the procedures applied by the trustees in valuing the securities and have inspected the
underlying documentation. In our opinion, those procedures are not adequate to determine the fair value of
the investments in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The effect on the financial statements and supplemental schedules of not applying adequate procedures to
determine the fair value of the securities is not determinable.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the procedures used by the Board of Trustees to determine the valuation
of investments as described in the preceding paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial status of XYZ Pension Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and
information regarding the Plan’s net assets available for benefits as of December 31, 20X1, and the changes
in its financial status for the year ended December 31, 20X2 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplemental schedules of [identify title of schedules and period covered] are presented for the purpose
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements, but are supplementary
information required by the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. These supplemental schedules are the responsibility
of the Plan’s management. That additional information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements for the year ended December 31, 20X2; and in our opinion, except
for the effects of the valuation of investments, as described above, the additional information is fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.38]

8 See footnote 1.
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.22 Form 11-K Filing

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits of the ABC 401(k) plan (the
Plan) as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statement of changes in net assets available for
benefits for the year ended December 31, 20X2. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Plan’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the net assets
available for benefits of the Plan as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the changes in net assets available
for benefits for the year ended December 31, 20X2 in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Employee Benefit Plans, updated as of March 1, 2010, paragraph
13.19]
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Note: Reporting Considerations for Nonaccelerated Filer Audit Reports. In an audit of a nonaccelerated filer
that has determined it is not required to obtain, nor did it request the auditor to perform, an audit of internal
control over financial reporting (under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Item 308(b) of
SEC Regulation S-K), firms may wish to consider expanding their audit report to include a statement that the
purpose and extent of the auditor’s consideration of internal control over financial reporting were to
determine that the nature, timing, and extent of tests to be performed are appropriate in the circumstances
but were not sufficient to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Firms are not required to expand their audit report to include this statement. However, the SEC staff has
indicated that if a firm chooses to expand its report to clarify this point, the language in Interpretation No.
18, “Reference to PCAOB Standards in an Audit Report on a Nonissuer,” of AU section 508, Reports on Audited
Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .89-.92), provides appropriate
language to consider in an audit conducted in accordance with PCAOB standards. Accordingly, the scope
section of the auditor’s report might be modified as follows:

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
The Plan is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as
a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the account-
ing principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As an alternative to the first additional sentence suggested by Interpretation 18 of AU section 508, a firm also
might consider the following: A second alternative would be to use language from Auditing Interpretation
No. 2, “Reports by Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,” of AU section 550A, Other
Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec.
9550A par. .07-.11). Paragraph .10 of Interpretation No. 2 of AU section 550A states, “Although not required,
the auditor may consider adding the following paragraph to the standard auditor’s report:

We were not engaged to examine management’s assertion about the effectiveness of [name of entity’s]
internal control over financial reporting as of [date] included in the accompanying [title of man-
agement’s report] and accordingly, we do not express an opinion thereon.

[This information is from the Center for Audit Quality (CAQ)—CAQ Alert #2007-66—December 19, 2007.]

[The next page is 9851.]
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AAM Section 9650

Reports on Financial Statements of Brokers
and Dealers in Securities

.01 Unqualified Opinion on Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules Required by the SEC

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying [consolidated] statement of financial condition of Standard Stockbrokerage
Co., Inc., [and Subsidiaries] (the Company) as of December 31, 20X9, and the related [consolidated] statements
of income, changes in stockholders” equity, changes in liabilities subordinated to claims of general creditors,
and cash flows for the year then ended that you are filing pursuant to Rule 17a-5 under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America.! Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. [Optional: An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.] > An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall ginancial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

! For audits conducted in accordance with Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) standards, PCAOB Auditing
Standard No. 1, References in Auditors’ Reports to the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (AICPA, PCAOB Standards
and Related Rules, Auditing Standards), replaces this sentence with the following sentence: “We conducted our audit in accordance with
the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).” On May 14, 2004, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) issued an interpretive release to help with the implementation of PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1. See Release No.
33-8422 for more information. The release specifies that effective May 14, 2004, references in SEC rules and staff guidance and in the federal
securities laws to generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) or to specific standards under GAAS, as they relate to issuers, should
be understood to mean the standards of the PCAOB, plus any applicable rules of the SEC. The guidance in this release is applicable only
to auditors’ engagements that are governed by PCAOB rules. The PCAOB, for example, has not established particular auditing standards
for nonissuer broker-dealers or investment advisers. This release is not applicable to such engagements and related filings.

The staff of the PCAOB published a series of questions and answers (Q&As) on PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1. See the PCAOB
website at www.pcaobus.org for more information.

In June 2004, the Auditing Standards Board (ASB) issued Interpretation No. 18, “Reference to PCAOB Standards in an Audit Report
of a Nonissuer,” of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .89-.92),
which provides reporting guidance for audits of nonissuers. Interpretation No. 18 provides guidance on the appropriate referencing of
PCAOB auditing standards in audit reports when an auditor is engaged to perform the audit in accordance with both GAAS and PCAOB
auditing standards. The ASB also is revising AU section 508 in light of the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board’s
recently exposed International Standard on Auditing The Independent Auditor’s Report on a Complete Set of General Purpose Financial
Statements and PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1. See the AICPA website at www.aicpa.org/INTERESTAREAS/
ACCOUNTINGANDAUDITING/RESOURCES/AUDATTEST /Pages/ Auditand AttestServices.aspx for more information.

2 This optional wording may be added in accordance with Interpretation No. 17, “Clarification in the Audit Report of the Extent of
Testing of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards,” of AU section 508
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .85-.88), which provides reporting guidance for audits of nonissuers. Interpretation
No. 17 addresses how auditors may expand their independent audit report to explain that their consideration of internal control was
sufficient to provide the auditor sufficient understanding to plan the audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of tests to be
performed, but was not sufficient to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. If this optional language is added,
then the remainder of the paragraph should read as follows:

An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
3 See paragraphs 3.113-.119 in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Brokers and Dealers in Securities, updated as of May 1, 2009, for
information on obtaining confidential treatment of the financial statements from the SEC and Commodity Futures Trading Commission.
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In our opinion, the [consolidated] financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Standard Stockbrokerage Co., Inc. [and Subsidiaries] as of December 31, 20X9, and the
results of its [their] operations and its [their] cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a
whole. The information contained in Schedules I, I1, III, and IV is presented for purposes of additional analysis
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements, but is supplementary information required by Rule
17a-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]*

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Brokers and Dealers in Securities, updated as of August 1, 2009,
appendix A]

Notes: SEC Regulation S-X Section 210.2-02 (17 CFR 210.2-.02) requires the accountant’s report to be dated,
signed manually, indicate the city and state where issued, and identify without detailed enumeration the
financial statements covered by the report.

Paragraphs .18-.19 of section 9250 contain illustrative reports on internal control required by SEC Rule 17a-5.

* Paragraph .23 of AU section 339, Audit Documentation (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1), states that the auditor’s report should
be dated no earlier than the date on which the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the opinion on the
financial statements. Among other things, sufficient appropriate audit evidence includes evidence that the audit documentation has been
reviewed and that the entity’s financial statements, including disclosures, have been prepared and that management has asserted that
it has taken responsibility for them.
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.02 Separate Report on Supplementary Schedules

Independent Auditor’s Report on Supplementary Information
Required by Rule 17a-5 of the Securities and Exchange Commission

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying [consolidated] financial statements of Standard Stockbrokerage Co., Inc.
[and Subsidiaries] as of and for the year ended December 31, 20X9, and have issued our report thereon dated
February 15, 20Y0. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial
statements taken as a whole. The information contained in Schedules I, I, III, and IV is presented for purposes
of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements, but is supplementary
information required by Rule 17a-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion,
is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Brokers and Dealers in Securities, updated as of August 1, 2009,
appendix B]

Note: This paragraph can be shown separately in the auditor-submitted document or as a separate paragraph,
after the opinion paragraph, of the auditor’s standard report.

[The next page is 9901.]

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §9650.02







85 6-10 Reports for Investment Companies 9901

AAM Section 9700

Reports for Investment Companies

.01 Unqualified Opinion on the Financial Statements of a Registered Investment Company

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities of XYZ Investment Company (the
Company), including the schedule of investments, as of December 31, 20X8, and the related statements of
operations and cash flows!' for the year then ended, the statements of changes in net assets for each of the two
years in the period then ended, and the financial highlights for each of the five years in the period then ended.
These financial statements and financial highlights are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial highlights based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements and financial highlights are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our procedures included confirmation of securities owned as of December 31, 20X8, by corre-
spondence with the custodian and brokers. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements and financial highlights referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of XYZ Investment Company as of December 31, 20X8, the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, the changes in its net assets for each of the two years
in the period then ended, and the financial highlights for each of the five years in the period then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Investment Companies, updated as of May 1, 2010, paragraph
11.09]

! Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 230-10-15-4 exempts highly liquid companies that meet
specified conditions from the requirement to provide a statement of cash flows. See chapter 7 of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide
Investment Companies, updated as of May 1, 2010 for further discussion.

2 In an open-end fund’s registration statement, an auditor must opine on at least the most recent two of the five years of financial
highlights presented in a registered investment company’s annual report. The auditor, however, must opine on all five years of financial
highlights required to be presented in the open-end fund’s prospectus.
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Note: The reference to “and brokers” in the fourth sentence of the scope paragraph is not normally required
if the investment company’s financial statements do not show an amount payable for securities purchased.
When broker confirmations are not received and alternative procedures are performed, the sentence may be
modified to read “and brokers or by other appropriate auditing procedures where replies from brokers were
not received.” Also, if securities were physically inspected or subject to other extended procedures for
purposes of the audit, the report should be modified to state that those procedures were performed.

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Investment Companies, updated as of May 1, 2010, paragraph
11.10]
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.02 Unqualified Opinion on the Financial Statements for a Multicolumnar Presentation of the Portfo-
lios Constituting the Series®

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Addressee:

We have audited the statements of assets and liabilities, including the schedules of investments, of XYZ Series
Investment Company (the Company) comprising the Foreign, Domestic Common Stock, Long-Term Bond,
and Convertible Preferred Portfolios as of December 31, 20X8, and the related statements of operations and
cash flows* for the year then ended, the statements of changes in net assets for each of the two years in the
period then ended, and the financial highlights for each of the five years in the period then ended. These
financial statements and financial highlights are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial highlights based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements and financial highlights are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our procedures included confirmation of securities owned as of December 31, 20X8, by corre-
spondence with the custodian and brokers. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements and financial highlights referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of each of the portfolios constituting the XYZ Series Investment Company, as
of December 31, 20X8, the results of their operations and cash flows for the year then ended, the changes in
their net assets for each of the two years in the period then ended, and their financial highlights for each of
the five years in the period then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Investment Companies, updated as of May 1, 2010, paragraph
11.13]

3 This form of report is prescribed by paragraph .08 of AU section 508, Reports on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 1). Registered public accounting firms must comply with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (PCAOB) in connection with the preparation or issuance of any audit report on the financial statements of an issuer, as discussed
in paragraph 11.01 of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Investment Companies, updated as of May 1, 2010. Readers should
understand the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Securities and Exchange Commission regulations implementing the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, and the rules and standards of the PCAOB, as applicable to their circumstances, to determine if the standards of the PCAOB
should be applied. Readers should consult the standards of the PCAOB, and related interpretive guidance, when preparing or issuing
any audit report on the financial statements of an issuer in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.

4 See footnote 1.
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.03 Unqualified Opinion on the Financial Statements Presenting One of the Portfolios or Entities
Constituting the Series®

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities, including the schedule of investments,
of the Convertible Preferred Portfolio (one of the portfolios constituting the XYZ Series Investment Company
[the Company]) as of December 31, 20X8, and the related statements of operations and cash flows® for the year
then ended, the statement of changes in net assets for each of the two years in the period then ended, and the
financial highlights for each of the five years in the period then ended. These financial statements and financial
highlights are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements and financial highlights based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements and financial highlights are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our procedures included confirmation of securities owned as of December 31, 20X8, by corre-
spondence with the custodian and brokers. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements and financial highlights referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Convertible Preferred Portfolio of the XYZ Series Investment Company
as of December 31, 20X8, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, the
changes in its net assets for each of the two years in the period then ended, and the financial highlights for
each of the five years in the period then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Investment Companies, updated as of May 1, 2010, paragraph
11.14]

5 See footnote 3.
6 See footnote 1.
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.04 Unqualified Opinion on the Financial Statements of a Nonregistered Investment Company’

Independent Auditor’s Report

Addressee:

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities of XYZ Investment Company (the
Company), including the schedule of investments, as of December 31, 20X8, and the related statements of
operations, cash flows® and changes in net assets, and the financial highlights for the year then ended. These
financial statements and financial highlights are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial highlights based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America.” Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements and financial highlights are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements and financial highlights referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of XYZ Investment Company as of December 31, 20X8, the results of its
operations, its cash flows,'” changes in its net assets, and its financial highlights for the year then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.'!

[Signature of Firm]

[City and State]
[Date]

[Source: AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Investment Companies, updated as of May 1, 2010, paragraph
11.02]

[The next page is 10,001.]

7 See footnote 3.
8 See footnote 1.

° AU section 508 states that a basic element of the auditor’s report is a statement that the audit was conducted in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards and an identification of the United States of America as the country of origin of those standards.
Interpretation No. 14, “Reporting on Audits Conducted in Accordance With Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United States
of America and in Accordance With International Standards on Auditing,” of AU section 508 (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU
sec. 9508 par. .56-.59) states that if the audit also was conducted in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing, in their
entirety, the auditor may so indicate in the auditor’s report. This can be done by modifying this sentence as follows (new language is
shown in italics):

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing.

10 See footnote 1.

! Interpretation No. 19, “Financial Statements Prepared in Conformity With International Financial Reporting Standards as Issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board,” of AU section 508 (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .93-.97),
states that the auditor may report on general purpose financial statements presented in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. In that scenario, in the auditor’s report, the auditor would
refer to the IFRSs rather than U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. An example opinion paragraph would be as follows (new
language is shown in italics):

In our opinion, the financial statements and financial highlights referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of XYZ Investment Company as of December 31, 20X8, the results of its operations, its cash flows, changes in its net assets, and its financial
highlights for the year then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board.
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These sample quality control documents are presented for illustrative purposes only. They
are intended as an aid for users of this manual who may want points of departure when
establishing their own quality control policies and procedures. These illustrations are
neither all inclusive nor are they prescribed minimums. Auditors and accountants must
consider the guidance in professional standards and should rely on their individual
professional judgment in determining what may be needed in individual circumstances.
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AAM Section 10,100
Quality Control—General

AICPA Requirements

.01 ET section 57, Article VI—Scope and Nature of Services (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2), of the
AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct states that “members should practice in firms that have in place
internal quality-control procedures to ensure that services are competently delivered and adequately super-
vised.” A firm must establish a system of quality control designed to provide the firm with reasonable
assurance that the firm and its personnel comply with professional standards and applicable regulatory and
legal requirements and that the firm or engagement partners issue reports that are appropriate in the
circumstances. A system of quality control consists of policies designed to achieve these objectives and the
procedures necessary to implement and monitor compliance with those policies.

.02 The AICPA issues Statements on Quality Control Standards (SQCSs) to establish standards and provide
guidance to firms on establishing and maintaining a quality control system for their accounting and auditing
practices. In October 2007, the AICPA issued SQCS No. 7, A Firm’s System of Quality Control (AICPA, Professional
Standards, vol. 2, QC sec. 10). SQCS No. 7 was effective as of January 1, 2009, and superseded all extant SQCSs.

.03 Presented in section 10,200 is Practice Aid for Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality Control for
a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice—Revised for the Issuance of Statement on Quality Control Standards
No. 7, A Firm’s System of Quality Control. Following the practice aid in section 10,300 are sample quality
control forms to aid practitioners in implementing a quality control system.

[The next page is 10,201.]
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AAM Section 10,200

Practice Aid for Establishing and Maintaining
a System of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s
Accounting and Auditing Practice—Revised for
the Issuance of Statement on Quality Control
Standards No. 7, A Firm’s System of Quality
Control

NOTICE TO READERS

This AICPA Audit and Accounting Practice Aid updates Establishing and Maintaining a System of Quality
Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting and Auditing Practice, which was issued in 2004. This practice aid is
intended to help practitioners better understand and apply Statement on Quality Control Standards (SQCS)
No. 7, A Firm’s System of Quality Control (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, QC sec. 10), issued by the
AICPA. That standard is included in appendix A of this practice aid. This version of the practice aid,
prepared by the Quality Control Standards Task Force, has been revised to incorporate new policies and
procedures that a firm should consider including in its system of quality control to be responsive to the
issuance of SQCS No. 7. The policies and procedures presented in this practice aid are illustrative, and firms
are encouraged to consider them in designing and maintaining a system of quality control that is
appropriate for their accounting and auditing practices. Some of the policies and procedures presented in
this practice aid are not required by the SQCSs; however, they represent the views of the task force
regarding best practices for a quality control system. Although this practice aid has been reviewed by the
AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff, it has not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon
by any senior technical committee of the AICPA and has no official or authoritative status.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Act) created the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB)
and charged it with overseeing audits of issuers,' as defined by the act. Under the act, the PCAOB’s duties
include, among other things, establishing auditing, quality control, ethics, independence, and other
standards relating to audits of issuers.

This practice aid does not address the quality control requirements of the act, nor does it address the quality
control requirements of PCAOB standards that must be followed by auditors of issuers. Auditors of issuers
should follow these other standards and make changes to their firm’s quality control systems as necessary.
Auditors of nonissuers who are engaged to report on audit engagements in accordance with PCAOB
auditing standards also must report on those engagements in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards (GAAS). Interpretations No. 17, “Clarification in the Audit Report of the Extent of Testing of
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards,”
and No. 18, “Reference to PCAOB Standards in an Audit Report on a Nonissuer,” of AU section 508, Reports
on Audited Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508 par. .85-.88 and par.
.89-.92, respectively), provide reporting guidance for audits of nonissuers when the auditor is asked to
report in accordance with GAAS and PCAOB auditing standards.

Additional information about the PCAOB and the act can be obtained at the PCAOB website at www.pcaobus.org.

! Paragraph 7 of Section 2, “Definitions,” of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 states, “The term issuer means an issuer (as defined in
section 3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.C. 78c¢]), the securities of which are registered under section 12 of that act [15 U.S.C.
78l], or that is required to file reports under section 15(d) [15 U.S.C. 780(d)], or that files or has filed a registration statement that has not
yet become effective under the Securities Act of 1933 [15 U.S.C. 77a et seq.], and that it has not withdrawn.”
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Chapter 1:
Overview of Statements on Quality Control Standards

1.01 The objectives of a system of quality control are to provide a CPA firm with reasonable assurance' that
the firm and its personnel comply with professional standards and applicable regulatory and legal require-
ments, and that the firm or engagement partners issue reports that are appropriate in the circumstances. SQCS
No. 7, A Firm’s System of Quality Control (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, QC sec. 10), was issued by the
Auditing Standards Board (ASB) of the AICPA in October 2007 and is effective for a firm’s accounting and
auditing practice as of January 1, 2009. This standard supersedes all previously issued SQCSs.

1.02 A system of quality control consists of policies designed to achieve the objectives of the system and
the procedures necessary to implement and monitor compliance with those policies. The nature, extent, and
formality of a firm’s quality control policies and procedures will depend on various factors such as the firm'’s
size; the number and operating characteristics of its offices; the degree of authority allowed to, and the
knowledge and experience possessed by, firm personnel; and the nature and complexity of the firm’s practice.

Communication of Quality Control Policies and Procedures

1.03 The firm should communicate its quality control policies and procedures to its personnel. Most firms
will find it appropriate to communicate their policies and procedures in writing and distribute, or make
available electronically, them to all professional personnel.

1.04 Effective communication includes the following;:

® A description of quality control policies and procedures and the objectives they are designed to
achieve

® The message that each individual has a personal responsibility for quality

® A requirement for each individual to be familiar with and to comply with these policies and
procedures

Effective communication also includes procedures for personnel to communicate their views or concerns on
quality control matters to the firm’s management.

Elements of a System of Quality Control
1.05 A firm’s system of quality control should include policies and procedures that address each of the
following elements of quality control identified in SQCS No. 7:
® [eadership responsibilities for quality within the firm (the “tone at the top”)
® Relevant ethical requirements
® Acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific engagements
® Human resources
® Engagement performance
® Monitoring
1.06 The elements of quality control are interrelated. For example, a firm continually assesses client
relationships to comply with relevant ethical requirements, including independence, integrity, and objectivity,

and policies and procedures related to the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific
engagements. Similarly, the human resources element of quality control encompasses criteria related to

1 The term reasonable assurance, which is defined as a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, is used because absolute assurance
cannot be attained. Statement on Quality Control Standards (SQCS) No. 7, A Firm'’s System of Quality Control (AICPA, Professional Standards,
vol. 2, QC sec. 10), states, “Any system of quality control has inherent limitations that can reduce its effectiveness.”
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professional development, hiring, advancement, and assignment of firm personnel to engagements, all of
which affect policies and procedures related to engagement performance. In addition, policies and procedures
related to the monitoring element of quality control enable a firm to evaluate whether its policies and
procedures for each of the other five elements of quality control are suitably designed and effectively applied.

1.07 If a firm merges, acquires, sells, or otherwise changes a portion of its practice, the surviving firm
evaluates and, as necessary, revises, implements, and maintains firm-wide quality control policies and
procedures that are appropriate for the changed circumstances.

Leadership Responsibilities for Quality Within the Firm (the “Tone at the
TOP”)

1.08 The objective of the leadership responsibilities element of a system of quality control is to promote
an internal culture based on the recognition that quality is essential in performing engagements. The firm
should establish and maintain the following policies and procedures to satisfy this objective:

® Require the firm’s leadership (managing partner, board of managing partners or CEO, or equivalent)
to assume ultimate responsibility for the firm’s system of quality control.

® Assign management responsibilities so that commercial considerations do not override the quality of
the work performed.

® Assign operational responsibility for the firm’s quality control system to personnel who have
sufficient and appropriate experience and ability to identify and understand quality control issues
and to develop appropriate policies and procedures, as well as the necessary authority to implement
those policies and procedures.

® Design policies and procedures addressing performance evaluation, compensation, and advance-
ment (including incentive systems) with regard to personnel to demonstrate the firm’s overarching
commitment to the objectives of the system of quality control.

e Devote sufficient and appropriate resources for the development, communication, and support of its
quality control policies and procedures.

Relevant Ethical Requirements

1.09 The objective of the relevant ethical requirements element of a system of quality control is to provide
the firm with reasonable assurance that the firm and its personnel comply with relevant ethical requirements
when discharging professional responsibilities. Relevant ethical requirements include independence, integ-
rity, and objectivity. Establishing and maintaining policies such as the following ordinarily would satisfy this
objective:

® Require that personnel adhere to relevant ethical requirements such as those in regulations, inter-
pretations, and rules of the AICPA, state CPA societies, state boards of accountancy, state statutes, the
U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO), and any other applicable regulators.

® Establish procedures to communicate independence requirements to firm personnel and, where
applicable, others subject to them.

e Establish procedures to identify and evaluate possible threats to independence and objectivity,
including the familiarity threat that may be created by using the same senior personnel on an audit
or attest engagement over a long period of time, and to take appropriate action to eliminate those
threats or reduce them to an acceptable level by applying safeguards.

® Require that the firm withdraw from the engagement if effective safeguards to reduce threats to
independence to an acceptable level cannot be applied.

AAM §10,200 1.07 Copyright © 2009, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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® Require written confirmation, at least annually, of compliance with the firm’s policies and proce-
dures on independence from all firm personnel required to be independent by relevant require-
ments.

® Establish procedures for confirming the independence of another firm or firm personnel in
associated member firms who perform part of the engagement. This would apply to national firm
personnel, foreign firm personnel, and foreign-associated firms.

® Require the rotation of personnel for audit or attest engagements where regulatory or other
authorities require such rotation after a specified period.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

1.10 The objective of the quality control element that addresses acceptance and continuance of client
relationships and specific engagements is to establish criteria for deciding whether to accept or continue a
client relationship and whether to perform a specific engagement for a client. A firm’s client acceptance and
continuance policies represent a key element in mitigating litigation and business risk. Accordingly, it is
important that a firm be aware that the integrity and reputation of a client’s management could reflect the
reliability of the client’s accounting records and financial representations and, therefore, affect the firm’s
reputation or involvement in litigation. A firm’s policies and procedures related to the acceptance and
continuance of client relationships and specific engagements should provide the firm with reasonable
assurance that it will undertake or continue relationships and engagements only where it

® has considered the integrity of the client, including the identity and business reputation of the
client’s principal owners, key management, related parties, and those charged with its governance,
and the risks associated with providing professional services in the particular circumstances;

® is competent to perform the engagement and has the capabilities and resources to do so;
e can comply with legal and ethical requirements; and

® has reached an understanding with the client regarding the services to be performed.

1.11 This objective ordinarily should be satisfied before accepting an engagement with a new client,
when deciding whether to continue an existing engagement, and when considering acceptance of a new
engagement with an existing client by establishing and maintaining policies such as the following:

e Evaluate factors that have a bearing on management’s integrity and consider the risk associated
with providing professional services in particular circumstances.’

e Evaluate whether the engagement can be completed with professional competence; undertake only
those engagements for which the firm has the capabilities, resources, and professional competence
to complete; and evaluate, at the end of specific periods or upon occurrence of certain events,
whether the relationship should be continued.

® Obtain an understanding, preferably in writing, with the client regarding the services to be
performed.

e Establish procedures on withdrawal from an engagement or from both the engagement and the
client relationship, including procedures for dealing with information that would have caused the
firm to decline an engagement if the information had been available earlier.

® Require documentation of how issues relating to acceptance or continuance of client relationships
and specific engagements were resolved.

2 A foreign-associated firm is a firm domiciled outside of the United States and its territories that is a member of, correspondent
with, or similarly associated with an international firm or international association of firms.

% Such considerations would include the risk of providing professional services to significant clients or to other clients for which
the practitioner’s objectivity or the appearance of independence may be impaired. In broad terms, the significance of a client to a
member or a firm refers to relationships that could diminish a practitioner’s objectivity and independence in performing attest services.
Examples of factors to consider in determining the significance of a client to an engagement partner, office, or practice unit include
(a) the amount of time the partner, office, or practice unit devotes to the engagement, (b) the effect on the partner’s stature within the
firm as a result of his or her service to the client, (c) the manner in which the partner, office, or practice unit is compensated, or (d)
the effect that losing the client would have on the partner, office, or practice unit.
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Human Resources

1.12 The objective of the human resources element of a system of quality control is to provide the firm
with reasonable assurance that it has sufficient personnel with the capabilities, competence, and commit-
ment to ethical principles necessary (a) to perform its engagements in accordance with professional
standards and regulatory and legal requirements and (b) to enable the firm to issue reports that are
appropriate in the circumstances. Establishing and maintaining policies such as the following ordinarily
would satisfy this objective:

® Recruit and hire personnel of integrity who possess the characteristics that enable them to perform
competently.

® Determine capabilities and competencies required for an engagement, especially for the engage-
ment partner, based on the characteristics of the particular client, industry, and kind of service being
performed. Specific competencies necessary for an engagement partner are discussed in paragraph
45 of SQCS No. 7.

® Determine the capabilities and competencies possessed by personnel.
® Assign the responsibility for each engagement to an engagement partner.

® Assign personnel based on the knowledge, skills, and abilities required in the circumstances and
the nature and extent of supervision needed.

e Have personnel participate in general and industry-specific continuing professional education and
professional development activities that enable them to accomplish assigned responsibilities and
satisfy applicable continuing professional education requirements of the AICPA, state boards of
accountancy, and other regulators.

® Select for advancement only those individuals who have the qualifications necessary to fulfill the
responsibilities they will be called on to assume.

Engagement Performance

1.13 The objectives of the engagement performance element of quality control are to provide the firm
with reasonable assurance (a) that engagements are consistently performed in accordance with applicable
professional standards and regulatory and legal requirements and (b) that the firm or the engagement
partner issues reports that are appropriate in the circumstances. Policies and procedures for engagement
performance should address all phases of the design and execution of the engagement, including engage-
ment performance, supervision responsibilities, and review responsibilities. Policies and procedures also
should require that consultation takes place when appropriate. In addition, a policy should establish criteria
against which all engagements are to be evaluated to determine whether an engagement quality control
review should be performed.

1.14 The objectives of the engagement performance element of quality control ordinarily would be
satisfied by establishing and maintaining policies such as the following:
® Plan all engagements to meet professional, regulatory, and the firm’s requirements.

® Perform work and issue reports and other communications that meet professional, regulatory, and
the firm’s requirements.

® Require that work performed by other team members be reviewed by qualified engagement team
members, which may include the engagement partner, on a timely basis.

® Require the engagement team to complete the assembly of final engagement files on a timely basis.

® [Establish procedures to maintain the confidentiality, safe custody, integrity, accessibility, and
retrievability of engagement documentation.

® Require the retention of engagement documentation for a period of time sufficient to meet the needs
of the firm, professional standards, laws, and regulations.
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® Require that

— consultation take place when appropriate (for example, when dealing with complex,
unusual, unfamiliar, difficult, or contentious issues);

— sulfficient and appropriate resources be available to enable appropriate consultation to
take place;

— all the relevant facts known to the engagement team be provided to those consulted;
— the nature, scope, and conclusions of such consultations be documented; and
— the conclusions resulting from such consultations be implemented.
® Require that
— differences of opinion be dealt with and resolved;
— conclusions reached are documented and implemented; and
— the report not be released until the matter is resolved.
® Require that

— all engagements be evaluated against the criteria for determining whether an engagement
quality control review should be performed;

— an engagement quality control review be performed for all engagements that meet the
criteria; and

— the review be completed before the report is released.

® Establish procedures addressing the nature, timing, extent, and documentation of the engagement
quality control review.

e Establish criteria for the eligibility of engagement quality control reviewers.

Monitoring

1.15 The objective of the monitoring element of a system of quality control is to provide the firm and its
engagement partners with reasonable assurance that the policies and procedures related to the system of
quality control are relevant, adequate, operating effectively, and complied with in practice. Monitoring
involves an ongoing consideration and evaluation of the appropriateness of the design, the effectiveness of
the operation of a firm’s quality control system, and a firm’s compliance with its quality control policies and
procedures. The purpose of monitoring compliance with quality control policies and procedures is to
provide an evaluation of the following:

® Adherence to professional standards and regulatory and legal requirements
®  Whether the quality control system has been appropriately designed and effectively implemented
e  Whether the firm’s quality control policies and procedures have been operating effectively so that
reports issued by the firm are appropriate in the circumstances
1.16 The objective of the monitoring element of quality control ordinarily would be satisfied by
establishing and maintaining policies such as the following:

® Assign responsibility for the monitoring process to a partner or partners or other persons with
sufficient and appropriate experience and authority in the firm to assume that responsibility.

® Assign performance of the monitoring process to competent individuals.

® Require the performance of monitoring procedures that are sufficiently comprehensive to enable the
firm to assess compliance with all applicable professional standards and the firm’s quality control
policies and procedures. Monitoring procedures consist of the following:
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— Review of selected administrative and personnel records pertaining to the quality control
elements
— Review of engagement working papers, reports, and clients’ financial statements

— Summarization of the findings from the monitoring procedures, at least annually, and
consideration of the systemic causes of findings that indicate that improvements are
needed

— Determination of any corrective actions to be taken or improvements to be made with
respect to the specific engagements reviewed or the firm’s quality control policies and
procedures

— Communication of the identified findings to appropriate firm management personnel

— Consideration of findings by appropriate firm management personnel who should also
determine that any actions necessary, including necessary modifications to the quality
control system, are taken on a timely basis

— Assessment of
a. The appropriateness of the firm’s guidance materials and any practice aids;

b. New developments in professional standards and regulatory and legal requirements
and how they are reflected in the firm’s policies and procedures where appropriate;

c. Compliance with policies and procedures on independence;
d. The effectiveness of continuing professional development, including training;

e. Decisions related to acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific
engagements; and

f. Firm personnel’s understanding of the firm’s quality control policies and procedures
and implementation thereof.

o Communicate at least annually, to relevant engagement partners and other appropriate personnel,
deficiencies noted as a result of the monitoring process and recommendations for appropriate
remedial action.

e Communicate the results of the monitoring of its quality control system process to relevant firm
personnel at least annually.

e Establish procedures designed to provide the firm with reasonable assurance that it deals appro-
priately with the following. This includes establishing clearly defined channels for firm personnel
to raise any concerns in a manner that enables them to come forward without fear of reprisal and
documenting complaints and allegations and the responses to them:

— Complaints and allegations that the work performed by the firm fails to comply with
professional standards and regulatory and legal requirements

— Allegations of noncompliance with the firm’s system of quality control

— Deficiencies in the design or operation of the firm’s quality control policies and proce-
dures, or noncompliance with the firm’s system of quality control by an individual or
individuals, as identified during the investigations into complaints and allegations

® Require appropriate documentation to provide evidence of the operation of each element of its
system of quality control. The form and content of documentation evidencing the operation of each
of the elements of the system of quality control is a matter of judgment and depends on a number
of factors, including the following, for example:

— The size of the firm and the number of offices

— The nature and complexity of the firm's practice and organization
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® Require retention of documentation providing evidence of the operation of the system of quality
control for a period of time sufficient to permit those performing monitoring procedures and peer
review to evaluate the firm’s compliance with its system of quality control, or for a longer period
if required by law or regulation.

1.17 Some of the monitoring procedures discussed in the previous list may be accomplished through the
performance of the following:

e Engagement quality control review

e Postissuance review of engagement working papers, reports, and clients’ financial statements for
selected engagements

e Inspection* procedures

Documentation of Quality Control Policies and Procedures

1.18 The firm should document each element of its system of quality control. The extent of the
documentation will depend on the size, structure, and nature of the firm’s practice. Documentation may be
as simple as a checklist of the firm’s policies and procedures or as extensive as practice manuals.

Applying the Quality Control Standards to Four Hypothetical Firms

1.19 Subsequent chapters in this practice aid present four different hypothetical firms and the quality
control policies and procedures each firm implements to address each of the quality control elements.
Following is a description of those firms and their characteristics:

® Multioffice CPA Firm has 10 offices in 3 states and is centrally managed. It has approximately 15
partners and 100 professionals. Its accounting and auditing practice has a concentration of financial
institution clients for which it performs audit and attest services. Multioffice CPA Firm has no issuer
clients. (chapter 2)

® Single office CPA Firm has 1 office, 3 partners, and 10 professionals. Its accounting and auditing
practice has a concentration of employee benefit plan audits. Single office CPA Firm has no issuer
clients. (chapter 3)

® Sole Practitioner, CPA, is a sole owner who has no professional staff and occasionally hires per diem
professionals. Her accounting practice consists only of engagements subject to Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs). (chapter 4) (Note: Sole practitioners who
perform audit and attest engagements should refer to chapter 3)

® C(Closely Aligned CPA Firm and Non-CPA-Owned Entity are organized in an alternative practice
structure, which is a nontraditional structure in the practice of public accounting consisting of an
attest and a nonattest portion of the practice. The attest portion is conducted through a firm, Closely
Aligned CPA Firm, owned and controlled by CPAs. The nonattest portion is conducted through a
separate entity, Non-CPA-owned Entity, owned and controlled by individuals who are not CPAs.
(chapter 5)

1.20 The policies and procedures described in each chapter are those that a firm of a similar size and type
may consider establishing and maintaining. The policies and procedures used by an actual firm need not
necessarily include nor be limited to all those used by the illustrative firms.

* Inspection is a retrospective evaluation of the adequacy of the firm’s quality control policies and procedures, its personnel’s
understanding of those policies and procedures, and the extent of the firm’s compliance with them. Although monitoring procedures
are meant to be ongoing, they may include inspection procedures performed at a fixed point in time. Monitoring is a broad concept;
inspection is one specific type of monitoring procedure.
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Chapter 2:

System of Quality Control for a CPA Firm’s Accounting
and Auditing Practice—Firm With Multiple Offices

2.01 This chapter describes how a CPA firm that has multiple offices (Multioffice CPA Firm) implements
each element of quality control in its accounting and auditing practice. Multioffice CPA Firm is a hypo-
thetical firm that has 10 offices in 3 states and is centrally managed. Multioffice CPA Firm has 15 partners,
100 professionals, and a concentration of financial institution clients for which it performs audit and attest
services. The firm uses practice aids that have been subjected to peer review in accordance with standards
established by the AICPA. These practice aids are supplemented by oral and written communications from
the firm’s partners. It has no issuer clients.!

Quality Control Policies and Procedures

2.02 The firm’s system of quality control consists of policies designed to achieve the objectives of the
system and the procedures necessary to implement and monitor compliance with those polices. The policies
and procedures are required to be documented. Multioffice CPA Firm documents its system of quality
control by preparing a document that comprehensively describes policies and procedures established and
maintained for each element of quality control. Multioffice CPA Firm reviews the documentation at least
annually and updates it as necessary.

2.03 The firm should communicate its quality control policies and procedures to its personnel. Effective
communication includes the following:

® A description of quality control policies and procedures and the objectives they are designed to
achieve

® The message that each individual has a personal responsibility for quality

2.04 Multioffice CPA Firm communicates these policies and procedures in writing and makes the
documentation available electronically to all professional personnel. Multioffice CPA Firm requires each
individual to be familiar with and to comply with these policies and procedures. Multioffice CPA Firm also
includes procedures for personnel to communicate their views or concerns on quality control matters to
partners.

Leadership Responsibilities for Quality Within the Firm (the “Tone at the Top”)

2.05 The objective of the leadership responsibilities element of a system of quality control is to promote
an internal culture based on the recognition that quality is essential in performing engagements. Multioffice
CPA Firm satisfies this objective by establishing and maintaining the policies and procedures described in
paragraphs 2.06-.10.

2.06 Policy 1: The firm’s managing partner assumes ultimate responsibility for the firm’s system of quality control.
Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the following procedures:

e Having the managing partner accept overall responsibility for the firm’s system of quality control
and promoting a quality-oriented culture by sending clear, consistent, and frequent messages
through e-mails, letters, and recordings

® Having a mission statement that includes the firm'’s core values and the importance of quality

® Informing personnel that failure to adhere to the firm’s policies and procedures regarding perfor-
mance quality and commitment to ethical principles may result in disciplinary action

1 If Multioffice CPA Firm were to be engaged to perform audit services for an issuer, it might need to revise its quality control
policies and procedures to comply with Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) standards and to reflect Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) requirements applicable to audits of issuers.
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2.07 Policy 2: The firm assigns management responsibilities so that commercial considerations do not override the
quality of the work performed. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the following procedures:

e Having the managing partner continually evaluate client relationships and specific engagements so
that commercial considerations do not override the objectives of the system of quality control

® Emphasizing to all personnel that fee considerations and scope of services should not infringe upon
quality work

2.08 Policy 3: The firm assigns operational responsibility for the firm’s quality control system to personnel who
have sufficient and appropriate experience and ability to identify and understand quality control issues and to develop
appropriate policies and procedures, as well as the necessary authority to implement those policies and procedures.
Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the following procedures:

® Designating a quality control partner with overall operational responsibility for developing and
implementing appropriate policies and procedures for the firm’s quality control system

® Designating a quality control individual for each office

2.09 Policy 4: The firm designs procedures addressing performance evaluation, compensation, and advancement
(including incentive systems) with regard to personnel to demonstrate the firm’s overarching commitment to the
objectives of the system of quality control. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the following
procedures:

® Designing and implementing performance evaluation and advancement systems that (a) reward
partners and staff involved in the accounting and auditing practice for the quality of their work and
their compliance with professional standards and (b) include partner performance peer evaluations

® Establishing a compensation system that provides incentives to accounting and auditing partners
and senior-level employees for the quality of their accounting and auditing work. The compensa-
tion system does the following:

— Takes into consideration firm feedback based on monitoring results and peer reviews of
the work performed

— Rewards partners and personnel for timely (a) identification of significant and emerging
accounting and auditing issues and (b) consultation with firm experts

2.10 Policy 5: The firm devotes sufficient and appropriate resources for the development, communication, and
support of its quality control policies and procedures. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the
following procedures:

® Providing the designated quality control partner with sufficient time, authority, and resources to
develop, implement, and maintain the firm’s quality control policies and procedures

® Providing the firm’s quality control documentation to personnel when they are initially hired and
reviewing the documentation with them

e Reviewing the firm’s quality control policies and procedures with personnel at firm training
sessions at least annually

Relevant Ethical Requirements

2.11 The objective of the relevant ethical requirements element of a system of quality control is to provide
the firm with reasonable assurance that the firm and its personnel comply with relevant ethical requirements
when discharging professional responsibilities. Relevant ethical requirements include independence, in-
tegrity, and objectivity. Multioffice CPA Firm satisfies this objective by establishing and maintaining the
policies and procedures described in paragraphs 2.12-.18.
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2.12 Policy 1: Personnel adhere to relevant ethical requirements such as those in requlations, interpretations, and
rules of the AICPA, state CPA societies, state boards of accountancy, state statutes, the GAO, and any other applicable
regulators. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the following procedures:

Assigning one of its partners the responsibility of responding to questions, resolving matters, and
determining the circumstances for which consultation with sources outside the firm is required for
matters related to independence, integrity, and objectivity

Identifying circumstances for which documentation of the resolution of matters is appropriate

Maintaining a current list of () all entities with which firm personnel are prohibited from having
a financial or business relationship and (b) all activities in which the firm is prohibited® from
engaging, as defined in the firm’s independence policies

Establishing clear and concise written independence guidance covering relationships and activities
that impair independence, including but not limited to investments, loans, brokerage accounts,
business relationships, employment relationships, and fee arrangements

2.13 Policy 2: The firm establishes procedures to communicate independence requirements to firm personnel and,
where applicable, others subject to them. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the following
procedures:

Having the managing partner (through e-mails, letters, or recordings) emphasize the concepts of
independence, integrity, and objectivity in the firm’s professional development meetings, in the
acceptance and continuance of clients and engagements, and in the performance of engagements.
Because Multioffice CPA Firm has a concentration of financial institution clients, this also includes
discussing the applicability of these concepts to engagements for financial institutions, such as the
prohibition against any member of the engagement team having a “nongrandfathered” loan with
the institution, and the types of nonattest services that could affect independence.

Requiring periodic independence and ethics training for all professional personnel. Such training
covers the firm’s independence and ethics policies and the independence and ethics requirements
of all applicable regulators.

Providing frequent reminders of professional responsibilities to personnel, such as avoiding
behavior that might be perceived as impairing their independence or objectivity.

Informing personnel on a timely basis of those entities to which independence policies apply by
doing the following;:

— Preparing and maintaining a list of entities with which firm personnel are prohibited from
having a financial or business relationship

— Making the list available to personnel so they may evaluate their independence (including
personnel new to the firm or an office)

— Notifying personnel of changes in the list

2.14 Policy 3: The firm establishes procedures to identify and evaluate possible threats to independence and
objectivity, including the familiarity threat that may be created by using the same senior personnel on an audit or attest
engagement over a long period of time, and to take appropriate action to eliminate those threats or reduce them to an
acceptable level by applying safequards. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the following
procedures:

Assigning a partner who is not otherwise associated with the engagement, or who practices in an
office other than the office that performs the attest engagement, to review the engagement

Requiring approval of the assignment of engagement personnel by another partner or manager

Rotating engagement partners periodically

2 Examples of prohibited activities include providing certain valuation and information technology services to an audit client. See
the rules of specific standard-setters to determine the extent and relevance of any prohibition.
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Establishing additional procedures that provide safeguards when the firm performs audit or other
attest work for (a) significant clients or (b) clients at which partners or other senior personnel are
offered key management positions, or accept offers of employment, by utilizing the procedures
contained in the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, paragraphs .01 and .04 of ET section 100-1,
Conceptual Framework for AICPA Independence Standards (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2)

Designating a senior-level partner to be responsible for overseeing the adequate functioning of the
firm’s independence policies

Implementing a system to identify investment holdings of partners and managers that might impair
independence

Requiring all professionals to report, on a timely basis when identified, apparent violations of
independence, integrity, or objectivity policies involving themselves, their spouses, or their depen-
dents and the corrective actions taken or proposed to be taken

Establishing a requirement for all professional personnel to notify the managing partner in each office
of any potential activities that might impair independence or violate ethics rules, including services
provided to entities with which firm personnel are prohibited from having a business relationship

Establishing a program that protects professional personnel who report potential ethics or indepen-
dence violations to the proper parties in compliance with firm policy

Requiring the managing partner in each office, or a person designated by the managing partner, to
periodically review unpaid fees from clients to ascertain whether any outstanding amounts impair
the firm’s independence

Developing guidance that sets forth the consequences for professional personnel who violate the
firm’s independence policies and procedures, including engaging in activities with entities with
which firm personnel are prohibited from having a business relationship

Requiring all professional personnel to review the list of entities with which firm personnel are
prohibited from having a business relationship before a professional or the spouse or dependent of
a professional obtains a security or financial interest in an entity

Establishing criteria that determine the need for safeguards for engagements where monitoring
procedures or peer review have identified weaknesses in previous years or the same senior personnel
have been used for five years or more on an audit or attestation engagement

Documenting any safeguards applied to eliminate threats to independence or reduce them to an
acceptable level

Promptly communicating identified breaches of these policies and procedures, and the required
corrective actions, to (2) the engagement partner who, with the firm, needs to address the breach and
(b) other relevant personnel in the firm and those subject to the independence requirements who need
to take appropriate action

Obtaining confirmation from the engagement partner and other relevant personnel that the required
corrective actions have been taken

2.15 Policy 4: The firm withdraws from engagements if effective safequards to reduce threats to independence to an
acceptable level cannot be applied. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through the following proce-

dures:

Consulting within the firm and, if necessary, with legal counsel and other parties when the firm
believes that effective safeguards to reduce threats to independence to an acceptable level cannot be

applied

Withdrawing from engagements when effective safeguards to reduce threats to independence to an
acceptable level cannot be applied
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2.16 Policy 5: The firm obtains written confirmation, at least annually, of compliance with its policies and procedures
on independence from all firm personnel required to be independent by relevant requirements. Multioffice CPA Firm
implements this policy through the following procedures:

® Obtaining written representations from personnel, upon hire and on an annual basis, stating that they
have read the firm’s independence, integrity, and objectivity policies, understand the applicability of
those policies to their activities, and have complied with the requirements of those policies since their
last representation (such written representations are accompanied by the most current list of all
entities with which firm personnel are prohibited from having a financial or business relationship)

® Assigning responsibility to the firm’s quality-control partner for obtaining such written representa-
tions, reviewing independence compliance files for completeness, and resolving reported exceptions

® Requiring the engagement partner to sign a step in the engagement program attesting to compliance
with independence requirements that apply to the engagement

2.17 Policy 6: The firm establishes procedures for confirming the independence of another firm or firm personnel in
associated member firms who perform part of an engagement. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy through
the following procedures:

® Describing in its policies and procedures manual the form and content of independence represen-
tations, and frequency with which they are to be obtained

® Requiring that such representations be documented

2.18 Policy 7: The firm rotates personnel for audit or attest engagements where regulatory or other authorities require
such rotation after a specified period. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this policy by having the quality control
partner monitor regulatory requirements for financial institutions and other entities and notifying partners
of the need for rotation. Multioffice CPA Firm has decided to rotate partners assigned to audit financial
institutions every five years.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

2.19 The objective of the quality control element that addresses acceptance and continuance of client
relationships and specific engagements is to establish criteria for deciding whether to accept or continue a
client relationship and whether to perform a specific engagement for a client. A firm’s client acceptance and
continuance policies represent a key element in mitigating litigation and business risk. Accordingly, it is
important that a firm be aware that the integrity and reputation of a client’s management could reflect the
reliability of the client’s accounting records and financial representations and, therefore, affect the firm'’s
reputation or involvement in litigation. A firm’s policies and procedures related to the acceptance and
continuance of client relationships and specific engagements should provide the firm with reasonable
assurance that it will undertake or continue relationships and engagements only where it

® has considered the integrity of the client, including the identity and business reputation of the client’s
principal owners, key management, related parties, and those charged with its governance, and the
risks associated with providing professional services in the particular circumstances;

® is competent to perform the engagement and has the capabilities and resources to do so;
® can comply with legal and ethical requirements; and
® has reached an understanding with the client regarding the services to be performed.
2.20 Multioffice CPA Firm satisfies this objective, both with respect to the initial period for which the firm

is performing its service and for subsequent periods, by establishing and maintaining the policies and
procedures described in paragraphs 2.21-.25.
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2.21 Policy 1: The firm evaluates factors that have a bearing on management’s integrity and considers the risk
associated with providing professional services in particular circumstances. Multioffice CPA Firm implements this
policy through the following procedures:

¢ Developing and maintaining a manual that contains policies and procedures related to the accep-
tance of prospective clients and the continuance of existing clients. Such policies and procedures
state that the firm’s clients should not present undue risks to the firm, including damage to the
firm’s reputation.

® Advising professional personnel that they are expected to be familiar with the firm’s policies and
procedures for the acceptance and continuance of clients.

® Obtaining and evaluating relevant information before accepting or continuing any client. The
following are examples of such information:

— The nature and purpose of the services to be provided and management’s understanding
thereof.

— The identity of the client’s principal owners, key management, related parties, and those
charged with its governance.

— The nature of the client’s operations, including its business practices, from sources such
as annual reports, interim financial statements, reports to regulators, enforcement actions
by regulators, and income tax returns.

— Information obtained from inquiries of third parties about the client, its principal owners,
key management, and those charged with governance that may have a bearing on
evaluating the client. Examples of such third parties are bankers, factors, legal counsel,
credit services, investment bankers, underwriters, and other members of the financial or
business community who may have applicable knowledge. Inquiries also might be made
regarding management’s attitude toward compliance with regulators or legislative re-
quirements and the presence of control deficiencies, especially those that management is
unwilling to correct.

¢ Communicating with the predecessor accountant or auditor when required or recommended by
professional standards. This communication also includes inquiries regarding the nature of any
disagreements and whether there is evidence of opinion shopping.

® Assessing management’s commitment to implementing and maintaining effective internal control.

® Assessing management’s commitment to the appropriate application of generally accepted ac-
counting principles (GAAP).

® Conducting a background check of the business, its officers, and the person(s) in question by using
an investigative firm and evaluating the information obtained regarding management’s integrity.
Background checks are conducted when the firm is unable to obtain sufficient information about
the prospective client after completing the steps listed previously, or when there is an indication that
management or someone affiliated with the prospective client may be less than reputable.

e Evaluating the risk of providing services to significant clients or to other clients for which the firm’s
independence or the appearance of independence may be impaired. In broad terms, the significance
of a client to a firm refers to relationships that could diminish a practitioner’s objectivity and
independence in performing attest services. In determining the significance of a client, the firm
considers (a) the amount of time the partner devotes to the engagement, (b) the effect on the
partner’s stature within the firm as a result of his or her service to the client, ( c) the manner in which
the partner is compensated, and (d) the effect that losing the client would have on the partner and
the firm.

2.22 Policy 2: The firm evaluates whether the engagement can be completed with professional competence;
undertakes only those engagements for which the firm has the capabilities, resources, and professional competence to
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